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For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Results

Revenue 5,647,335 3,842,719 4,658,780 6,279,549 5,296,064

Gross profit 445,216 227,202 (208,300) 458,797 301,202

Profit/(loss) before tax 146,016 (202,369) (1,175,466) (66,985) (283,820)

Income tax (expense)/ 

 credit (11,343) 3,991 (21,920) (25,854) 12,309

Profit/(loss) for the year 134,673 (198,378) (1,197,386) (92,839) (271,511)
      

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent 141,626 (196,122) (1,185,486) (92,611) (271,238)

Non-controlling interests (6,953) (2,256) (11,900) (228) (273)
      

E arnings/(loss) per share 

(RMB cents)

– Basic 3.48 (4.81) (29.10) (2.27) (6.66)

– Diluted 3.48 (4.81) (29.10) (2.27) (6.66)
      

Financial Summary
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As at 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets and liabilities

Non-current assets 4,018,919 3,982,940 4,037,489 4,135,517 4,192,588

Current assets 8,275,207 5,476,777 4,906,056 5,962,904 4,665,778

Current liabilities 7,544,637 5,188,260 4,797,821 5,714,899 4,639,282

Net current assets 730,570 288,517 108,235 248,005 26,496

Total assets less current  

 liabilities 4,749,489 4,271,457 4,145,724 4,383,522 4,219,084

Non-current liabilities 2,096,226 1,822,674 1,570,123 736,483 427,340
      

Net assets 2,653,263 2,448,783 2,575,601 3,647,039 3,791,744
      

Share capital 330,578 330,578 330,578 330,578 330,578

Reserves 2,344,346 2,132,913 2,257,475 3,317,013 3,461,490

Non-controlling interests (21,661) (14,708) (12,452) (552) (324)
      

Total equity 2,653,263 2,448,783 2,575,601 3,647,039 3,791,744
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REVIEW OF 2024 ANNUAL RESULTS AND 
OUTLOOK

MARKET AND RESULTS OVERVIEW

In 2024, Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd. (“Wison 

Engineering”, “Wison” or the “Company”) remained 

committed to its mission of “Technology Innovation 

for a Better Future” and strove to become a world-

leading provider of environmentally friendly services. 

Upholding the values of integrity, innovation, 

entrepreneurship, responsibility, respect, and win-

win, the Company continued to drive both its own 

growth and that of society. During the year ended 31 

December 2024 (the “Year” or the “Reporting 

P e r i o d” ) ,  the  Company kept  expedi t ing  i t s 

internationalisation drive, strengthened delicacy 

management, tightened risk control, enhanced its 

digital and modular capabilities, and consolidated its 

core competitiveness. Meanwhile, the Company has 

deepened its presence in the field of energy and 

chemical engineering to secure a leading position in 

the market, and has increased its continued 

investment in the fields of new energy and new 

materials. In the Year, it set up the Green Hydrogen 

Products Technology Centre to accelerate the green 

transformation across the Company.  Wison 

Engineering constantly enhanced its operational and 

management benefits and created value for 

customers.

During the Reporting Period, the global economy 

experienced a sluggish recovery, marked by an 

uneven pace and significant challenges. Weak 

growth momentum, the restructuring of global 

supply chains, and escalating geopolitical tensions 

created substantial headwinds for global economic 

recovery. Meanwhile, China’s economy remained 

stable despite a complex and volatile domestic and 

international landscape, exhibiting both signs of 

recovery and ongoing challenges. The Chinese 

government effectively bolstered social confidence 

and supported steady economic growth through a 

series of policy measures. According to the National 

Bureau of Statistics (NBS) of China, China’s gross 

domestic product expanded by 5.0% year on year, 

reaching RMB134.9 trillion.

In 2024, the petrochemical industry faced significant 

challenges amid a complex and volatile global 

economic landscape. The uneven pace of global 

economic recovery  led to  f requent  market 

f luctuat ions ,  whi le  factors  such as  volat i le 

international crude oil prices and weaker-than-

expected new capacity further impacted industry 

performance. Amid the global shift towards greener 

energy, the petrochemical industry is navigating 

both unprecedented challenges and emerging 

opportunities. Refining capacity in the Asia-Pacific 
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region is steadily expanding, with a clear shift from 

fuel-based to feedstock-based refining. China’s 

petrochemical industry is also accelerating its green 

transition, driving progress towards low-carbon 

development with a strong focus on new energy and 

new materials. In particular, hydrogen energy, as a 

key component of the future energy mix, is rapidly 

advancing in both adoption and industrialisation. 

Leading Chinese petrochemical enterprises are 

actively planning their hydrogen energy supply 

chains ,  dr iv ing breakthroughs in  hydrogen 

production, storage, transportation, and application 

technologies.

During the Reporting Period, the Company and its 

subsidiaries (the “Group”) recorded a revenue of 

approximately RMB5,647.3 million (for the year 

ended 31 December 2023: approximately RMB3,842.7 

million), representing a year-on-year increase of 

47.0%. Its gross profit amounted to approximately 

RMB445.2 million (for the year ended 31 December 

2023: approximately RMB227.2 million), representing 

a year-on-year increase of 96.0%. Its profit 

attributable to owners of the parent company 

totalled approximately RMB141.6 million (for the year 

ended 31 December 2023: loss attributable to owners 

of the parent company of approximately RMB196.1 

million). In 2024, the total value of new contracts 

secured by the Group amounted to approximately 

RMB10,865.1 mil l ion (net of estimated VAT), 

representing a year-on-year increase of 2,563.6%. 

As at 31 December 2024, the total value of the 

Company’s outstanding contracts was approximately 

RMB25,719.3 mil l ion (net of estimated VAT), 

representing an increase of 10.6% as compared to 

the total value of outstanding contracts as at 31 

December 2023.

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Consolidating Core Businesses and Venturing 

into Emerging Areas

During the Reporting Period, the Company remained 

committed to its core businesses and key areas of 

expertise, further strengthening its leading market 

position. As a result, its key product lines — including 

e t h y l e n e  a n d  c r a c k i n g  f u r n a c e s ,  p r o p a n e 

dehydrogenation (“PDH”), methanol-to-olefins 

(“MTO”), and synthetic ammonia — continued to 

develop steadily and smoothly. This sustained 

growth provided a strong foundation for the 

Company’s solid business performance.

The Company achieved multiple breakthroughs in 

the new energy sector, driven by a forward-looking 

strategic vision. It increased investment in research 

and development (“R&D”) for new energy and new 

materials while making concerted efforts to 

accelerate market expansion. As a result, significant 

progress was made in emerging technologies and 

products, including biodegradable plastics (“PGA”), 

methyl methacrylate (“MMA”), carbon emission 

reduction, green alcohol and green ammonia, 

butadiene production technology, and catalysts. The 

Company’s commitment to its ambitious strategic 

goals of “international expansion and shift to new 

quality businesses” will serve as a strong impetus for 

its long-term growth.

The Company adopted a comprehensive, precise, 

and well-controlled strategy for both domestic and 

international projects, striving to achieve their 

objectives efficiently. The progress of key projects is 

outlined as follows.
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Syngas retrofitting project of Yangmei Group Zibo 

Qilu First Fertiliser Co., Ltd.: The design phase was 

fully completed, procurement was 92% finished, and 

construction reached 87% completion. The project is 

on track for completion and delivery in 2025, 

enhancing the client’s production capacity.

Panjin Sanli’s MMA project: The mid-term delivery 

was successfully completed on 28 August 2024. 

Following this, the Company worked closely with the 

client to facilitate commissioning and start-up. On 

2 8  D e c e m b e r  2 0 2 4 ,  t h e  p r o d u c t i o n  o f 

propionaldehyde and propanol  met qual i ty 

standards, enabling the client to achieve full capacity 

and enhance operational efficiency now.

Turnkey project for cracking furnaces of Wanhua 

Chemical’s 1.2 million-tonne-per-year ethylene 

plant: Mid-term delivery conditions were met in 

December 2024, with the key process of cracking 

furnace baking successfully completed. The plant 

succeeded in commissioning and start-up in line 

with the owner’s schedule, marking the commercial 

launch of the group’s large-scale ethylene plant 

equipped with proprietary technology.

Guangxi Huayi’s MTO project: The design phase was 

fully completed, procurement reached 67%, and 

construction was 50% finished. In December 2024, 

the successful lifting of the project’s largest piece of 

equipment, the propylene tower, marked a key 

milestone. Installation of other equipment, process 

pipelines, and electrical instrumentation was 

proceeding as planned. The mid-term delivery is 

scheduled for 31 December 2025.

Shanghai Waigaoqiao No.3 Power Generation Co., 

Ltd.’s flue gas-CO
2
-to-methanol pilot demonstration 

project: The project was completed in November 

2024, with commissioning starting on 5 December 

2024. As planned, it has completed the performance 

assessment in January 2025, setting a benchmark for 

the development of the green chemical sector.

Saudi Aramco’s DPCU project: The design phase was 

fully completed, with procurement reaching 97%. 

Construct ion progress  stood at  53%, whi le 

equipment installation was 80% completed. The 

project is scheduled for completion and delivery in 

October 2025, aiming to enhance efficiency in Saudi 

Aramco’s oil and gas industry.

Qatar’s EPC4 sulphur-handling project: The project 

reached 57% overall completion, with the design 

phase 96% finished, procurement at 69%, and 

construction progress at 36%. The erection of the 

steel structure commenced, alongside the fabrication 

of non-standard equipment and the prefabrication 

of pipelines.

FARABI’s Lab4 Project in Saudi Arabia: The project 

was 81% completed, with 97% of the design phase 

finished, procurement at 93%, and construction at 

66%. Despite delays caused by the Red Sea incident, 

the project has made significant progress. The focus 

is now on the arrival and delivery of equipment and 

materials, as well as coordinating construction 

progress. The mid-term delivery is scheduled for May 

2025.
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E n h a n c e m e n t  i n  P r o j e c t  M a n a g e m e n t 

Competence

During the Reporting Period, Wison Engineering 

closely aligned with its strategic objectives of 

innovation, transformation, high efficiency, and 

global business development. The Company adhered 

to principles of standardisation, internationalisation, 

digitisation, and delicacy management throughout 

all stages of the project execution process. By 

utilising an integrated project management platform, 

W i s o n  E n g i n e e r i n g  s t r e n g t h e n e d  p r o j e c t 

management system training, optimised corporate 

management procedures,  and continuously 

enhanced its core competitiveness. This approach 

laid a solid foundation for long-term sustainable 

development, ensured customer satisfaction, and 

generated greater value for shareholders.

Remarkable Achievement in QHSE Management

In 2024, Wison Engineering continued to strengthen 

its Quality, Health, Safety, and Environment (“QHSE”) 

management, optimising the relevant systems and 

enhancing overall management standards. Adhering 

to the principle of “pursue the whole life cycle 

management of projects”, the Company delivered 

higher-quality products and services to customers. 

At the same time, Wison Engineering prioritised the 

safety and occupational health of its employees 

while implementing environmental protection 

measures,  making QHSE management more 

standardised, modularised in design, and digitalised. 

Additionally, the Company consistently promoted 

the “1+3 co-construction for win-win outcomes” 

approach in QHSE management, collaborating with 

project builders, suppliers, and construction 

contractors.

During the Reporting Period, the key health, safety, 

and environment (“HSE” )  indicators for  the 

Company’s contracted projects remained within the 

targets set at the beginning of the year. A total of 

11,368,692 safe man-hours were completed across 

domestic and overseas projects in 2024, with no 

lost-time accidents, environmental pollution 

incidents, or occupational health issues reported. 

The safety training rate for the Company’s under-

c o n s t r u c t i o n  p r o j e c t s  w a s  1 0 0 % ,  a n d  t h e 

rectification rate for identified hazards was also 

100%. Additionally, 100% of the safety expenses for 

both domestic and international projects met the 

requirements of the contracts and relevant laws and 

regulat ions .  These HSE achievements  fu l ly 

demonstrate Wison Engineering’s management 

competence, positioning it on par with international 

first-class engineering firms.

Wison Engineering has always considered QHSE 

management to be fundamental to its operations, 

prioritising it throughout the entire project lifecycle. 

Guided by the Ten Safety Concepts and the 

Workplace Safety Responsibil ity System, the 

Company has focused on enhancing employee 

involvement in HSE management. By implementing 

a dual prevention mechanism of risk control and 

hazard detection, it has successfully achieved both 

horizontal and vertical safety management. During 

the Reporting Period, the following achievements 

were made: the hydrogen project in Thailand passed 

the plant’s acceptance; Henan Shenma’s project won 

the Excellent EPC Award; various management 

measures adopted in Wanhua Chemical’s 1.2 million-

tonne-per-year ethylene cracking furnace project in 

Yantai were recognised by the owner as a model for 

project construction quality and safety management, 

with the successful furnace ignition completed at 
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the end of the year; Qatar’s EPC4 project was 

honoured with the HSES Quarterly Management 

Champion award by the owner; and Guangxi Huayi’s 

1.0 million tonnes/year MTO project in Qinzhou was 

recognised as the 2024 Outstanding Contractor by 

the owner. These accomplishments highlight the 

Company’s strong QHSE management capabilities in 

EPC project execution.

Expanding Global Cooperation and Breaking 

New Ground in Green Energy Revolution

In 2024, Wison Engineering capitalised on the 

opportunities arising from the global energy 

structure transformation and the upgrading of the 

chemical industry chain. Powered by cutting-edge 

technology and its global presence, the total value of 

newly signed contracts for the year exceeded 

RMB10.87 billion, with overseas business accounting 

for more than 70%. The Company successfully 

signed the EPC contract for a methanol synthesis 

project using hydrogen and carbon dioxide (“CO
2
”) in 

t h e  n e w  e n e r g y  s e c t o r ,  w h i c h  w a s  a l s o 

commissioned within the same year. This marked a 

significant step in the Company’s transformation 

from a traditional chemical engineering contractor 

to a comprehensive green energy service provider. 

The internationalisation strategy and green 

transformation progressed in tandem, propelling 

continued momentum for high-quality development.

Globalisation: Expanding Overseas Projects in 

Multiple Regions

Leveraging its expertise in modular construction 

technology and comprehensive industrial chain 

service capabilities, Wison Engineering made 

significant strides in both traditional energy sectors 

and emerging markets. The value of overseas 

projects contracted throughout the year saw a 

substantial increase, with a focus on core regions 

including the Middle East and Africa.

In the Middle East market, Wison Engineering 

strengthened its strategic partnerships with Saudi 

Arabian Oil Company (“Saudi Aramco”) and Abu 

Dhabi  Nat ional  Oi l  Company (“ADNOC” ) .  By 

capitalising on its expertise in modular design and 

manufactur ing ,  the  Company  success fu l l y 

par t ic ipated  in  b ids  for  Aramco’s  modular 

construction and supply projects, as well as the EPC 

bidding for several oil and gas field expansion 

projects of ADNOC, all of which are expected to 

transition into EPC contracts in 2025. Wison 

Engineering also expanded into the green hydrogen 

and green ammonia sectors, engaging in multiple 

rounds of discussions with both domestic and 

international companies for potential cooperation. 

The Company got actively involved in front-end 

engineering design (“FEED”) bids for green hydrogen 

and green ammonia projects using electrolysis 

technology in various locations worldwide. These 

efforts have laid a solid foundation for securing 

future EPC contracts in the sector.

In Africa, Wison Engineering secured the FEED 

contract for the PDH+PP project in Nigeria, which 

was delivered with high quality during the Reporting 

Period and is expected to transit into a turnkey 

contract in 2025. Simultaneously, the Company 

pursued FEED opportunities for several liquefied 

natural gas (LNG) projects in Nigeria, laying a solid 

foundation for future turnkey contracts and further 

expanding its presence in the African market. In 

Southeast Asia, Wison Engineering concentrated on 

new energy-re lated  pro ject  opportuni t ies , 

part icularly in Indonesia,  where it  provided 

competitive green hydrogen technology solutions. 

These efforts are projected to accelerate the 

Company’s expansion in the emerging market.
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Green Transition: Accelerating Expansion in the 

N e w  E n e r g y  S e c t o r  a n d  P r o m o t i n g 

Collaborative Innovation Across the Industrial 

Chain

Focus ing on the dual-carbon goals ,  Wison 

Engineering accelerated its expansion into the fields 

of new energy and new materials. The Company 

developed a technology pathway for new energy 

transformation, providing comprehensive, full-chain 

technical services that could span R&D, engineering 

transformation, and industrial application.

During the Reporting Period, Wison Engineering 

signed a strategic cooperation agreement with a 

leading Chinese proton exchange membrane (“PEM”) 

hydrogen production technology company, to jointly 

develop modular hydrogen generation equipment 

solutions. The Company also secured several green 

hydrogen-to-green ammonia technology feasibility 

study projects, providing solutions for green 

hydrogen-to-green ammonia projects in Egypt, as 

well as electrolysed water-to-green hydrogen 

solutions using green electricity in Indonesia. In the 

biomass sector, Wison Engineering signed a technical 

service contract for a biomass-to-methanol project 

in Turkey, delivering an integrated solution in 

col laborat ion with Chinese steam methane 

reforming (SMR) and methanol synthesis licensors. 

All of these projects are expected to transit into EPC 

contracts in 2025. Additionally, the Company has 

been actively pursuing biomass-to-sustainable 

aviation fuel (“SAF”) projects in China and Southeast 

Asia, and signed a technical service contract for the 

SAF project with Goldwind Green Energy.

Wison Engineering participated in the EPC turnkey 

contract of Shanghai Waigaoqiao No.3 Power 

Generation Co., Ltd.’s flue gas-CO
2
-to-methanol pilot 

demonstration project. The project was successfully 

c o m p l e t e d  b y  t h e  e n d  o f  2 0 2 4 ,  p a s s i n g 

commissioning and start-up on the first attempt.

In advancing its proprietary technologies, Wison 

Engineering signed several significant contracts, 

inc lud ing  a  turnkey  contract  for  MTO and 

downstream deep-processing integrated project of 

Guangxi Huayi Energy and Chemical Co., Ltd., a 

technical service contract and design contract for 

technical licensing and process package preparation 

related to feedstock adaptat ion at  Wanhua 

Chemical’s 1# Ethylene Plant, a technical consulting 

contract for the feasibility report on the high-end 

polyolefin localisation project of a limited company 

in Fujian, a technical consulting contract for a 

50,000-tonne-per-year oxidative dehydrogenation 

of ethane (“ODHE”) to ethylene project for a 

technology limited company in Shaanxi, and several 

preliminary consultancy contracts for MMA-related 

new materials projects. At the same time, Wison 

Engineering continued to pursue various ethylene 

and MTO technical service and EPC projects. With 

the successful start-up of PGA and MMA pilot 

projects, the Company is poised to explore additional 

project opportunities in the near future.

In 2024, Wison Engineering gained significant 

momentum through its well-established market 

strategy, shifting from single-point breakthroughs to 

regional collaboration in overseas markets and from 

pilot runs to scaled operations in the new energy 

sector. As the Company continues to advance its 

international transformation, it aims to accelerate 

progress in the low-carbon transition of traditional 

energy projects and the standardisation of new 

energy projects.
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Remarkable Achievements in the R&D of New 
Materials and New Processes
It is a prevailing trend in the industry to develop and 

apply new technologies, such as new materials and 

degradable  p last ics ,  and i t  i s  a l so  the  key 

development direction for Wison Engineering. 

Following long-term investments in R&D, as well as 

the accumulation of technological expertise, the 

Company has made significant progress in several 

key technologies within relevant fields during the 

Reporting Period.

Wison Engineering participated in the development 

of and secured the EPC contract for Panjin Sanli’s 

50,000-tonne-per-year MMA project, marking the 

f irst industrial ised application of new green 

ethylene-based MMA technology. The project was 

completed and mid-term delivered in August 2024 

and is currently undergoing commissioning and 

start-up. Being the first industrialised ethylene-based 

MMA production plants in China, the project adopts 

the leading ethylene hydroformylation technology 

and the new technology of one-step oxidation and 

esterification of methacrolein with complete 

domestic intellectual property rights. Through 

innovative, green and sustainable technical solutions, 

the project effectively solves the problems of high 

pollution and energy consumption arising from the 

common processes of MMA production via acetone 

cyanohydrin in China. With the demonstration plants 

coming online, many domestic investors are actively 

exploring technology licensing opportunities.

In terms of the innovative technology development 

and industrialisation of degradable plastics, during 

the Reporting Period, the 1,000-tonne pilot plant of 

PGA, built in collaboration with Inner Mongolia 

Rongxin Chemical Co., Ltd., successfully passed 

government-initiated acceptance and approval. The 

plant also completed its second stage of trials. The 

project is on track to finalise all research and move 

towards commercialisation in 2025.

During the Reporting Period, the 1.2 million-tonne-

per-year ethylene plant of Wanhua Chemical, 

designed and constructed by Wison Engineering 

with its intellectual property rights (“IPRs”), was 

completed and is scheduled to come into operation 

in April 2025. Wison Engineering is one of the few 

companies in China that owns a complete set of 

large-scale ethylene technologies. After upgrading 

and opt imisat ion,  the  Company’s  ethy lene 

production technology demonstrates significant 

advantages, including improved olefin yield, reduced 

investment,  lower energy consumption and 

emissions, and longer-cycle operation.

The catalytic ODHE to ethylene technology, 

developed by Wison Engineering in collaboration 

with the Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics of the 

Chinese Academy of Sciences, is being actively 

promoted, with numerous investors expressing 

strong interest in the technology. The technology is 

applicable for ethylene production via various ethane 

materials with significantly lower investment costs, 

energy consumption, and carbon emissions than 

those of traditional processes. It is of ground-

breaking significance to ethylene production, aligned 

with the global trend of using light olefin raw 

materials, and holds broad application prospects.

Wison Engineering is committed to promoting the 

leading domestic and international catalysts and 

p r o c e s s  t e c h n o l o g i e s  f o r  t h e  o x i d a t i v e 

dehydrogenation of butene to butadiene. During the 

Reporting Period, Wison Engineering was dedicated 

to the optimisation and upgrading of butadiene 

technology. Wison Engineering has developed a new 

generation of energy-saving butadiene oxo-

dehydrogenation catalysts and reaction-separation 

technologies. Compared to existing butadiene oxo-

dehydrogenation processes, this new technology 

significantly reduces steam consumption, energy 
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consumption by 30%, and wastewater consumption 

by 40%. Several companies are eager to implement 

this technology in the construction of new plants. 

The successful development of this technology 

further strengthens Wison Engineering’s leadership 

and competitiveness in the global butadiene 

technology market.

Wison Engineering’s butadiene division has been 

actively innovating in C4 separation processes by 

introducing a new solvent-based separation 

technology. Compared to traditional methods, this 

advanced process reduces energy consumption by 

over 40% and wastewater generation by more than 

90%. As a result, the Company has established 

technical cooperation intentions with multiple 

enterprises, with one already adopting the energy-

saving C4 separation process for plant retrofitting. 

The successful implementation of this technology is 

expected to become another major highlight of 

Wison Engineering.

During the Reporting Period, Wison Engineering 

secured 13 new authorised patents and submitted 15 

new patent applications, further strengthening its 

IPR portfolio and technological reserves.

Continuously Advancing Energy Transformation 

with Carbon Reduction as the Core

In response to the global challenge of climate 

change, Wison Engineering remains dedicated to 

advancing the transition towards low-carbon and 

green energy solutions. During the Reporting Period, 

the Company established the Green Hydrogen 

Products Technology Centre, which focuses on 

integrating the Balance of Plant (“BOP”) system for 

PEM electrolysers as well  as developing and 

promoting standardised and modular hydrogen 

products.

Wison Engineering signed a strategic cooperation 

agreement with a leading supplier of key materials 

and solutions for hydrogen production via PEM 

electrolysis. Under this partnership, both parties will 

collaborate in the field of PEM-based hydrogen 

production, aiming to promote highly efficient 

solutions in domestic and international markets. 

Wison Engineering will focus on developing the BOP 

system for  PEM e lectro lysers ,  leading to  a 

comprehensive suite of PEM electrolysis hydrogen 

production solutions and standardised products. 

Additionally, Wison Engineering entered into a 

strategic cooperation agreement with a leading 

green hydrogen solution provider in China, to jointly 

develop and market BOP systems for alkaline 

hydrogen production technology.

Additionally, Wison Engineering Ltd. and Schneider 

Electric signed a strategic cooperation agreement 

during the China International Import Expo (CIIE) in 

Shanghai. This partnership will further deepen 

collaboration in new energy and energy-chemical 

fields, focusing on areas such as innovation in green 

hydrogen integration, digital transformation of EPC, 

carbon reduction in the supply chain, internationalisation 

of EPC projects, and electrical solutions for offshore 

floating projects. Through this cooperation, both 

parties aim to drive the joint development and 

application of intelligent solutions, facilitating a 

comprehensive upgrade of their energy transition 

strategies.

Fully Promoting the Application of  the 

Integration Platform to Comprehensively 

Improve Digital Capabilities and Delicacy 

Control across the Company’s Projects

During the Reporting Period, Wison Engineering 

successfully implemented digital management of the 

report ing  process  by  deve lop ing a  pro ject 

management dashboard that integrates data 
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visualisation and intelligent analysis. This platform 

supports automated data collection and visual 

presentation. Additionally, by developing the project 

consulting business platform, Wison Engineering 

digitalised databases, enabling efficient search and 

extraction of various data types,  which has 

significantly improved work efficiency. The Company 

also transformed its business processes through 

intelligent technologies.

Wison Engineering has actively promoted the use of 

the integration platform across al l  projects, 

leveraging digital tools to support project execution 

and enhance the precision of project management 

and control. During the Reporting Period, the 

procurement supply chain system of the integration 

platform, IIP-SCM, was officially launched on 22 

November 2024. Additionally, IIP-DC, the document 

control system of the integration platform, became 

fully operational on 25 December 2024.

Pursuing a Three-pronged Talent Strategy to 

Build Organisational Capability Faster

In 2024, in response to the international growth of 

its business and the rising prominence of new energy 

and new material technologies, Wison Engineering 

introduced a three-pronged talent strategy:

1. strengthen business delivery capabilities 

t h r o u g h  o r g a n i s a t i o n a l  a n d  t a l e n t 

development;

2. enhance organisational vitality through cultural 

initiatives and policy optimisation; and

3. boost employee engagement through long-

term incentives and compensation plans.

During the Reporting Period, Wison Engineering 

focused on rapidly enhancing its design organisation 

capabilities. To achieve this, the Company actively 

recruited professionals in process, stress, electrical, 

and instrumentation engineering, as well  as 

experienced design managers with international 

backgrounds, significantly strengthening the overall 

design team in a short period. Aligned with its global 

business strategy, Wison Engineering also expanded 

its marketing network and localisation efforts in the 

Middle East, Africa, and other key regions. In line 

with business growth, the Company brought in 

highly ski l led experts across various design 

disciplines and project executives with overseas 

experience. Throughout the year, Wison Engineering 

onboarded more than 30 key professionals and over 

100 senior specialists. In preparation for future 

growth, the Company also hosted its first Open Day 

for International Students, attracting students from 

more than 20 countries currently studying in China.

Based on strategic analysis, Wison Engineering 

reflected on its vision, mission, values, and cultural 

elements during the Reporting Period through a 

series of cross-level cultural workshops. These 

workshops helped reinforce the Company’s values 

through a sound corporate culture. Additionally, the 

Company established a team of cultural ambassadors 

who, through various methods, effectively integrated 

the corporate culture into every aspect of daily 

management.

In addition, Wison Engineering refined its salary 

system based on a prior demand survey and its 

current business situation, ensuring that employee 

remuneration would be al igned with actual 

performance through a project-oriented approach. 
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The Company also introduced a job sequence and 

ranking project, in which it completed key tasks such 

as organising departments and positions, updating 

professional qualif ications, designing career 

pathways, and defining staffing levels. This initiative 

created more opportunities for employee career 

development.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economy is 

expected to experience moderate recovery, although 

signif icant growth divergence remains,  and 

numerous uncertainties persist, including geopolitical 

conflicts, supply chain restructuring, inflationary 

pressures, energy transition, and climate change. As 

the final year of China’s 14th Five-Year Plan, 2025 

will be a critical year for the country’s push towards 

high-qual ity development.  Despite external 

uncertainties, the Chinese government is expected 

to continue implementing a proactive fiscal policy 

and a prudent monetary policy to support stable 

economic growth.

It is expected that the global economy will recover 

gradually in 2025, with international crude oil prices 

remaining weak. This could lead to a gradual easing 

of cost pressures in the chemicals sector, while the 

refining and downstream segments are anticipated 

to see better performance. Stimulated by domestic 

economic policies, the petrochemical industry is 

likely to continue its steady growth. As oil refining 

conversion accelerates, the industry’s capacity 

structure wil l  continue to optimise, and the 

expansion of downstream capacities will gather 

pace. Meanwhile, the global green transition is 

advancing, prompting the petrochemical industry to 

intensify its planning and transformation efforts 

towards new energy sectors. Hydrogen energy, a key 

focus of global energy technology reform, will be a 

primary area of development, with China set to 

vigorously promote the industrialisation of hydrogen 

energy in the future.

Wison Engineering is currently at a pivotal stage of 

business transformation and internationalisation. We 

are capitalising on global opportunities in the new 

energy sector, increasing our focus on research and 

development of green and low-carbon technologies, 

and continuing to deepen our expertise in four core 

products: green hydrogen, green ammonia, green 

alcohols ,  and sustainable aviat ion fuels .  To 

effectively drive the growth of our new energy 

business, Wison Engineering must transcend 

traditional market boundaries and actively integrate 

into the broader clean energy market. This approach 

involves not only seeking new customers and 

partners but also building new skills and talent 

reserves to meet the demands of the evolving 

energy landscape. The Company will adopt proactive 

measures, adjust flexibly, and embrace change in 

order to navigate the challenges and seize the 

opportunities of the rapidly evolving new energy 

market ,  ensur ing  sus ta inab le  and  hea l thy 

development.

In 2025, Wison Engineering will remain committed to 

advancing its new energy strategy, continuing to 

play a vital role in the global green energy transition, 

and striving to become a key driving force in the 

e n e r g y  t r a n s i t i o n  b o t h  d o m e s t i c a l l y  a n d 

internat ional ly .  By  foster ing technologica l 

innovation, deepening international collaboration, 

and building a new ecosystem, the Company is 

making steady strides towards achieving a greener 

and low-carbon future.
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Revenue and Gross Profit

The comprehensive revenue of the Group increased 

by 47.0% from RMB3,842.7 million for the year ended 

31 December 2023 to RMB5,647.3 million for the 

Year.

The gross profit of the Group amounted to RMB445.2 

million for the Year, as compared to RMB227.2 

million for the year ended 31 December 2023, 

representing an increase of 96.0%.

The gross profit margins of the Group for the year 

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were 7.9% and 

5.9%, respectively.

Details of comprehensive revenue and gross profit breakdown by business segments are set out below:

Revenue Gross profit Gross profit margin

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

(RMB’ million) (RMB’ million) (RMB’ million) (RMB’ million) (%) (%)

EPC 5,333.7 3,528.5 380.0 119.5 7.1% 3.4%

Engineering, consulting 

and technical services 313.6 314.2 65.2 107.7 20.8% 34.3%       

5,647.3 3,842.7 445.2 227.2 7.9% 5.9%
       

Management Discussion
and Analysis
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The revenue of EPC of the Group increased by 51.2% 

from RMB3,528.5 million for the year ended 31 

December 2023 to RMB5,333.7 million for the Year. 

The EPC segment recorded a gross profit margin of 

7.1% in the Year, as compared to 3.4% recorded in 

2023. The increase in revenue of EPC for the Year 

was mainly because certain projects involved heavy 

equipment manufacturing,  and these heavy 

equipment have been gradually delivered to project 

sites during the second half of the Year. In addition, 

other projects of the Group located in the Middle 

East and domestic regions have also entered into 

principal construction phase during the Year, further 

contributing to the revenue for the Year. The 

increase in the gross profit margin of EPC projects 

for the Year is primarily attributed to the higher 

gross profit margins of the current ongoing EPC 

projects.

The revenue of engineering, consulting and technical 

services of the Group decreased by 0.2% from 

RMB314.2 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023 to RMB313.6 million for the Year. The gross 

profit margin of engineering, consulting and 

technical services of the Group decreased from 

34.3% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 

20.8% for the Year. The decrease in gross profit and 

gross profit margin of engineering, consulting and 

technical services was mainly because of the 

increase in cost for certain engineering projects due 

to the extension of project schedule as well as 

increase in headcount input. However, by the end of 

the Year, no agreement has been reached with the 

project owners and clients regarding the variation 

orders.

92%

8%

2023

EPC

Engineering, 
consulting and 
technical services

94%

6%

2024

EPC

Engineering, 
consulting and 
technical services
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Details of comprehensive revenue breakdown by industries in which our clients operate are set out below:

2024 2023 Change Change

(RMB’ million) (RMB’ million) (RMB’ million) (%)

Petrochemicals 4,663.5 3,014.6 1,648.9 54.7%

Coal-to-chemicals 824.1 615.8 208.3 33.8%

Oil refineries, public 

infrastructure and other 

products and services 132.9 212.3 -79.4 -37.4%

New energies 26.8 – 26.8 N/A     

5,647.3 3,842.7 1,804.6 47.0%
     

The revenue of petrochemical business segment 

increased by 54.7%. This was mainly due to the fact 

that the heavy equipment for those petrochemical 

projects involving the manufacturing of heavy 

equipment have been gradually delivered to project 

sites. Also, the progress of the Group’s other EPC 

projects is satisfactory, driving to the increase in 

revenue of this segment.

The revenue of coal-to-chemicals business segment 

increased by 33.8%. This was mainly due to the 

satisfactory progress of the Group’s domestic coal-

to-chemicals projects. The coal-to-chemicals project 

located in Shandong, China, which was previously 

suspended, had gradually resumed to construction 

during the second half of 2024.

The revenue of oil refineries, public infrastructure as 

well as other products and services business segment 

decreased by 37.4%. This was mainly because the 

Group’s new materials project located in Xinjiang, 

China, has entered its final phase, resulting in a 

further reduction in its revenue contribution.

For the Year, the Group has also actively expanded 

its new energy business, which has begun to 

contribute to the Group’s revenue.

82%

1%
2%

15%

2024

Petrochemicals

Coal-to-chemicals

Oil refineries,
public infrastructure
and other products
and services

New energies
78%

6%

16%

2023

Petrochemicals

Coal-to-chemicals

Oil refineries,
public infrastructure
and other products
and services
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Details of comprehensive revenue breakdown by geographic locations of our projects are set out below:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

Revenue

Percentage of 

total revenue Revenue

Percentage of 

total revenue

(RMB’ million) (%) (RMB’ million) (%)

Mainland China 1,598.4 28.3% 2,336.8 60.8%

Middle East 2,364.9 41.9% 838.7 21.8%

Eurasia 1,624.7 28.8% 160.3 4.2%

Others 59.3 1.0% 506.9 13.2%     

5,647.3 100.0% 3,842.7 100.0%
     

28%

72%

2024% of total revenue by geographic locations

China

Overseas

61%

39%

2023% of total revenue by geographic locations

China

Overseas
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The revenue from overseas projects of the Group 

accounted for approximately 71.7% and 39.2% of the 

total revenue for the Year and for the year ended 31 

December 2023, respectively. The increase in 

percentage weighting of revenue from overseas 

projects for the Year aligns with the Group’s 

consistent implementation of internationalization 

strategy.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains increased by 1.8% from 

RMB201.8 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023 to RMB205.5 million for the Year. For details, 

please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group.

Other Expenses

Details of other expenses breakdown are set out below:

2024 2023

RMB’ million RMB’ million

Research and development costs 188.0 128.8

Expenses in relation to operating lease income 6.7 26.8

Consultancy expenses – 0.7

Provision for damages and related interest to customers  

and suppliers -2.3 12.1

Bad debt reversal -0.4 -0.1

Others 0.1 2.2
   

192.1 170.5
   

Other expenses increased by 12.7% from RMB170.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB192.1 

million for the Year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by 37.2% 

from RMB28.2 mil l ion for the year ended 31 

December 2023 to RMB38.7 million for the Year, 

which was mainly due to the increase in the overseas 

marketing activities of the Group as well as the 

accruals of bonus for marketing staff.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by 28.0% from 

RMB309.8 million for the year ended 31 December 

2023 to RMB223.0 million for the Year, which is 

mainly due to the decrease in depreciation and 

amortization expenses of the Group’s office building 

and land located in Shanghai, China.
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amounted to RMB198.4 million. The net profit rate 

for the Year was 2.4%, while the net profit rate for 

the year ended 31 December 2023 was -5.2%.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are 

mainly on credit where payment in advance is 

normally required. Trade receivables are non-

interest-bearing and on credit terms of a period of 

30 days to 90 days or the respective contracts’ 

retention period. The Group’s total trade and bills 

receivables amounted to RMB546.7 million as at 31 

December 2024, representing a decrease of 

approximately 3.8% as compared with RMB568.1 

million as at the year ended 31 December 2023.

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital 

Structure

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and bank 

balances  amounted to  RMB3,802.5  mi l l ion , 

representing approximately 46.0% of the Group’s 

current assets (31 December 2023: RMB901.8 million, 

representing approximately 16.5% of the Group’s 

current assets).

Finance Costs

Finance costs decreased by 14.1% from RMB95.0 

million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 

RMB81.6 million for the Year. For details, please refer 

to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements of 

the Group.

Income Tax

The Group’s income tax expense for the Year 

amounted to RMB11.3 million, while the Group’s 

income tax credit amounted to RMB4.0 million for 

the year ended 31 December 2023. This was mainly 

due to the increase in assessable profits of overseas 

branch offices during the Year.

Profit for the Year

Based on the reasons above,  as wel l  as the 

significant decrease in impairment losses on financial 

and contract assets, the Group has turned to profit 

for the Year, as compared to the loss for the year 

ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s profit for the 

Year amounted to RMB134.7 million, while the 

Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 

The major items of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the Group are set out below:

For the year ended  

31 December

2024 2023

RMB’ million RMB’ million

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,084.9 651.5

Net cash flows used in investing activities -703.7 -10.5

Net cash flows used in financing activities -51.5 -164.0
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As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s pledged and unpledged cash and bank balances included the 

following amounts:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’ million RMB’ million

Hong Kong Dollar 2.6 2.5

United States Dollar (“US Dollar”) 779.4 368.7

Renminbi 2,953.6 1,103.9

Saudi Riyal 208.6 33.2

Euro 295.6 113.3

Qatar Riyal 226.4 0.9

Others 17.9 43.2
Russian Ruble 0.8 1.2

The asset-liability ratio of the Group, which was derived by dividing average total liabilities by average total 

assets, is set out below.

61.6% 60.8%

72.7%

67.2%

76.5%

2020 2023 202420222021

Asset-Liability Ratio
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Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were 

set out in the table below. The short-term bank and other borrowings of the Group accounted for 54.2% of the 

total bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 48.5%).

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB million RMB million

Current

Bank loans repayable within one year

— secured 360.5 305.2

— unsecured 175.1 67.2

Current portion of long-term bank loans — secured 59.4 59.4

Other loans repayable within one year — unsecured – 97.3
   

595.0 529.1
   

Non-Current

Bank loans repayable after one year

— secured 502.5 561.0
   

Bank and other borrowings were denominated in Renminbi at 31 December 2024, while bank borrowings were 

denominated in Renminbi, US Dollar and Singapore Dollar at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, bank 

and other borrowings amounting to RMB475.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB397.3 million) bore interest at 

fixed rates.

The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank and other borrowings ranged as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024 3.45% to 4.82%

Year ended 31 December 2023 3.45% to 8.65%
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The maturity profile of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 

2023, based on contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 12 

months

Over 

1 year Total

RMB’ million

31 December 2024

Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings – 85.0 532.7 615.3 1,233.0
      

31 December 2023

Interest-bearing bank and other 

borrowings – 71.4 502.4 698.7 1,272.5
      

The Group meets its working capital and other 

capital requirements principally with cash generated 

from its operations and borrowings.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

On 11 September 2024, Wison Engineering Ltd. (an 

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) 

(the “Purchaser”) and Wison (China) Holding 

Company (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Wison Group Holding Limited,  a control l ing 

shareholder of the Company) (the “Vendor”) entered 

into an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which 

the Vendor has conditionally agreed to sell, and the 

Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire, 35% 

equity interests in Levima Wison (Jiangsu) Advanced 

Materials Co. Ltd. at the consideration of RMB255,000,000 

in cash.

The acquisition was approved by the shareholders of 

the Company at an extraordinary general meeting of 

the Company held on 12 November 2024. During the 

Year, a total of RMB135,000,000 had been paid and 

the acquisition is targeted to complete by 30 

September 2025.

Further information can be found in the Company’s 

announcement and circular dated 11 September 

2024 and 18 October 2024, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the Group 

had no material acquisitions and disposals.

Capital Expenditure
The capital expenditure of the Group amounted to 

RMB22.7 million for the Year (2023: RMB22.7 million).
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Foreign Exchange Risk Control
The business transactions of the Group are mainly 

settled in Renminbi and US Dollars. The Group is 

exposed to currency risks in relation to the bank 

balances denominated in currency other than the 

functional currencies of the relevant entities. The 

Group has formulated and strictly adheres to a 

currency hedging policy against the foreign currency 

risk.

Contingent Liabilities
During 2023 and 2024, certain sub-contractors of the 

Group filed claims to the People’s Courts in Mainland 

China against the Group for additional payments of 

construction costs, interests and liquidation damages 

aris ing from the overdue payments with an 

aggregate amount of approximately RMB50,430,000.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are of 

the opinion that additional provision for the lawsuits 

amounting to RMB35,370,000 has been made. For 

other lawsuits amounting to RMB15,060,000 which 

are without merit, as the possibility for the Group 

being subject to additional payment claims is 

expected to be remote on the basis of the available 

evidence and legal advice obtained, the Directors are 

of the opinion that no additional provision is 

required.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2024, certain property of 

RMB3,484.2 million, future years right of receiving 

rental income from the property and sale proceeds 

from a customer of the Group in future years were 

pledged as securities for bank facilities of the Group.

Human Resources
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,867 

employees (31 December 2023: 1,608 employees). 

The Group reviews the salaries and benefits of the 

employees according to market practice and the 

performance of the employees on a regular basis. 

Also, the Group contributes to various social 

insurance schemes in the People’s Republic of China 

(the “PRC”) and the Mandatory Provident Fund 

Scheme in Hong Kong for qualified employees and 

provides medical insurance, work injury insurance, 

maternity insurance and unemployment insurance 

pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in the 

PRC and Hong Kong, as well as additional business 

accident and medical insurance. During the Year, the 

total staff cost of the Group (including salaries, 

bonuses, insurance and share option schemes) 

amounted to RMB958.9 million (during the year 

ended 31 December 2023: RMB702.6 million). The 

Group adopted the 2022 Share Option Scheme on 20 

December 2022 as encouragement and reward for 

the contributions of employees to the Company.
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Mr. Zhou Hongliang (周宏亮) ,  aged 55, is an 

executive Director of our Company and Chief 

Executive Officer of our Group. He has been an 

executive Director since 10 September 2013 and was 

appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 31 

December 2022. He is primarily responsible for the 

overall management, decision-making and strategy 

planning of our Group. He graduated from Liaoning 

Shihua University (遼寧石油化工大學), formerly 

known as the Fushun Petroleum Institute (撫順石油
學院) in 1991. He received his master’s degree in 

business administrat ion from China Europe 

International Business School (中歐國際工商學院) in 

2014. He obtained the qualification of constructor 

from the Ministry of Construction of the People’s 

Republic of China (中華人民共和國建設部) in 2006. 

He was responsible for project management in 

Sinopec Ningbo Engineering Co., Ltd. from 1991 to 

2002. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Zhou worked as a 

deputy manager in the Ethylene Project Team in 

Shanghai SECCO Petrochemical Company Limited (上
海賽科石油化工有限責任公司). Mr. Zhou joined our 

Group in January 2005 as a manager of the 

construction management department of Wison 

Engineering and was appointed as the deputy 

general manager of Wison Engineering in January 

2008. He has over 30 years of experience in the 

petrochemicals industry.

 

Mr. Zheng Shifeng (鄭世鋒), aged 57, is a senior vice 

president of our Group and was appointed as an 

executive Director of our Company on 1 September 

2020. He is responsible for the execution of domestic 

and overseas projects. Mr. Zheng graduated from 

Hefei University of Technology (合肥工業大學) with 

a major in welding technology and equipment in 

1990 and  obta ined  a  bache lor ’ s  degree  in 

engineering. He has been engaging in the project 

management in the petrochemicals and coal-to-

chemica ls  industr ies  and ga ined extens ive 

experience. He holds the title of senior engineer and 

the qualification of registered qualification certificate 

professional constructor of electrical and mechanical 

engineering in the PRC (國家註冊機電工程專業一級
建造師). He also holds an EMBA degree from China 

Europe International Business School (中歐國際工商
學院). From 1996 to 2004, he worked as a project 

manager in the engineering department of Sinopec 

Qilu Petrochemical Corporation. Mr. Zheng joined 

our Group in 2004 and has successively served as 

the deputy manager and the general manager of the 

Project Management Department as well as the vice 

president of our Group and was once in charge of 

the execution of Group’s domestic and overseas 

projects and international business in the Middle 

East and partial region of Africa. Mr. Zheng is a 

member of council of Shanghai Association of 

International Services Trade. Mr. Zheng has over 30 

years of experience in the petrochemicals industry.

Directors and 
Senior Management
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Mr. Li Dun (李盾), aged 53, is the chief financial 

officer of the Group and was appointed as an 

executive Director of our Company on 28 August 

2024. Mr. Li is mainly responsible for overseeing the 

finance and treasury function of the Group. He has 

extensive experience in the fields of financial 

controlling, corporate finance and investment. 

Prior to joining the Group as the chief financial 

officer in April 2024, Mr. Li served as the chief 

financial officer of Wison Group Holding Limited 

from December 2020 to April 2024. Before that, he 

served as the chief financial officer of Tiandihuayu 

Logistics Co. Limited*, the Greater China region 

financial director of Bobst Group SA and the chief 

financial officer of the logistics business unit of 

Sinochem International Corporation. 

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in applied 

accounting from Oxford Brookes University and a 

master’s degree in business administration from the 

University of Texas. He is also a fellow member of 

the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

* For identification purposes only

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Liu Hongjun (劉洪鈞), aged 52, joined our 
Company as a non-executive Director on 19 
February 2020 and appointed as Chairman on 5 
February 2021. He obtained a bachelor degree in 
chemical engineering and processes and a master 
degree in chemical engineering from Tsinghua 
University in the PRC in 1996 and 1999, respectively, 
and an Executive Master of Business Administration 
(EMBA) degree from China Europe International 
Business School in the PRC in 2010.

Mr. Liu has over 20 years of work experience in 
chemical engineering industry. From July 1999 to 
January 2005, he worked at Shanghai Wison 
Chemical Engineering Co., Ltd. (上海惠生化工工程有
限公司) (currently known as Wison Engineering Ltd. 
(惠生工程 (中國 )有限公司 ) )  and  he ld  var ious 
positions, including engineer, deputy manager, 
manager of project department (division 1) and 
manager of Nanjing project department. During the 
period between February 2005 and October 2015, 
Mr. Liu served at Wison (Nanjing) Chemical Co., Ltd. 
(惠生(南京)化工有限公司) (currently known as 
Nanjing Chengzhi Clean Energy Co., Ltd (南京誠志清
潔能源有限公司)) and held a number of positions, 
s u c h  a s  m a n a g e r  o f  p r o j e c t  m a n a g e m e n t 
department, deputy general manager, general 
manager, president and chairman of the board of 
directors. From November 2015 to November 2019, 
Mr. Liu served as a vice president of Wison Group 
Holding Limited. Since November 2015, he has been 
a director and president of Wison (China) Holding 
Company. Since November 2017, Mr. Liu has been a 
director of Wison Group Holding Limited. Since 
December 2019, he has been the president of Wison 
Group Holding Limited. Since January 2020, Mr. Liu 
has been the chairman of the board of directors of 
Wison (China) Holding Company. Wison Group 
Holding Limited is the controlling shareholder of the 
Company and Wison (China) Holding Company is 
one of its key operating subsidiaries. Currently, Mr. 
Liu also serves as a director at certain other 
subsidiaries of Wison Group Holding Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lawrence Lee (李磊), aged 60, joined our 

Company as an independent non-executive Director 

on 30 March 2015. Mr. Lee has been appointed as an 

executive director of Greenworks (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. 

(a company listed on the ChiNext board of the 

Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 301260.SZ) 

since April 2020. During his career in the past 30 

years, Mr. Lee also held several senior finance 
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positions, serving as an independent director of 

Guangdong New Jingang Technology Limited (a 

China GEM Board Company) since August 2017 to 

January 2019; as the Chief Financial Officer at 

Synutra International, Inc. (a company listed on 

NASDAQ) from October 2007 to October 2009; as a 

vice president and the Chief Financial Officer of 

Kasen International Holdings Limited (卡森國際控股
有限公司) (a company listed on The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) from 

August 2004 to September 2007; as the Chief 

Financial Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings Limited (a 

company listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange), 

from July 2001 to April 2004; and as a financial 

controller at the Korean division of Exel Plc of the 

United Kingdom from January 1999 to July 2001. Mr. 

Lee received a bachelor’s degree in management 

and engineering from the Beijing Institute of 

Technology in 1984. Mr. Lee also obtained a master’s 

degree in economics from the Renmin University of 

China in 1987 and a master’s degree in accounting 

and finance from the London School of Economics 

and Political Science in 1992. He is also a fellow 

member of the Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants.

Mr. Tang Shisheng (湯世生), aged 68, joined our 

Company as an independent non-executive Director 

on 7 December 2015. Mr. Tang, PhD in economics, is 

a senior economist. Mr. Tang was admitted to Hunan 

College of Finance and Economics in September 1978 

and became a teacher in the college after graduation 

in August 1981. From August 1988 to July 1994, Mr. 

Tang served successively as deputy general manager 

of the international business department of Hainan 

branch and branch president of Yangpu branch of 

the Hainan Province of China Construction Bank. 

From July 1994 to February 1997, Mr. Tang served 

successively as person in charge of preparation team 

and vice president of China International Capital 

Corporation Limited (中國國際金融有限公司) (now 

known as China International Capital Corporation 

L imi ted  (中國國際金融股份有限公司 ) ) .  F rom 

February 1997 to September 2009, Mr. Tang served 

successively as vice president of China Cinda Trust 

Investment Company (中國信達信託投資公司), vice 

president of China Galaxy Securities Limited Liability 

Company (中國銀河證券有限責任公司) (now known 

as China Galaxy Securities Co., Ltd. (中國銀河證券股
份有限公司)), chairman of Hong Yuan Securities Co., 

Ltd. (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, 

Stock Code: 000562). Mr. Tang acted as senior vice 

president of Peking University Founder Group Co., 

Ltd. from September 2009 to June 2012; and as 

chairman of Founder Capital Holdings Limited from 

October 2010 to June 2012. Mr. Tang served as 

supervisor, chairman and director of Hodojou 

Technology Co., Ltd. (華多九州科技股份有限公司), 

formerly known as Beijing HODOJOU Technology 

Co., Ltd (北京華多九州科技有限公司) (a company 

listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations, 

Stock Code: 834567) from March 2012 to October 

2018. Mr. Tang was an independent director of Geo-

Jade Petroleum Corporation (洲際油氣股份有限公司) 

(formerly known as Hainan Zhenghe Industrial Group 

Co. ,  L td .  (海南正和實業集團股份有限公司 ) ,  a 

company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, Stock 

Code: 600759) from December 2013 to July 2019. Mr. 

Tang has been an independent director of China 

CITIC Bank International Limited (中信銀行（國際）有
限公司) since November 2013.

Mr. Tang graduated from Hunan College of Finance 

and Economics, majoring in finance in August 1981. 

Mr. Tang graduated in June 1987 from the Institute 

of Financial Research, Head Office, People’s Bank of 

China with a master’s degree in economics; and 

graduated from the Graduate School of the Chinese 

Academy of Social Sciences in July 2004 with a 

doctoral degree in economics.
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Mr. Feng Guohua (馮國華), aged 56, joined our 

Company as an independent non-executive Director 

on 28 December 2015. Mr. Feng has over 27 years of 

exper ience  in  in format ion technology and 

management of consultancy services. Mr. Feng has 

extensive international exposure and experience in 

providing consulting services to multinational 

companies, state-owned enterprises and private 

enterprises.

Mr. Feng is currently served as an independent 

director of Shanghai Jahwa United Co., Ltd. (Stock 

code: 600315.SH), (which is listed on Shanghai Stock 

Exchange).

Prior to that, Mr. Feng had served as an executive 

director and the Chief Executive Officer of Man Wah 

Holdings Limited (Stock code: 01999.HK) from 

November 2020 to March 2022, the general manager 

of the Greater China Corporate Services Department 

of Microsoft (China) (“Microsoft”) from April 2016 to 

September 2020. Before he joined Microsoft, he had 

also been a Vice President and the managing partner 

at  IBM Global  Business Consult ing Services 

Department.

Mr. Feng graduated from the University of Science 

and Technology of China in 1990 with a Bachelor’s 

degree which majors in economic management and 

minors in computer application software. Mr. Feng 

also completed the Advanced Management program 

of Harvard Business School in 2009.

Ms. Guo Ruqian (郭汝倩) ,  aged 51, joined the 

Company as an independent non-executive Director 

on 15 November 2024. Ms. Guo has over 30 years of 

e x p e r i e n c e  i n  i n t e r n a t i o n a l  s h i p p i n g  a n d 

international integrated logistics sector. Ms. Guo 

started her career in Shandong International 

Transportation Corporation (山東省國際貨運代理公

司) from 1994 to 2003 as the business department 

supervisor and the operation department manager. 

From 2005 to 2007, she served as the deputy general 

manager of SITC Logistics Co., Ltd. (新海豐物流有限
公司 ) ,  a  w h o l l y - o w n e d  s u b s i d i a r y  o f  S I T C 

International Holdings Company Limited (a company 

listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1308)). She was 

subsequently promoted to the general manager in 

2008 and she is currently the vice president of SITC 

Logistics Co., Ltd.

Ms. Guo obtained a bachelor’s degree in art from 

Shandong University (山東大學), China, in 2001 and 

a master’s degree in science from Cardiff University, 

England, in 2005. She also holds an executive master 

of business administration (EMBA) degree from China 

Europe International Business School (中歐國際工商
學院).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Yansheng (李延生), aged 60, is the chief 

engineer of our Group. He is mainly responsible for 

guiding and leading the technology development of 

Wison Engineering and supporting and participating 

in internal technology research and development of 

Wison Engineering. Mr. Li graduated from Qingdao 

Institute of Chemical Technology (青島化工學院) 

with a bachelor’s degree in organic chemical 

engineering. Mr. Li also obtained a certificate in 

business administration (MBA core course) from 

Antai College of Economics and Management of 

Shanghai Jiao Tong University (上海交通大學安泰經
濟與管理學院) in 2006. Mr. Li then obtained an 

executive education program certificate from 

Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (長江商學
院) in 2010. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Li worked 

at Shandong Qilu Petrochemical Engineering Co. Ltd 

as vice chief engineer from 1987 to 2004. Mr. Li 
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joined our Group in 2004 and worked at the 

technical department of Wison Engineering. He then 

worked in the design management department and 

technical management department of Wison 

Engineering as a manager and vice chief engineer in 

2005 and 2006, respectively. Mr. Li was working at 

Wison Engineering as an assistant to general 

manager and technical director in 2008. Since 2017, 

Mr. Li has been working at Wison Engineering as 

chief engineer and chief scientist. Mr. Li also received 

various awards such as First-class Technical Progress 

Award (科技進步一等獎) from All-China Federation 

of Industry & Commerce (中華全國工商業聯合會) 

and  the  nat ionwide  outs tand ing  chemica l 

engineering worker (全國化工優秀科技工作者) from 

China Petroleum and Chemical Industry Federation 

(中國石油和化學工業聯合會) in 2010. He earned the 

title as a master of exploration design in the 

petroleum industry of the PRC in 2013. In 2018, he 

was awarded the “Nomination Award for Meritorious 

Figure” from Shanghai Exploration & Design Trade 

Association for echoing 40th anniversary of Reform 

and Opening up.

Mr. Liu Hengwei (劉恒偉), aged 48, is the chief 

technology officer of the Company since July 2024. 

Mr. Liu is mainly responsible for oversee the 

company’s technology development strategy. Mr. 

Liu has over 20 years of experience in the energy 

industry with an in-depth understanding of 

international energy markets and technological 

innovation.

Mr. Liu served as the executive vice president of 

ENGIE China (法能中國能源技術有限公司) from 

March 2015 to June 2024.

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree in thermal 

power control engineering from Xi’an Jiaotong 

University, a master’s degree and PhD degree in 

thermal engineering from Beijing Institute of 

Technology. He also obtained a certificate of 

executive training in digital transformation from the 

Ecole Supérieure de Commerce in France in 2021.

Mr. Li Baoyou (李保有), aged 60, is a vice president 

of our Group. He is responsible for the company’s 

ethylene technology development, process furnace 

technology R&D, technical support and promotion 

for potential customers, and resource coordination 

for ethylene project design. Mr. Li graduated from 

Beijing Institute of Chemical Technology (北京化工
學院) with a bachelor’s degree in polymer chemicals 

in 1988. Mr. Li also obtained a certificate of attending 

serial courses of business administration master from 

Guanghua School of Management in 2008 and the 

EMBA certificate from the China Europe International 

Business School (中歐國際工商學院) in 2013. Mr. Li 

joined our Group in 2004 as a senior engineer of the 

industrial furnace affairs department of Wison 

Engineering. Mr. Li has extensive experience in the 

petrochemicals industry.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) 

is pleased to present this annual report together with 

the audited financial statements of the Company 

and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 

2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. 

The principal activity of the Group is the provision of 

chemical engineering, procurement and construction 

management, or EPC, services. The Group provides a 

broad range of integrated services spanning the 

project lifecycle from feasibility studies, consulting 

services, provision of proprietary technologies, 

design, engineering, raw materials and equipment 

procurement and construction management to 

maintenance and after-sale technical support.

There were no significant changes to the Group’s 

principal activities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview and Performance of the Year

A fair review of the business of the Group, a 

d iscuss ion and analys is  us ing f inancia l  key 

performance indicators and an account of the 

Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders that 

have a significant impact on the Group are set out in 

the Business Overview and Management Discussion 

and Analysis sections of this report. An indication of 

likely future development in the Group’s business is 

set out in the Business Overview section of this 

report. Particulars of important events affecting the 

Group that have occurred since the end of the 

financial year are set out in the Business Overview 

section, the section headed “Subsequent Events” 

below and the Notes to the financial statements.

The Group’s business, financial condition or results 

of operation may be affected by a number of risks 

and uncertainties. Description of the principal risks 

and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in 

the Business Overview section and Note 36 to the 

financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group has established and implemented 

environmental management systems in accordance 

with the GB/T 24001-2004/ISO14001:2004 standards, 

and obtained the Environmental Management 

System Certificate after qualifying under the review 

by a third-party certification body. The Group strictly 

adheres to laws and regulat ions re lated to 

environmental protection, actively pursues the 

development strategies of “Green Engineering”, and 

through implementing controls at different stages of 

the engineering design and construction process, 

Report of the 
Directors
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achieves the goals of energy saving, emission 

reduction and environmental protection. In the 

feasibility studies, basic (preliminary) design and 

overall design phases of engineering construction 

projects, the Group has compiled specifications on 

environmental protection and energy saving in 

accordance with relevant environmental protection 

and energy saving design specifications and 

requirements, and determined the investments 

required for the prevention of and remedy for 

pollution, and energy saving measures. In the 

construction phase of engineering projects, the 

Group effects soil protection through the adoption of 

anti-leakage measures; the Group enables full 

utilization of reusable resources through the sorting, 

collection and treatment of waste; and the Group 

reduces wastage of materials through the use of 

advanced material management systems to optimize 

construction plans and enable precise calculations.

C o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  R e l e v a n t  L a w s  a n d 

Regulations

With respect to the compliance with laws and 

regulations, the Group proactively keeps itself 

abreast of regulatory updates. Apart from the above, 

details of the Group’s compliance with relevant laws 

and regulations which have a significant impact on 

the Group are also provided in the Business 

Overview, Management Discussion and Analysis and 

Corporate Governance Report sections of this report. 

These review and discussion form part of this report 

of the Directors.

Further details of the Group’s environmental, social 

and governance (“ESG”) matters will be set out in the 

ESG Report to be published by the Company 

separately in due course and will be made available 

on the website of the Company and that of the Stock 

Exchange.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 2 April 2025, the Board announced that the 

Company granted share options to certain eligible 

persons (the “Grantees”) to subscribe for a total of 

67,760,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the 

share capital of the Company pursuant to the share 

option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted 

by the Company on 20 December 2022 (which was 

before the new requirements in Chapter 17 of the 

Listing Rules becoming effective on 1 January 2023), 

subject to the acceptance of the Grantees.

Further information can be found in the Company’s 

announcement dated 2 April 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate 

purchases of raw materials attributable to the 

Group’s f ive largest suppliers accounted for 

approximately 12.1% of the Group’s total purchases. 

Our purchases attributable to the single largest 

supplier accounted for approximately 3.1% of the 

Group’s total purchases for the same period.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our five 

largest cl ients,  in aggregate,  accounted for 

approximately 80.7% of our total revenue. Our 

revenue derived from the single largest client for the 

same period amounted to approximately 28.0% of 

our total revenue.

None of our Directors, any of their close associates 

or any shareholders that, to the knowledge of our 

Directors, own more than 5% of the issued share 

capital of our Company had any interest in any of 

our five largest suppliers or clients during the year 

ended 31 December 2024.
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SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and the 

Group’s associates as at 31 December 2024 are set 

out in Notes 1 and 18 to the financial statements, 

respectively.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2024 are set out in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income on pages 54 to 55 of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a dividend for 

the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

DONATIONS

No donations were made by the Group during the 

year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Changes to the property, plant and equipment of the 

Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the 

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION 
SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share capital and share 

option scheme are set out in Notes 30 and 31 to the 

financial statements and the section headed “Share 

Option Scheme” below, respectively.

RESERVES

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year 
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
Changes to the reserves of the Company during the 
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 39 
to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable 
reserves calculated under the Companies Law of  
the Cayman Islands comprise the share premium  
and retained earnings totaling approximately 
RMB1,250,515,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and as at the date of 
this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Hongliang
 (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)(1)

Mr. Zheng Shifeng
Mr. Li Dun (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Zhou Yu(2)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu Hongjun(1)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lawrence Lee
Mr. Tang Shisheng
Mr. Feng Guohua
Ms. Guo Ruqian

(1) Mr. Zhou Hongliang has been appointed as the Chairman of 

the Board to succeed Mr. Liu Hongjun with effect from 27 

March 2025.

(2) Mr. Zhou Yu was appointed as an executive Director on 19 

February 2024 and was removed from the office on 19 April 

2024.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the 
senior management of the Company are set out in 
the  sec t ion  headed  “D i rec tors  and  Sen io r 
Management” on pages 31 to 35 of this report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS 

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a 

three-year service contract with the Company, 

which is effective from their respective appointment 

dates and is subject to termination before expiry by 

either party giving not less than six months’ notice in 

writing to the other. Each of the non-executive 

Director and independent non-executive Directors 

has entered into a letter of appointment with the 

Company which commenced from their respective 

appointment dates for a term of three years and 

shall be terminable by either party giving not less 

than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation 

and re-election at annual general meeting of the 

Company (the “AGM”) at least once every three 

years, and will continue thereafter until terminated 

in accordance with the terms of the service contract/

letter of appointment.

In accordance with Article 104 of the Company’s 

articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), 

Mr. Zheng Shifeng, Mr. Tang Shisheng and Mr. Feng 

Guohua will retire by rotation at the forthcoming 

AGM and, being eligible, Mr. Zheng Shifeng and Mr. 

Feng Guohua will offer themselves for re-election. 

Mr. Tang Shisheng has decided not to offer himself 

for re-election at the AGM as he desires to focus on 

h is  own bus iness ,  and he  wi l l  re t i re  as  an 

independent non-executive Director after the 

conclusion of the AGM.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s 

Articles of Association, Mr. Li Dun and Ms. Guo 

Ruqian will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being 

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of Mr. Zheng Shifeng, Mr. Tang Shisheng, Mr. 

Feng Guohua, Mr. Li Dun and Ms. Guo Ruqian has an 

unexpired service contract which is not determinable 

by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one 

year without payment of compensation, other than 

under normal statutory obligations.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has establ ished a formal and 

transparent policy to determine remuneration 

package of individual Directors and employees. The 

Board believes that the ability to attract, motivate 

and retain skilled and experienced personnel is of 

significant importance to the long-term successful 

development of the Group.

With the shareholders’ approval at general meeting, 

the Board is authorised to f ix the Directors’ 

remuneration including directors’ fee. Other 

emoluments are determined by the Board with 

reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and 

performance and the results of the Group. In 

part icular ,  the Remunerat ion Committee is 

mandated to, among others, (i) assess, review and 

make recommendations to the Board in respect of 

the remuneration packages and overall benefits for 

the Directors and the senior management of the 

Company, (ii) review and approve the management’s 

remuneration proposals with reference to the 

Board’s corporate goals and objectives,  ( i i i ) 

determine, with delegated responsibility, the 

remuneration packages of individual executive 

D i r e c t o r s  a n d  s e n i o r  m a n a g e m e n t ,  m a k e 
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S 
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share 

Option Scheme” below, at no time during the Year 

or at the end of the Year was the Company, or any 

of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its 

fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to 

enable the Directors or chief executive of the 

Company or their respective associates (as defined 

under the Listing Rules) to have any right to 

subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its 

associated corporations as defined in the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) or to acquire 

benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company or any other body 

corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed 

“Connected Transactions” below, no transaction, 

arrangement or contract of significance in relation 

to the Group’s business to which the Company or 

any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow 

subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of 

the Company and/or any of his connected entity had 

a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 

and no contract of significance between the 

Company or any of  i ts  subsidiar ies and the 

Company’s controlling shareholder or any of its 

subsidiaries, subsisted at the end of the Year or at 

anytime during the Year.

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 

packages of individual executive Directors and senior 

management (including benefits in kind, pension 

rights and compensation payments), (iv) make 

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 

of non-executive Directors and (v) cater for the 

Company to be in a position to offer and maintain 

competitive and attractive overall benefits to recruit 

and maintain high quality personnel at the Board 

level.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five 

highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in 

Note 9 to the financial statements in this report.

A review of the employees‘ remuneration and 

remuneration policy of the Group during the Year is 

set out in the sections headed “Management 

Discussion and Analysis” on page 29 of this report 

and “Emolument Policy” below.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the 

independent non-executive Directors an annual 

confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to 

Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company considers 

that all of the independent non-executive Directors 

are independent in accordance with the guidelines 

set out in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the directors of the Company and directors of the Company’s subsidiaries, 

or their respective associates, had interests in businesses, which compete or are likely to compete either directly 

or indirectly, with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant to the 

Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 

business of the Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in 

the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated 

corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required (a) to be notified to the Company 

and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short 

positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in 

the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified 

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 

Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:

(a) Long position in the ordinary Shares

Name of Director

Company/Name of 

Group Company

Capacity/ 

Nature of interest Number of Shares(1)

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

Zhou Hongliang Company Beneficial owner 5,410,000(L) 0.13%

Zheng Shifeng Company Beneficial owner 3,150,000(L) 0.08%

Liu Hongjun Company Beneficial owner 4,598,000(L) 0.11%

Note:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, 

none of the Directors nor the chief executive of the 

Company had any interests or short positions in any 

of the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of 

the Company or any of its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the 

Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to the Model Code.

Share Option Scheme

On 20 December 2022, the Share Option Scheme 

was approved and adopted by the shareholders of 

the Company. The Share Option Scheme shall be 

valid and effective for a period of ten years 

commencing from its adoption date. As at the date 

of this report, the remaining life of the Share Option 

Scheme is approximately seven years and nine 

months.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract 

and retain the best available personnel, to provide 

additional incentive to employees and directors of 

the Group and to promote the success of the 

business of the Group. Pursuant to the Share Option 

Scheme, the Board may offer to grant an option to 

subscribe for such number of Shares as the Board 

may determine to an employee (whether full-time or 

part-time) or a director of the Company or any of its 

subsidiaries (the “Eligible Persons”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be 

issued in respect of all options to be granted under 

the Share Option Scheme and any options or awards 

granted under any other schemes of the Company 

must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total 

number of Shares in issue as at the adoption date of 

the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate 

Limit”) (being 407,376,780 Shares). As at 1 January 

2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of options 

available for grant under the Share Option Scheme 

was 407,376,780 and 407,376,780, respectively. 

Therefore, as at 31 December 2024, the total number 

of Shares which may be issued on the exercise of 

options granted or to be granted under the Share 

Opt ion  Scheme and  any  o ther  schemes  i s 

407,376,780, representing approximately 10% of the 

issued share capital of the Company as at the date of 

this report. Option lapsed in accordance with the 

Share Option Scheme shall not be regarded as 

utilized for the purpose of calculating the Scheme 

Mandate Limit. Unless approved by the shareholders 

in a general meeting, no options shall be granted to 

any Eligible Person which, if exercised, would result 

in the number of Shares issued and to be issued in 

respect of all options granted under the Share Option 

Scheme and any options or awards granted under 

any other schemes to such Eligible Person (excluding 

any lapsed options and awards) in the 12-month 

period up to and including the date of offer of such 

options, in aggregate exceeds 1% of the Shares in 

issue at such date.

An offer of options shall be open for acceptance for 

such period (not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and 

from, the date of offer) as the Board may determine 

and notify to the Eligible Person concerned. An offer 

of options not accepted within this period shall lapse. 

An amount of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance 

of the grant of an option and such payment shall not 

be refundable and shall not be deemed to be a part 

payment of the exercise price.
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The exercise price of an option shall be such price as 

determined by the Board and notified to an option-

holder which shall be at least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the 

Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the 

date of offer of the option, which must be a 

business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as 

stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation 

sheets for the five trading days immediately 

preceding the date of offer of the option, which 

must be a business day; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

Any option shall be vested on an option-holder 

according to any vesting schedule and/or upon the 

fulfillment of the vesting conditions (as the case may 

be) as specified in the offer of the option. The vesting 

period for an option shall not be less than 12 months. 

However, if an option is granted to an Eligible Person 

who is an employee, a shorter vesting period for 

such option may be determined under certain 

circumstances specified in the Share Option Scheme 

rules.

Any vested option which has not lapsed and which 

conditions have been satisfied or waived by the 

Board in its sole discretion may be exercised after 

the offer of options has been vested. Any option 

which remains unexercised shall lapse upon the 

expiry of the option period, which period shall be 

determined by the Board and shall not exceed ten 

years from the offer date of the option or such 

longer period as the Stock Exchange may allow 

pursuant  to  a  waiver  granted at  the Stock 

Exchange’s discretion.

An option shall be subject to such terms and 

conditions (if any) as may be determined by the 

Board and specified in the offer of the option, 

including any vesting schedule and/or conditions, 

any minimum period for which any option must be 

held before i t  can be exercised and/or any 

performance target which need to be achieved by 

the Company and/or an option-holder before the 

option can be exercised.

Further details of the principal terms of the Share 

Option Scheme are set out in the circular of the 

Company dated 5 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no 

outstanding share options under the Share Option 

Scheme. 

No share options have been granted, exercised, 

cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme 

during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company) 

has interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register 

required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name

Company/Name of 

Group Company

Capacity/ 

Nature of interest

Number of Shares 

directly or 

indirectly held(1)

Approximate 

percentage of 

shareholding

Wison Engineering 

Investment Limited 

(“Wison Investment”)

Company Beneficial owner 3,088,782,146(L) 75.82%

Wison Group Holding 

Limited  

(“Wison Holding”)

Company Interest in controlled 

corporation

3,088,782,146(L) 75.82%

Mr. Hua Bangsong(3) Company Interest in controlled 

corporation

3,088,782,146(L) 75.82%

Ms. Huang Xing(4) Company Interest of spouse 3,088,782,146(L) 75.82%

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such 

Shares.

(2) Wison Holding,  as the sole shareholder of  Wison 

Investment, is deemed or taken to be interested in the 

Shares which are owned by Wison Investment.

(3) Mr. Hua Bangsong, as the sole shareholder of Wison 

Holding, is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares 

which are beneficially owned by Wison Holding.

(4) Ms. Huang Xing is the spouse of Mr. Hua Bangsong. Under 

the SFO, Ms. Huang Xing is deemed to be interested in the 

same number of Shares in which Mr. Hua is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, 

there were no other persons (other than Directors or 

chief executives of the Company) who had or are 

taken to have interests or short positions in the 

Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be 

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of 

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are 

recorded in the register required to be kept by the 

Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or which are 

notified to the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Mr. Hua Bangsong (“Mr. Hua”),  a controll ing 

shareholder of our Company, is a connected person 

of our Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing 

Rules.
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Wison Holding, a company wholly-owned by Mr. 

Hua, holds 100% of Wison Investment. Wison 

Investment owns approximately 75.82% of our 

Company as at the date of this report, and therefore 

is a controlling shareholder and a connected person 

of our Company under the Listing Rules.

Wison (China) Holding Company (“Wison (China) 

Investment”) is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 

of  Wison Holding.  Therefore,  Wison (China) 

Investment is an associate of Mr. Hua and a 

connected person of our Company under the Listing 

Rules.

Wison Engineering Ltd. (“Wison Engineering”) is an 

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Shanghai Wison Offshore & Marine Co.,  Ltd. 

(“Shanghai Wison Marine”) is an indirect subsidiary 

of Wison Holding. Shanghai Wison Marine is 

therefore an associate of Mr. Hua and a connected 

person of our Company under the Listing Rules.

Wison (Taizhou) New Material Technology Co., Ltd. 

(“Wison Taizhou”) is an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Wison Holding. Therefore, Wison 

Taizhou is an associate of Mr. Hua and a connected 

person of our Company under the Listing Rules.

Wison Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (“Wison 

Investment (HK)”) is an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Wison Holding. Therefore, Wison 

Investment (HK) is an associate of Mr. Hua and a 

connected person of our Company under the Listing 

Rules.

Wison Holding and its subsidiaries are referred to as 

“Wison Group” herein. Wison Holding and its 

subsidiaries and any companies in which Wison 

Holding and/or its subsidiaries can control the 

exercise of 30% or more of the voting power at 

general meetings and/or control the composition of 

a majority of the board of directors are referred to as 

“Wison Holding Entities”.

One-off Connected Transactions

The following transactions are one-off connected 

transactions of our Group conducted during the year 

ended 31 December 2024:

1. Wison Taizhou POE Pilot Test EPC Contract

On 25 August 2021, Wison Engineering and 

Wison Taizhou entered into a POE pilot test EPC 

contract (the “Wison Taizhou POE Pilot Test 

EPC Contract”), pursuant to which Wison 

Engineering was engaged by Wison Taizhou as 

the EPC general contractor for its project in 

relation to POE Pilot Test in Taixing Economic 

Development Zone, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. 

The total contract price payable by Wison 

Taizhou to Wison Engineering under the Wison 

Taizhou POE Pilot Test EPC Contract is expected 

to be RMB19,937,000 which comprises the 

reimbursement of the engineering costs to be 

incurred by Wison Engineering and the design 

f e e s ,  p r o j e c t  m a n a g e m e n t  f e e s  a n d 

remuneration payable by Wison Taizhou to 

Wison Engineering. Besides, pursuant to the 

Wison Taizhou POE Pilot Test EPC Contract, 

Wison Engineering will be entitled to certain 

incentive payments from Wison Taizhou for 

effective costs saving, efficient delivery of 

works and ensuring work safety. It is expected 

that the total amount of such incentive 

payments will be no more than RMB2,000,000. 

Therefore, the total amount receivable by 

Wison Engineering under the Wison Taizhou 

POE Pilot Test EPC Contract is expected to be 

RMB21,937,000. The final total amount payable 

to Wison Engineering by Wison Taizhou under 
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the Wison Taizhou POE Pilot Test EPC Contract 

depends on the actual engineering costs to be 

incurred by Wison Engineering, which will in 

turn affect the amount of final remuneration 

and the engineering costs related incentive 

payment payable to Wison Engineering, as well 

as the total incentive payments which Wison 

Engineering is entitled. For the year ended 31 

December  2024 ,  the  re levant  revenue 

recognized by the Group for this project was 

nil.

The Wison Taizhou POE Pilot Test EPC Contract 

was announced on 25 August 2021.

2. Topside Engineering Design Contract

On 16 November 2022, Wison Engineering and 

Shanghai Wison Marine entered into a topside 

engineering design contract (the “Topside 

Engineering Design Contract”), pursuant to 

which Wison Engineering was engaged by 

Shanghai Wison Marine to carry out the topside 

engineering design of the Marine XII Congo 

LNG Project. The Topside Engineering Design 

Contract shall take retrospective effect from 8 

August 2022. The total contract price payable 

b y  S h a n g h a i  W i s o n  M a r i n e  t o  W i s o n 

Engineering under the Topside Engineering 

Design Contract is expected to be no more than 

RMB45,000,000, which represents (i) the design 

fees payable by Shanghai Wison Marine to 

Wison Engineering and (ii) out-of-pocket 

expenses to be incurred by Wison Engineering. 

The final total amount payable to Wison 

Engineering by Shanghai Wison Marine under 

the Topside Engineering Design Contract 

depends on (a) the actual labour costs to be 

incurred by Wison Engineering, which will in 

turn affect the amount of final design fees, and 

(b) the out-of-pocket expenses to be actually 

incurred by Wison Engineering. The Company 

expected that any possible upward adjustment 

in the total amount receivable by Wison 

Engineering under the Topside Engineering 

Design Contract will not result in the final total 

amount receivable exceeding RMB45,000,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

relevant revenue amount recognized by the 

Group under the Topside Engineering Design 

Contract was nil.

The Topside Engineering Design Contract was 

announced on 16 November 2022.

3. Entrustment Guarantee Agreement

On 22 December 2022, Wison Engineering (as 

the entrusted guarantor) and Wison Holding (as 

the guarantor) entered into an entrustment 

guarantee agreement (the “Entrustment 

Guarantee Agreement”) in relation to a parent 

company guarantee (the “Guarantee”) provided 

by Wison Holding for Wison Engineering in 

favour of Zapsibneftekhim LLC, which provides 

assurances for  the ful f i lment of  Wison 

Engineering’s obligations arising under and in 

connect ion  w i th  ce r ta in  eng ineer ing , 

procurement and site services contracts 

entered into between Wison Engineering and 

Zaps ibnef tekh im LLC.  Pursuant  to  the 

Entrustment Guarantee Agreement, Wison 

Engineering shall pay a guarantee fee to Wison 

Holding calculated based on 0.5% per annum 

of the total principal amount of the guarantee 

liability stated in the Guarantee. The guarantee 

fee rate is determined with reference to the 

annualized rate and cost of the Guarantee. The 

maximum guarantee fee is RMB30,150,000. The 

term of the Entrustment Guarantee Agreement 

commences on 1 January 2023 and expires on 

31 December 2028.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

amount of guarantee fee payable by Wison 

Engineering under the Entrustment Guarantee 

Agreement was RMB5,025,000.

The Entrustment Guarantee Agreement was 

announced on 22 December 2022.

4. EPCIC Stage Topside Engineering Design 

Contract

On 18 May 2023, Wison Engineering and 

Shanghai Wison Marine entered into a topside 

engineering design contract (the “EPCIC Stage 

Topside Engineering Design Contract”) , 

pursuant to which Wison Engineering was 

engaged by Shanghai Wison Marine to carry 

out the topside engineering design for EPCIC 

stage of the Marine XII Offshore FLNG Project.

The total contract price payable by Shanghai 

Wison Marine to Wison Engineering under the 

EPCIC Stage Topside Engineering Design 

Contract is currently expected to be no more 

than RMB120,000,000, which represents the 

costs expected to be incurred by Wison 

Engineering (including but not limited to 

salaries and overtime pay of its personnel, 

domestic travel expenses, statutory benefits, 

insurance expenses,  transportation and 

accommodation costs, management fee, profits 

and various taxes). Besides, pursuant to the 

EPCIC Stage Topside Engineering Design 

Contract, Wison Engineering will also be 

entitled to certain incentive payments from 

Shanghai Wison Marine for efficient delivery of 

works. It is expected that the total amount of 

such incentive payments will be no more than 

RMB1,500,000. Therefore, the total amount 

receivable by Wison Engineering under the 

EPCIC Stage Topside Engineering Design 

Contract is expected to be RMB121,500,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

relevant revenue amount recognized by the 

Group under  the  EPC IC  Stage  Tops ide 

E n g i n e e r i n g  D e s i g n  C o n t r a c t  w a s 

RMB24,684,000.

The EPCIC Stage Topside Engineering Design 

Contract was announced on 18 May 2023 and 

was approved by independent shareholders of 

the Company at the extraordinary general 

meeting held on 30 June 2023.

5 Acquisition of 35% Equity Interests in Levima 

Wison (Jiangsu) Advanced Materials Co. Ltd.*

On 11 September 2024, Wison Engineering (the 

“Purchaser”) and Wison (China) Investment (the 

“Vendor”) entered into an equity transfer 

agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”), 

pursuant to which the Vendor has conditionally 

agreed  to  se l l ,  and  the  Purchaser  has 

conditionally agreed to acquire, 35% equity 

interests in Levima Wison (Jiangsu) Advanced 

Materials Co. Ltd. (the “Target Company”) at 

the consideration of RMB255,000,000 in cash.

The considerat ion shal l  be paid by the 

Purchaser by cash to such bank account as 

designated by the Vendor in the following 

manner: (i) the first installment in the sum of 

RMB63,750,000 (representing 25% of the 

consideration) shall be paid within three 

months of the date of the Equity Transfer 

Agreement; and (ii) the second installment in 

the sum of RMB191,250,000 (representing the 

remaining 75% of the consideration) shall be 

paid within 18 months after the date of the 

Equity Transfer Agreement.

* For identification purposes only
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Upon completion of the acquisition, the 

Purchaser will be interested in 35% of the 

equity interests in the Target Company. The 

Target Company will not become a subsidiary 

of the Company as a result of the acquisition 

and hence, the financial results of the Target 

Company will not be consolidated into those of 

the Group.

The acquisition was approved by independent 

shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary 

general meeting of the Company held on 12 

November 2024. As at 31 December 2024, a 

total of RMB135,000,000 had been paid and the 

acquisition is targeted to complete by 30 

September 2025.

Further information can be found in the 

Company’s announcement and circular dated 

11 September 2024 and 17 October 2024, 

respectively.

Continuing Connected Transactions

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, all 

the continuing connected transactions (the 

“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have not 

exceeded their respective annual caps:

1. 2023 Property Leasing Framework Agreement

On 22 December 2022, Wison Engineering 

entered into a new property leasing framework 

agreement (the “2023 Property Leasing 

Framework Agreement”) with Wison Holding 

(for itself and on behalf of the Wison Holding 

Entities) to renew the 2020 Property Leasing 

Framework Agreement which expired on 31 

December 2022. Similar to the terms under the 

2020 Property Leasing Framework Agreement, 

the  2023  Property  Leas ing Framework 

Agreement covers and governs the leasehold 

relationship between the parties under any 

future lease arrangements to be entered into 

between Wison Engineering (as landlord) and 

the relevant Wison Holding Entities (as tenants) 

in relation to the leases of and the provision of 

property management services for certain 

premises located at No. 699 Zhongke Road, 

Pudong New District, Shanghai, the PRC during 

the term of the agreement. The 2023 Property 

Leasing Framework Agreement shall be for a 

term of three years commencing from 1 

January 2023 and expiring on 31 December 

2025, and the transactions contemplated 

thereunder are subject to the annual caps of 

R M B 4 1 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 ,  R M B 4 5 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0  a n d 

RMB48,000,000 for  the years ended 31 

December 2023 and 2024 and the year ending 

31 December 2025, respectively.

The 2023 Property  Leas ing Framework 

Agreement was announced on 22 December 

2022.

On 5 December 2023, the Company entered 

into a supplemental agreement with Wison 

Holding to revise annual caps for the amounts 

payable by the relevant Wison Holding Entities 

to Wison Engineering under the 2023 Property 

Leas ing Framework Agreement for  the  

year ended 31 December 2024 and the year  

ending 31 December 2025 to RMB60,000,000 and 

RMB60,000,000, respectively. The supplemental 

agreement shall be effective from 1 January 

2024. The 2023 Property Leasing Framework 

Agreement (as revised) will expire on 31 

December 2025. The supplemental agreement 

was announced on 5 December 2023.
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The aggregate rental, property management 

fees, utility charges and charges for conference 

facilities payable to Wison Engineering under 

the  2023  Property  Leas ing Framework 

Agreement for the year ended 31 December 

2024 were RMB51,967,000.

2. 2023 Wison Holding Service Agreement

On 22 December 2022, the Company entered 

into a service agreement with Wison Holding 

(the “2023 Wison Holding Service Agreement”) 

to renew the 2020 Wison Holding Service 

Agreement which expired on 31 December 2022. 

Similar to the terms under the 2020 Wison 

Holding Service Agreement, the Group shall 

provide to Wison Group with consulting, 

marketing and new business development 

services in oil and gas and petrochemical areas 

in relation to the business operations of Wison 

Group, and Wison Group shall provide to the 

Group with information technology services and 

legal and compliance services under the 2023 

Wison Holding Service Agreement. The term of 

the 2023 Wison Holding Service Agreement 

commenced on 1 January 2023 and expires on 

31 December 2025. The fees payable to the 

Group by Wison Group and the fees payable by 

the Group to Wison Group are determined based 

on the amount of time incurred by the qualified 

personnel assigned to provide the relevant 

services at hourly rates determined with 

reference to market rates for the remuneration 

of such qualified personnel, plus out-of-pocket 

expenses and general and administration 

expenses actually incurred. The fees shall be 

payable quarterly in cash. The annual caps for 

the fees receivable by the Group from Wison 

Group under the 2023 Wison Holding Service 

Agreement are RMB20,000,000, RMB20,000,000 

and RMB20,000,000 for the years ended 31 

December 2023 and 2024 and the year ending 31 

December 2025, respectively, and the annual 

caps for the fees payable by the Group to Wison 

Group under the 2023 Wison Holding Service 

Agreement are RMB18,000,000, RMB19,800,000 

and RMB21,780,000 for the years ended 31 

December 2023 and 2024 and the year ending 31 

December 2025, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the 

service fee revenue recognized by the Group 

from Wison Group and the service fee incurred 

by the Group from Wison Group were RMB29,000 

and RMB14,169,000, respectively.

The 2023 Wison Holding Service Agreement 

was announced on 22 December 2022.

3. Engineering Design Framework Agreement

On 22 September 2023, the Company (for itself 

and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into 

an engineering design framework agreement 

with Wison Holding (for itself and on behalf of 

the Wison Holding Entities) (the “Engineering 

Design Framework Agreement”), pursuant to 

which the Group shall, following the principal 

terms of the Engineering Design Framework 

Agreement, from time to time provide to the 

Wison Holding Entities (i) engineering design 

services in oil, gas and petrochemical areas in 

relation to the business operations of the Wison 

Holding Entities from time to time and (ii) any 

other relevant advice and assistance as may be 

agreed upon by the parties.
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The Engineering Design Framework Agreement 

will expire on 31 December 2025 and the 

transactions contemplated thereunder will be 

subject to the proposed annual caps of 

RMB260,000,000, RMB260,000,000 and 

RMB260,000,000 for the years ended 31 

December 2023 and 2024 and the year ending 

31 December 2025, respectively.

The aggregate amounts payable by the Wison 

Holding Entities under the Engineering Design 

Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 

December 2024 were RMB133,468,000.

The Engineering Design Framework Agreement 

was announced on 22 September 2023 and was 

approved by independent shareholders of the 

Company at the extraordinary general meeting 

held on 31 October 2023.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive 

Directors, the continuing connected transactions 

above were entered into by the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

(ii) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements 

governing such transactions and on terms that 

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 

the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Further, the Board has engaged the auditor of the 

Company to report on the Group’s continuing 

connected transactions in accordance with Hong 

Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 

“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 

Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with 

reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on 

Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong 

Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Details of the related party transactions of the Group 

during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out 

in Note 31 to the financial statements. During the 

year ended 31 December 2024, certain related party 

transactions set out in Notes 32(a)(i), 32(a)(ii), 

32(a)(iii), 32(a)(iv), 32(a)(v), 32(a)(vi), 32(a)(viii), 32(a)(ix) 

and 32(a)(x), are regarded as continuing connected 

transactions or connected transactions of the Group, 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In respect of the connected transactions and 

continuing connected transactions conducted during 

the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has 

complied with the disclosure requirements under the 

Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed 

under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” 

above, no equity-linked agreements were entered 

into by the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under 

the Articles of Association, although there are no 

restrictions against such rights under the laws in the 

Cayman Islands.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF 
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, 

sell or redeem any of the listed securities of the 

Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and 

liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 

is set out on pages 6 to 7 of this report.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Particulars of bank and other loans of the Group as 

at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 27 to the 

financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company is well aware of the importance of 

incentivising and retaining its employees. The Group 

offers competitive salaries and bonuses to its 

employees, and make contributions to various social 

welfare funds for its employees, which in turn 

provide retirement benefits, pension payments, 

medical insurance, unemployment insurance, public 

housing reserves, work injury insurance and 

maternity insurance benefits to the employees. The 

Company also offers a long-term incentive scheme 

in the form of share option scheme for eligible 

employees, details of which are set out under the 

section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Particulars of the employee retirement benefits of 

the Group are set out in Note 3 to the financial 

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors, 

secretary and other officers of the Company shall be 

indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets 

of the Company from and against all liabilities 

incurred by such Directors, secretary or other officers 

in the execution of their duties. The Company has 

arranged for appropriate insurance cover for 

Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal 

actions that may be brought against the Directors, 

secretary or other officers of the Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has obtained a waiver from the Stock 

Exchange and the Stock Exchange has accepted, 

under Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, a lower 

public float percentage of 21.87% of our total issued 

share capital.

As at  the date of  this  report ,  based on the 

information that is publicly available to the Company 

and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company 

has maintained the minimum public float as 

permitted by the Stock Exchange.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting 

principles and policies adopted by the Group and 

discussed the Group’s internal controls and financial 

reporting matters with the management. The Audit 

Committee has reviewed and discussed the annual 

results for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst 

& Young who shall retire at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves 

for reappointment.

By order of the Board

Zhou Hongliang

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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The Board is committed to upholding high standards 

of corporate governance practices and business 

ethics in the firm belief that they are crucial to 

improving the efficiency and performance of the 

Group and to safeguarding the interests of the 

shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s 

corporate governance practices from time to time in 

order to meet the expectations of stakeholders and 

comply with increasingly stringent regulatory 

requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to 

excellence in corporate governance. Set out below 

are certain principles of corporate governance as 

adopted by the Company during the year ended 31 

December 2024.

The Board is of the view that throughout the Year, 

the Company applied the principles and complied 

with all the code provisions set out in the Corporate 

Governance Code (the “Code”)  contained in 

Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

On 27 March 2025, Mr. Zhou Hongliang (“Mr. Zhou”), 

the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) and an 

executive Director, was appointed as the Chairman 

of the Board. As Mr. Zhou now serves as both the 

Chairman of the Board and the CEO, such practice 

deviates from code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the CG 

Code.

The Board believes that vesting the roles of both the 

Chairman of the Board and the CEO in the same 

person can facilitate the execution of the Group’s 

business strategies and boost effectiveness of its 

operation. Therefore, the Board considers that the 

deviation from code provision C.2.1 in Part 2 of the 

CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In 

addition, under the supervision of the Board which is 

comprised of three executive Directors, one non-

executive Director and four independent non-

executive Directors, the Board is appropriately 

structured with balance of power to provide 

sufficient checks to protect the interests of the 

Company and its shareholders.

The Board will review the corporate governance 

structure and practices from time to time and shall 

make necessary arrangements when the Board 

considers appropriate.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with promoting the success of 

the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. 

The Board has general powers for the management 

and conduct of the Company’s business. The day-to-

day operations and management are delegated by 

the Board to the management of the Company, who 

will implement the strategy and direction as 

determined by the Board.

Corporate Governance Report
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The directors as at the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Hongliang  

 (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Zheng Shifeng

Mr. Li Dun (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Hongjun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lawrence Lee

Mr. Tang Shisheng

Mr. Feng Guohua

Ms. Guo Ruqian

The biographical information of the Directors is set 

out in the section headed “Directors and Senior 

Management” on pages 31 to 35 of this report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in 

al l  corporate communications issued by the 

Company from time to time pursuant to the Listing 

Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are 

expressly identified in all corporate communications 

pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Directors do not have any financial, business, 

family or other material/relevant relationships with 

one another.

Mr. Zhou Hongliang has entered into a service 

contract  with us  for  a  term of  three years 

commencing from 10 September 2022 and shall 

continue thereafter unless terminated by not less 

than six months’ written notice. Mr. Zheng Shifeng 

has entered into a service contract with us for a term 

of three years commencing from 1 September 2023 

and shall continue thereafter unless terminated by 

not less than six months’ written notice. Mr. Li Dun 

has entered into a service contract with us for a term 

of three years commencing from 28 August 2024 

and shall continue thereafter unless terminated by 

not less than six months’ written notice. Mr. Liu 

Hongjun has entered into a letter of appointment 

with our Company for a term of three years 

commencing from 19 February 2023 unless 

terminated by three months’ written notice or in 

certain circumstances in accordance with the terms 

of his letter of appointment. Each of Mr. Lawrence 

Lee, Mr. Tang Shisheng, Mr. Feng Guohua and Ms. 

Guo Ruqian has entered into a letter of appointment 

with our Company for a term of three years 

commencing from 30 March 2024, 7 December 2024, 

28 December 2024 and 15 November 2024, 

respectively, unless terminated by three months’ 

written notice or in certain circumstances in 

accordance with the terms of the relevant letter of 

appointment. Notwithstanding the above, all 

Directors, including the independent non-executive 

Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation at 

least once every three years in accordance with the 

Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. A 

retiring director is eligible for re-election.
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Under the service contracts, our executive Directors 

are entit led to aggregate annual salaries of 

approximately RMB5.09 million, plus a discretionary 

bonus as determined by the Board and our 

Remuneration Committee. Since 1 March 2025, Mr. 

Zhou Hongliang’s monthly remuneration has been 

adjusted from RMB200,000 to RMB215,000 and Mr. 

Zheng Shifeng’s monthly remuneration has been 

adjusted from RMB130,000 to RMB140,000. Mr. Liu 

Hongjun is not entitled to any director’s fee for his 

role as non-executive Director. The basic annual 

remuneration payable to each of our independent 

non-execut ive Directors  has been adjusted 

HK$336,000 since 1 March 2024. The remuneration 

of the Directors is determined with reference to their 

duties, responsibilities and experience, and prevailing 

market conditions. Details of the remuneration of 

the Directors for 2024 are set out in Note 9 to the 

financial statements.

The Company has received a written confirmation of 

independence from each of the independent non- 

executive Directors, and considers them to be 

independent.

Each of Mr. Zhou Yu, Mr. Li Dun and Ms. Guo Ruqian, 

who has been appointed as a Director during the 

year ended 31 December 2024, has obtained legal 

advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on 

Hong Kong law as regards the requirements under 

the Listing Rules that are applicable to him/her as a 

d irector  of  a  l i s ted issuer  and the poss ib le 

consequences of making a false declaration or giving 

false information to the Stock Exchange on 28 

February 2024, 27 August 2024 and 13 November 

2024, respectively, and each of them has confirmed 

that he/she understood his/her obligations as a 

director of a listed issuer.

Directors have access to the services of the Company 

Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures are 

followed. The Company Secretary of the Company is 

Ms. Tsang Chi Ka. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the 

Listing Rules, Ms. Tsang has undertaken not less than 

15 hours of relevant professional training during the 

year ended 31 December 2024.

Each of the Directors (namely, Mr. Zhou Hongliang, 

Mr. Zheng Shifeng, Mr. Li Dun, Mr. Liu Hongjun, Mr. 

Lawrence Li, Mr. Tang Shisheng, Mr. Feng Guohua 

and Ms. Guo Ruqian) attended various trainings in 

2024, including the training on Director’s continuing 

obligation on financial disclosures, handling insider 

informat ion,  latest  updates  and d isc losure 

requirements for ESG report and anti-corruption as 

part of their professional development. The Company 

will arrange suitable training for all Directors in order 

to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as 

part of their continuous professional development.

Code provision C.5.1 in Part 2 of the Code prescribes 

that at least four regular Board meetings should be 

held in each year at approximately quarterly intervals 

with active participation of majority of directors, 

either in person or through electronic means of 

communication. Notices of not less than fourteen 

days are given for all regular Board meetings to 

provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend 

and include matters in the agenda for a regular 

meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, 

reasonable notice is generally given. Any Director 

can give notice to the Chairman or the company 

secretary if he intends to include matters on the 

agenda of a Board meeting. The agenda and 

accompanying board papers are dispatched to the 

Directors or Board committee members at least 

three days before the meetings to ensure that they 

have sufficient time to review the papers and are 
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adequately prepared for the meetings. When 

Directors or Board committee members are unable 

to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the 

matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to 

make their views known to the Chairman prior to the 

meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the 

company secretary with copies circulated to all 

Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee 

meetings are recorded in sufficient details about the 

matters considered by the Board and the Board 

committees and the decisions reached, including any 

concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of 

each Board meeting and Board committee meeting 

are sent to the Directors for comments within a 

reasonable time after the date on which the meeting 

is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for 

inspection by the Directors. Procedures have also 

been agreed by the Board to enable board members 

to seek independent professional advice at the 

Company’s expense. The procedures in place are 

reviewed on an annual basis and considered as 

effective.

In 2024, the Board held ten meetings. A total of 50 

proposals were considered at these Board meetings, 

including proposals for the consideration of the 

Company’s 2023 annual report, 2024 interim report, 

removal and appointment of executive Director and 

independent non-executive Director, approval of 

acquisition of 35% equity interests in Levima Wison 

(Jiangsu) Advanced Materials Co. Ltd.. The Board also 

considered the Company’s compliance with the Code 

generally.

The table below sets out the details of Board 

meetings and general meetings attendance of each 

Director during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Director Board meeting General meeting

Zhou Hongliang 10/10 2/2

Zheng Shifeng 10/10 2/2

Li Dun(1) 3/3 1/1

Liu Hongjun 10/10 2/2

Lawrence Lee 10/10 2/2

Tang Shisheng 10/10 2/2

Feng Guohua 10/10 1/2

Guo Ruqian(2) 1/1 0/0

Notes:

(1) Appointed with effect from 28 August 2025.

(2) Appointed with effect from 15 November 2025.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company 

convened one annual general meeting and one 

extraordinary general meeting. In addition, a 

meeting between the Chairman and the independent 

non-executive Directors without the presence of 

other Directors was held.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters 

of the Company, including approval and monitoring 

of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, 

internal control and risk management systems, 

material transactions (in particular those that may 

involve conflict of interests), financial information, 

appointment of Directors and other significant 

financial and operational matters. Directors could 

have recourse to seek independent professional 

advice in performing their duties at the Company’s 

expense and are encouraged to access and to 

consult with the Company’s senior management 

independently.

The daily management, administration and operation 

of the Group are delegated to the senior management. 

The delegated functions and responsibilities are 

periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to 

be obtained from the Board prior to any significant 

transactions entered into by the management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the 

corporate governance duties as set out under code 

provision A.2.1 in Part 2 of the Code, reviewing the 

overall corporate governance arrangements, 

approving governance policies and reviewing 

disclosures in this corporate governance report. It 

plays a central supportive and supervisory role in the 

Company’s corporate governance duties.

The governance framework adopted by the 

Company emphasizes effective risk management 

and internal control systems, accountability to 

shareholders,  transparency in reporting and 

compliance with relevant rules and regulations. Such 

framework serves as an ongoing guidance for the 

Directors to perform and fulfill their respective roles 

and obligations to the Company.

The Company recognizes that board independence 

is critical to good corporate governance and board 

effectiveness. The participation of independent non-

executive Directors in the Board brings independent 

and objective judgment on issues relating to the 

Group’s strategy, performance, conflicts of interest 

and management process to ensure that the 

interests of al l  shareholders have been duly 

considered.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD

To ensure independent views and input are available 

to the Board, the following mechanisms have been 

established by the Company: 

(a) C o m p o s i t i o n  o f  t h e  B o a r d  a n d  B o a r d 

committees: The Board endeavours to ensure 

the appointment of at least three independent 

non-executive Directors and at least one-third 

of its members being independent non-

execut ive  D i rec tor s .  Apar t  f rom that , 

independent non-executive Directors shall be 

appointed to other Board committees as far as 

practicable.
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(b) Independence assessment: The Nomination 

Committee must  str ict ly  adhere to the 

nomination policy and any other relevant 

policies of the Company and the independence 

assessment criteria as set out in the Listing 

Rules with regard to the nomination and 

appointment of independent non-executive 

Directors. Each independent non-executive 

Directors is also required to inform the 

Company if there is any change in his/her own 

personal particulars that may materially affect 

his/her independence.  The Nomination 

Committee is mandated to assess annually the 

independence of all independent non-executive 

Directors by reference to the independence 

criteria as set out in the Listing Rules.

(c) Professional advice: Directors may seek further 

information from the management on the 

matters to be discussed at board meetings. 

They may also seek assistance from the 

Company’s company secretary and, where 

necessary, obtain independent advice from 

external professional advisers at the Company’s 

expense.

(d) Conflicts management: Directors shall not vote 

or be counted in the quorum on any board 

reso lu t ion  approv ing  any  cont rac t  o r 

arrangement in which such Director or any of 

his/her close associates has or is deemed to 

have a material interest.

(e) Meetings with the Chairman: The Chairmen of 

the Board shall at least annually hold meetings 

with the independent non-executive Directors 

without the presence of other Directors to 

discuss major issues and any concerns.

The Board reviews the implementation and 

effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an annual 

basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, 

namely the Audit Committee, the Nomination 

Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Each 

of the Board committees operates under its terms of 

reference. The terms of reference of the Board 

committees are available on the website of the 

Company and that of the Stock Exchange.

The members  of  the Audit  Committee ,  the 

Nomination Committee and the Remuneration 

Committee are all independent non-executive 

Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient 

resources to discharge their duties and, upon 

reasonable request, are able to seek independent 

professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at 

the Company’s expense.



61

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

Corporate Governance Report

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has three members. Mr. 

Lawrence Lee is the chairman of the committee and 

the other two members are Mr. Feng Guohua and 

Mr. Tang Shisheng. All members of the Audit 

Committee are independent non-execut ive 

Directors.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to 

review and supervise the financial reporting process 

and risk management and internal control systems 

of our Group and provide advice and comments to 

the Board.

In 2024, the Audit committee held four meetings, at 

which a total of 14 proposals were considered, 

including proposals for the consideration of the 

Company’s 2023 annual report, 2024 interim report, 

the appointment of auditors for 2024 and approval 

of connected transaction and continuing connected 

transactions of the Company. The Audit Committee 

also assessed the risk management and internal 

control measures and the effectiveness of the 

internal audit function of the Company.

The table below sets out the details of meetings 

attendance of each member of the Audit Committee 

during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Director

Number of meetings 

requiring attendance

Number of meetings 

attended in person

Lawrence Lee 4 4

Tang Shisheng 4 4

Feng Guohua 4 4

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has three members. Mr. 

Tang Shisheng is the chairman of the committee and 

the other two members are Mr. Feng Guohua and 

Mr. Lawrence Lee. All members of the Nomination 

Committee are independent non-execut ive 

Directors.

The primary duty of the Nomination Committee is to 

make recommendations to our Board on the 

appointment of Directors and senior management. The 

Nomination Committee is also responsible for 

reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board 

and the independence of the independent non-

executive Directors and making recommendations to 

the Board on appointment and removal of Directors.

Nomination Process

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the 

“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the approach 

to guide the Nomination Committee in relation to 

the selection, appointment and re-appointment of 

the directors of the Company.
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In recommending to the Board for the appointment 

of a new Director, the Nomination Committee 

performs in accordance with the fo l lowing 

procedures and process as set out in the Nomination 

Policy:

(i) the Nomination Committee will, taking into 

consideration the current composition, diversity 

and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable 

skills, perspectives and experience at the outset 

to  focus  the  search  e f for t  on  su i tab le 

candidates;

(ii) the Nomination Committee may consult any 

source it deems appropriate in identifying or 

selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals 

from existing Directors, advertisements, 

recommendations from an independent agency 

firm and proposals from shareholders of the 

Company;

(iii) the Nomination Committee may adopt any 

process it deems appropriate in evaluating the 

suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, 

background checks, presentations and third-

party reference checks;

(iv) upon considering whether a candidate is 

suitable for the directorship, the Nomination 

Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way 

of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve 

the  recommendat ion  to  the  Board  for 

appointment;

(v) the Nomination Committee will thereafter 

make the recommendation to the Board in 

relation to the proposed appointment and the 

proposed remuneration package; and

(vi) the Board will have the final authority on 

determining the selection of nominees.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has formulated and adopted the board 

diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) for 

compliance with the Listing Rules and the code 

provisions concerning the diversity of board 

members. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the 

approach adopted by the Board regarding the 

diversity of Board members, and the implementation 

and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy are 

reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

The Board continuously seeks to enhance its 

effectiveness and to maintain the highest standards 

of corporate governance and recognizes diversity at 

Board level as an essential element in maintaining 

competitive advantage and sustainable development. 

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity 

has been considered from a number of aspects, 

including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 

educational background, professional experience, 

skills, knowledge, length of services and time to be 

devoted as a director. The Company will also take 

into account factors relating to its own business 

model and specific needs from time to time. The 

ultimate decision will be based on merit and 

contribution that the selected candidates will bring 

to the Board.
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The Board str ives to ensure that i t  has the 

appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity 

of perspectives that are required to support the 

execution of its business strategies and in order for 

the Board to be effective. Appropriate emphasis on 

maintaining gender diversity has also been placed in 

the reviews of board composition, board diversity 

and succession planning to ensure a pipeline of 

potential successors in achieving gender diversity.

On 15 November 2024, Ms. Guo Ruqian has been 

appointed as an independent non-executive 

Director. Following the appointment of Ms. Guo 

Ruqian taking effect, the Board has achieved gender 

diversity and thus fulfills the requirement under Rule 

13.92 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had approximately 

1,867 employees (including senior management), 

with approximately 64.3% male and 35.7% female. 

T h e  C o m p a n y  c u r r e n t l y  h a s  t h r e e  s e n i o r 

management members, with 100% male. The 

Company has also taken, and will continue to take, 

steps to promote diversity at all levels of its 

workforce. Opportunities for employment, training 

and career development are equally opened to all 

eligible employees without discrimination. For 

further details of gender ratio, please refer to the 

Group’s ESG Report to be published separately.

Nomination Criteria

In recommending candidates for appointment to the 

Board, the Nomination Committee will consider 

candidates on merit against objective criteria and 

with due regards to the benefits of diversity on the 

Board.

In 2024, the Nomination Committee held four 

meeting at which a total of 8 proposals were 

considered, including proposals for assessment of 

the independence of independent non-executive 

Directors, re-election of directors and appointment 

of both executive Directors and independent non-

executive Director.

The table below sets out the details of meeting 

attendance of each member of the Nomination 

Committee during the year ended 31 December 

2024.

Director

Number of meeting 

requiring attendance

Number of meeting 

attended in person

Tang Shisheng 4 4

Feng Guohua 4 4

Lawrence Lee 4 4
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has three members. 

Mr. Feng Guohua is the chairman of the committee 

and the other two members are Mr. Lawrence Lee 

and Mr.  Tang Shisheng. Al l  members of the 

Remuneration Committee are independent non-

executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the 

model code described in code provision E.1.2(c)(i) in 

Part 2 of the Code in its terms of reference. The 

R e m u n e r a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  c o n s i d e r s  a n d 

recommends to the Board the remuneration and 

other benefits paid by our Company to our Directors. 

The remuneration of all Directors is subject to 

regular monitoring by the remuneration committee 

to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and 

compensation are appropriate.

In 2024, the Remuneration Committee held four 

meeting, at which a total of 7 proposals were 

considered, including proposals for the remuneration 

and terms of service contracts of executive Directors, 

remuneration of newly appointed Directors, 

assessment of performance of the executive 

Directors, as well  as review and approval of 

performance-based remuneration by reference to 

corporate goals and objectives. 

The table below sets out the details of meeting 

attendance of each member of the Remuneration 

Committee during the year ended 31 December 

2024.

Director

Number of meeting 

requiring attendance

Number of meeting 

attended in person

Feng Guohua 4 4

Lawrence Lee 4 4

Tang Shisheng 4 4

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the number 

of senior management (excluding Directors) whose 

remuneration fell within the following band is as 

follows:

RMB500,001 to 1,000,000 1

RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 1

RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors 

and the five highest paid employees are set out in 

Note 9 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the 

Company establishes good corporate governance 

practices and procedures. The Board also has the 

overall responsibility for evaluating and determining 

the nature and extent of the risks (including but not 

limited to material risks relating to ESG) it is willing 

to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, 

maintaining sound and effective risk management 

and internal control systems and reviewing their 

effectiveness. 
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The Company has established and maintained the 

risk management system and internal control system 

according to the Corporate Risk Management 

Framework (企業風險管理框架) published by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission. In accordance with its 

general goals, the Company identified, organized 

and analysed the key business related risks for the 

purposes of risk management and value creation. 

Regular and ad hoc risk assessments were conducted 

and internal control systems were reviewed annually 

to cover the period since the previous annual review 

and a refined risk management system was adopted 

to identify, assess and minimize risks. All these 

measures can provide reasonable, though not 

absolute, assurance against material misstatement 

or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk 

of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Company has a clear organizational structure 

that, to the extent required, delegates the day-to-

day respons ib i l i ty  for  the  formulat ion and 

implementation of procedures and monitoring of 

risk. Processes used to identify, evaluate and manage 

significant risks and processes used to review the 

effectiveness of the risk management and internal 

control systems and to resolve material internal 

control defects are mainly carried out in accordance 

with the Group’s various manuals, regulations and 

procedures, namely the “Risk Management Manual”, 

“Regulat ions of  In i t ia l  R isk  Management of 

Engineer ing Pro jects”  and “Procedures  for 

Implementation of Risk Management of Engineering 

Projects”.

The main features of the risk management and 

internal control systems of the Company are 

comprehensive risk management which covers the 

entire business process of the Company and 

penetrates full-process control and monitoring. The 

effectiveness of the relevant systems in each year is 

conf i rmed through regular  and ad hoc r isk 

identification, risk assessment and risk response and 

follow-up work conducted by the management and 

business departments and each engineering project 

on an annual basis. The Company has established its 

internal audit function to carry out examination and 

evaluation on the review process and results, and 

follow up on the progress of improvement after the 

examination. The examination and evaluation 

results, recommendation for improvement and the 

p rogress  o f  improvement  in  te rms  o f  r i sk 

management are then reported to the Board and the 

Audit Committee.

Deficiencies and insufficiency of the internal control 

mechanism and its implementation were identified 

through self-evaluation of risk and inspection. These 

initiatives facilitated the enhancement of the risk 

management system and reasonably ensured the 

effective operation of the risk management and 

internal control systems in order to safeguard the 

legal interest of the investors and protect the 

Company’s assets.

T h e  B o a r d  e v a l u a t e d  t h e  s u f f i c i e n c y  a n d 

effectiveness of risk management and internal 

control systems and the internal audit function of 

the Company through the Audit Committee. The 

Board considered the existing systems to be effective 

and adequate.

Disclosure of Inside Information

The Company has developed its disclosure policy 

which provides a general guide to the Directors, 

officers, senior management and relevant employees 

in handling confidential information, monitoring 

information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to 

ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside 

information are strictly prohibited.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group does not tolerate any form of bribery, 

whether direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, 

officers, employees, agents or consultants or any 

persons or companies acting for it or on its behalf. 

The Company adopts the anti-corruption policy to 

assist employees in recognising circumstance which 

may lead to or give the appearance of being involved 

in corruption or unethical business conduct, so as to 

avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and 

to promptly seek guidance where necessary.

We will review the anti-corruption policy on a 

regular basis and report any sentenced cases to the 

legal and compliance department of the Company.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company expects and encourages employees of 

the Group and those who deal with the Group (e.g. 

suppliers, customers, creditors and debtors) to report 

to the Company, in confidence, any suspected 

impropriety, misconduct or malpractice concerning 

the Group. The Company adopted the whistleblowing 

policy to provide reporting channels and guidance on 

reporting possible improprieties and reassurance to 

whistleblowers of the protection that the Group will 

extend to them in the formal system.

We will review the whistleblowing policy on a 

regular basis and report any suspected cases to the 

legal and compliance department of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES 
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set 

out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of 

conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. 

All Directors have confirmed, following specific 

enquiry by the Company, that they have complied 

with the Model Code during the year ended 31 

December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the 

preparation of the financial statements which give a 

true and fair view of the financial position of the 

Company and its subsidiaries and of the financial 

performance and cash flow during the reporting 

period. A statement from the auditors about their 

reporting responsibilities on the financial statements 

is set out on pages 70 to 78 of this report. In 

preparing the financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have 

selected suitable accounting policies and applied 

them consistently, made judgments and estimates 

that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared 

the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Board has further reviewed the effectiveness of 

the risk management and internal control systems of 

the Group to ensure that sound systems are 

maintained and operated by the management in 

compliance with the agreed procedures and 

standards. The review covered all material controls, 

including financial, operational and compliance 

controls and risk management functions. During the 

year ended 31 December 2024, no material weakness 
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on risk management and internal control measures 

has been identified. In addition, the Board considered 

the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and 

experience, training programmes and budget of the 

Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial 

reporting function, as well as those relating to the 

Company’s ESG performance and reporting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tsang Chi Ka has been appointed as the 

company secretary of the Company on 18 February 

2021. She is a full time employee of the Company 

who has day-to-day knowledge of the Company and 

is responsible for advising the Board on corporate 

governance matters.

Ms. Tsang confirmed that she has attended sufficient 

professional training as required in accordance with 

Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

Ernst & Young are appointed as the external auditors 

of the Company. The Group also engaged some local 

auditors as its subsidiaries’ statutory auditors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the external 

auditors received the following remuneration for 

audit and non-audit services provided to the Group:

RMB

Audit service 3,730,000

Non-audit services 965,000
  

4,695,000
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is 

in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

Articles of Association. Pursuant to the dividend 

policy, the Company may from time to time in 

general meeting declare dividends in any currency 

to be paid to the members of the Company but no 

dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount 

recommended by the Board. No dividend shall be 

declared or payable except out of the profits and 

reserves of the Company lawfully available for 

distribution, including share premium. No dividend 

shall carry interest against the Company.

The Board may, before recommending any dividend, 

set aside out of the profits of the Company such 

sums as it thinks fit as a reserve or reserves which 

shall, at the discretion of the Board, be applicable for 

meeting claims on or liabilities of the Company or 

contingencies or for paying off any loan capital or 

for equalising dividends or for any other purpose to 

which the profits of the Company may be properly 

applied, and pending such application may, at the 

like discretion, either be employed in the business of 

the Company or be invested in such investments as 

the Board may from time to time think fit, and so 

that it shall not be necessary to keep any reserves 

separate or distinct from any other investments of 

the Company.

The Board may also without placing the same to 

reserve carry forward any profits which it may think 

prudent not to distribute by way of dividend.

The Board may also, without convening a general 

meeting, from time to time declare interim dividends 

as appear to the Board to be justified by the financial 

conditions and the profits of the Company. The 

Board may also pay half-yearly or at other suitable 

intervals to be selected by it any dividend which may 

be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is of the 

opinion that the financial conditions and the profits 

available for distribution justify the payment. The 

Board may in addition from time to time declare and 

pay special dividends of such amounts and on such 

dates and out of such distributable funds of the 

Company as it thinks fit. Any dividend unclaimed 

shall be forfeited and shall be returned to the 

Company in accordance with the Articles of 

Association and all applicable laws and regulations.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time 

to time and may adopt changes as appropriate at 

the relevant time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for putting forward proposals at 

Shareholders’ meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to make 

proposals or move resolutions at the AGMs under 

the Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman 

Islands. Shareholders who wish to make proposals or 

move a resolution may, however, convene an 

extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) in 

accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders to 

convene an EGM” set out below.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene an 

EGM

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of 

deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the 

paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of 

voting at general meetings of the Company (the 

“Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the 

right, by written requisition to require an EGM to be 

called by the Board or the Company Secretary for 

the transaction of any business specified in such 

requisition, including making proposals or moving a 

resolution at the EGM. Eligible Shareholders who 

wish to convene an EGM for the purpose of making 

proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must 

deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) 

signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned at 

the principal place of business of the Company in 

Hong Kong (Room 2507, 25th Floor, Central Plaza, 18 

Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong) for the 

attention of the Company Secretary. The Requisition 

must state c lear ly the name of  the El ig ible 

Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding 

in the Company, the reason(s) to convene an EGM 

and the proposed agenda. The Company will check 

the Requisition and the identity and shareholding of 

the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be verified with the 

Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.

If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, 

the Board will convene an EGM and/or include the 

proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by 

the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM within two 

months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the 

contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not 

in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will 

be advised of the outcome and accordingly, the 

Board will not call for an EGM nor include the 

proposal(s) made or the resolution(s) proposed by 

the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM. If within 21 

days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board fails 

to  p roceed  to  convene  such  meet ing ,  the 

requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do 

so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses 

incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as 

a result  of the fai lure of the Board shal l  be 

reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the 

Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO SEND 
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, 

shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to 

the following:

Address: 633 Zhongke Road, Zhangjiang Hi-Tech 

Park, Pudong New Area, Shanghai 201210, China

Email: ir@wison.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must 

deposit and send the original duly signed written 

requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the 

case may be) to the above address and provide their 

full name, contact details and identification in order 

to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information 

may be disclosed as required by law.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company is committed to promoting and 

maintaining transparent, accurate and open 

communication with its shareholders and other 

stakeholders. It has established a shareholders 

communicat ion  po l i cy  ( the  “ S h a r e h o l d e r s 

Communication Policy”) to streamline policies and 

procedures for provision of appropriate and timely 

information about the Company to the shareholders, 

as well as for them to engage actively with the 
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Company and to exercise their rights as shareholders 

in  an  in fo rmed  manner .  Accord ing  to  the 

Shareholders Communication Policy, information of 

the Company shal l  be communicated to i ts 

shareholders mainly through annual reports, interim 

reports, annual general meetings and other general 

meetings that may be convened, as well as other 

publications and corporate communications on the 

website of the Company and the website of the 

Stock Exchange. 

Enquiries may be put to the Board by contacting the 

Company’s Investor Relations Department through 

email at ir@wison.com or directly by raising the 

quest ions at  an annual  general  meet ing or 

extraordinary general meeting.

All Directors (including non-executive Directors) and 

the external auditor of the Company also attended 

the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company 

held on 9 June 2024 to solicit and understand the 

views of shareholders and stakeholders and to 

answer questions raised by them.

The Board regularly reviews the implementation and 

effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication 

Policy to ensure that it reflects current best practices 

in communications with the shareholders and the 

investment community. The most recent review was 

conducted in March 2025 and the effectiveness of 

the Shareholders Communication Policy was 

confirmed.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to, among other things, update and bring 

the Articles in line with the relevant amendments 

made to the Listing Rules in respect of the electronic 

dissemination of corporate communications by listed 

issuers (effective from 31 December 2023), on 27 

March 2024, the Board proposed to amend the 

Second Amended and Restated  Ar t ic les  o f 

Association to (i) bring the Second Amended and 

Restated Articles of Association in line with the latest 

requirements under the Listing Rules, including the 

amendments to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules which 

took effect from 31 December 2023; and ( i i ) 

incorporate certain corresponding and housekeeping 

amendments to clarify, update and/or modify certain 

provisions of the Second Amended and Restated 

Articles of Association in accordance with, or to 

better align with, the Listing Rules and the applicable 

laws (collectively, the “Proposed Amendments”).

On 7 June 2024, a special resolution was passed at 

the AGM to approve the Proposed Amendments and 

the adoption of the Proposed Amendments. The full 

text of the consolidated version of the Articles of 

Association is available on the websites of the Stock 

Exchange and the Company.
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To the shareholders of Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) 

and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 204, which comprise the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 

position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as issued by the 

International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards are 

further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of 

our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 

not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit 

addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 

the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed 

to address the matters below, provide the basis for our opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements.
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition and measurement

The Group provides engineering, procurement and 

construction management services. Revenue from 

construction contracts is recognised using the input 

method, measured by reference to the proportion of 

costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of 

the relevant contract, which requires significant 

management estimates.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 4 and 6 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the contract costs and 

contract revenues recorded under the percentage-

of-completion method by the Group included: (i) 

discussing the status of significant projects in 

p rogress  w i th  management  and  assess ing 

management’s estimates of the total budget of 

contract costs and forecast costs to completion, 

taking into account the historical records of such 

estimates; (ii) reviewing samples of the construction 

contracts and variation orders to evaluate the 

Group’s judgement in identifying the contract and 

performance obligations, and determining the 

t ransact ion  pr ice  cons ider ing  the  var iab le 

consideration; (iii) checking the related project 

documents, such as invoices, contracts with 

subcontractors, variation orders between the Group 

and subcontractors and the independent surveyor’s 

assessment on the progress of the work performed 

by the subcontractors for the significant projects; (iv) 

testing on a sample basis the actual costs incurred 

on construction works during the reporting period 

and performing cut-off testing procedures to check 

whether  costs  had been recognised in  the 

appropriate period; and (v) recalculating the revenue 

recognised by the Group based on the estimated 

progress of the construction works.
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Recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables and contract 

assets of the Group amounted to RMB1,085,903,000 

and RMB1,429,345,000, respectively. As at 31 December 

2024, provisions for impairment of RMB574,535,000 

and RMB439,400,000 were made for trade receivables 

and contract assets, respectively. The expected credit 

loss assessment of trade receivables and contract 

assets involves management’s significant judgement 

and estimation, such as those regarding the existence 

of disputes, historical payment record, forward-looking 

factors and any other available information that may 

impact the estimated expected credit losses.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 4, 21 and 

23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of 

trade receivables and contract assets included (i) 

assessing and testing the Group’s processes and 

controls relating to the monitoring of trade 

receivables and contract assets, and the Group’s 

granting of credit terms and contract terms relating 

to billing milestones; (ii) evaluating the Group’s 

provisions for trade receivables and contract assets 

by assessing the cash settlements from customers 

subsequent to the year end, the existence of 

disputes, historical payment records, historical credit 

loss experience and forward-looking factors; (iii) 

testing on a sample basis the accuracy of ageing 

categories of trade receivables based on relevant 

invoices and construction contracts; (iv) obtaining 

and testing the historical observed default rates 

prepared by the Group; and (v) checking the 

calculation of expected credit losses based on the 

methodology adopted by the Group and assessing 

the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the 

financial statements.
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Key audit matters (Continued)
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of a building and an investment property

The Group measures its building and investment 

property situated in the People’s Republic of China (the 

“PRC”) under the revaluation model. As at 31 

December 2024, the fair values of the investment 

p r o p e r t y  a n d  t h e  b u i l d i n g  a m o u n t e d  t o 

RMB3,484,231,000 and RMB22,298,000, respectively, 

which in aggregate represented 27% of the Group’s 

total assets, combined with the judgements associated 

with determining their fair values.

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 13 and 14 

to the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the 

building and the investment property stated at fair 

value included: (i) evaluating the competence, 

capabilities and objectivity of the external valuers 

e n g a g e d  b y  t h e  G r o u p ;  ( i i )  o b t a i n i n g  a n 

understanding of the valuation processes and 

significant assumptions from the management of 

the Group and its valuer; (iii) checking related inputs 

applied into the valuation and involving our internal 

valuation specialists to assist us in reviewing the 

work of the external valuers and assessing the 

underlying assumptions, such as comparing them to 

external market rents and yields if available; and (iv) 

evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures of the 

valuation of buildings and leasehold land in the 

consolidated financial statements.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 29, which we obtained prior to the 

date of this auditor’s report, and the other sections of the Annual Report not including the consolidated financial 

statements and the auditor’s report thereon (the “Other Sections”), which are expected to be made available 

after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Other Sections of the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 

therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Group’s Audit Committee.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 

give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the 

Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing 

the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intends to liquidate 

the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for 

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 

responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 

information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit 

work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 

audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 

be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

REVENUE 6 5,647,335 3,842,719

Cost of sales (5,202,119) (3,615,517)
    

Gross profit 445,216 227,202

Other income and gains 6 205,536 201,828

Selling and distribution expenses (38,692) (28,162)

Administrative expenses (222,982) (309,838)

Reversal of impairment/(impairment) losses on financial  

and contract assets 29,385 (32,543)

Other expenses (192,077) (170,508)

Finance costs 7 (81,623) (95,021)

Share of profits and losses of associates 1,253 4,673
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8 146,016 (202,369)

Income tax (expense)/credit 10 (11,343) 3,991
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 134,673 (198,378)
    

Attributable to:

Owners of the parent 141,626 (196,122)

Non-controlling interests (6,953) (2,256)
    

134,673 (198,378)
    

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12

— Basic and diluted RMB3.48 cents RMB(4.81) cents
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2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 134,673 (198,378)
    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (3,530) (3,036)
    

Net other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to 

profit or loss in subsequent periods (3,530) (3,036)
    

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income:
Changes in fair value 24,512 45,998
Income tax effect 1,190 170

    

25,702 46,168
    

(Loss on property revaluation)/gains on properties and  
land revaluation (513) 82,277

Income tax effect 77 (12,342)
    

(436) 69,935
    

Share of other comprehensive income of an associate 48,071 (41,507)
    

Net other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified 

to profit or loss in subsequent periods 73,337 74,596
    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 69,807 71,560
    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 204,480 (126,818)
    

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 211,433 (124,562)
Non-controlling interests (6,953) (2,256)

    

204,480 (126,818)
    



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 December 2024

82

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 46,676 1,493,414
Investment property 14 3,484,231 –
Other non-current assets 20, 22, 23 143,198 142,077
Right-of-use assets 15(a) 13,790 2,046,676
Goodwill 16 15,752 15,752
Intangible assets 17 25,959 26,021
Long-term prepayments 22 417 5,251
Investments in associates 18 259,734 220,619
Equity investments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 19 29,162 33,130    

Total non-current assets 4,018,919 3,982,940    

CURRENT ASSETS
Equity investments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 19 266,426 237,946
Inventories 20 426,174 52,237
Trade receivables 21 511,368 473,716
Bills receivable 35,364 94,421
Contract assets 23 989,060 1,599,781
Prepayments and other receivables 22 1,498,020 1,250,463
Due from fellow subsidiaries 32 64,807 80,489
Pledged bank balances and time deposits 24 681,513 785,890
Cash and bank balances 24 3,802,475 901,834    

Total current assets 8,275,207 5,476,777    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables 25 2,764,626 2,183,155
Other payables and accruals 26 4,012,855 2,307,695
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27 595,015 529,109
Lease liabilities 15(b) 16,343 12,135
Due to fellow subsidiaries 32 329 340
Due to an associate 32 630 630
Tax payable 154,839 155,196    

Total current liabilities 7,544,637 5,188,260    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 730,570 288,517    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,749,489 4,271,457    
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 15(b) 1,529 15,031
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 27 502,500 561,000
Long-term payables 25, 26 43,191 574,350
Deferred tax liabilities 28 398,465 398,556
Government grants 29 3,725 3,855
Other non-current liabilities 26 1,146,816 269,882    

Total non-current liabilities 2,096,226 1,822,674    

Net assets 2,653,263 2,448,783
    

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital 30 330,578 330,578
Share premium 30 869,201 869,201
Reserves 30 1,475,145 1,263,712    

2,674,924 2,463,491    

Non-controlling interests (21,661) (14,708)    

Total equity 2,653,263 2,448,783
    

 Zhou Hongliang Li Dun

 Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the parent
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reserve*

Statutory
reserve*

Fair value
reserve of

financial assets
at fair value

through other
comprehensive

income*

Asset
revaluation

reserve*

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve*
Accumulated

losses* Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 30) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)

At 1 January 2023 330,578 869,201 (101,206) 107,321 (1,807) 2,235,483 (4,603) (846,914) 2,588,053 (12,452) 2,575,601
Loss for the year – – – – – – – (196,122) (196,122) (2,256) (198,378)
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Change in fair value of equity 
investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, net of 
tax – – – – 46,168 – – – 46,168 – 46,168

Share of other comprehensive income of 
an associate – – – – (41,507) – – – (41,507) – (41,507)

Gains on properties and land revaluation, 
net of tax – – – – – 69,935 – – 69,935 – 69,935

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations – – – – – – (3,036) – (3,036) – (3,036)

            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 4,661 69,935 (3,036) (196,122) (124,562) (2,256) (126,818)
Depreciation transfer for properties and 

land – – – – – (65,930) – 65,930 – – –
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – (1,677) – – – 1,677 – – –
Transfer of fair value reserve upon the 

disposal of equity investments at fair 
value through other comprehensive 
income – – – – (532) – – 532 – – –

            

At 31 December 2023 330,578 869,201 (101,206) 105,644 2,322 2,239,488 (7,639) (974,897) 2,463,491 (14,708) 2,448,783
            

Attributable to owners of the parent
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reserve*

Statutory
reserve*

Fair value
reserve of

financial assets
at fair value

through other
comprehensive

income*

Asset
revaluation

reserve*

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve*
Accumulated

losses* Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 30) (note 30) (note 30) (note 30)

At 1 January 2024 330,578 869,201 (101,206) 105,644 2,322 2,239,488 (7,639) (974,897) 2,463,491 (14,708) 2,448,783
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 141,626 141,626 (6,953) 134,673
Other comprehensive income for  

the year:
Change in fair value of equity 

investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, net of 
tax – – – – 25,702 – – – 25,702 – 25,702

Share of other comprehensive income of 
an associate – – – – 48,071 – – – 48,071 – 48,071

Gains on property revaluation, net of tax – – – – – (436) – – (436) – (436)
Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations – – – – – – (3,530) – (3,530) – (3,530)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – 73,773 (436) (3,530) 141,626 211,433 (6,953) 204,480
Depreciation transfer for property – – – – – (573) – 573 – – –
Transfer to statutory reserve – – – 594 – – – (594) – – –

            

At 31 December 2024 330,578 869,201 (101,206) 106,238 76,095 2,238,479 (11,169) (833,292) 2,674,924 (21,661) 2,653,263
            

* These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated reserves of RMB1,475,145,000 and RMB1,263,712,000 in the consolidated statements 
of financial position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2024

85

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax 146,016 (202,369)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8, 13 7,213 51,606
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8, 15 13,382 75,964
Amortisation of intangible assets 8, 17 7,993 7,246
Recognition of government grants 6, 8, 29 (4,015) (6,272)
Share of profits and losses of associates 18 (1,253) (4,673)
Net foreign exchange gain (6,167) (32,441)
Dividend income from equity investments designated at 

fair value through other comprehensive income 6 (15,674) (13,170)
Fair value gains on investment property (8,515) –
Gain on modifications of financial liabilities that do not 

result in derecognition 6, 8 – (19,055)
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6 (236) (2,283)
Impairment of inventories 8 57,232 73,664
Reversal of impairment losses of trade receivables, net 21 (21,374) (21,285)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment losses of contract 

assets, net 23 (9,010) 57,104
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses of other 

receivables, net 22 999 (3,276)
Finance costs 7 81,623 95,021
Interest income 6 (24,549) (17,143)

    

223,665 38,638

Increase in inventories (419,616) (18,420)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables 42,779 64,160
Increase in prepayments, other receivables and other assets (247,194) (519,394)
Decrease in contract assets 742,057 519,500
Decrease in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 15,682 8,832
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (11) 189
Increase in government grants 29 3,885 6,141
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables 15,622 (430,212)
Increase in other payables and accruals 2,596,898 1,189,846
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank balances and time 

deposits, and frozen balances 158,627 (132,853)
    

Cash generated from operations 3,132,394 726,427

Interest received 24,549 17,143
Interest paid (65,714) (62,523)
Tax paid (6,309) (29,509)

    

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,084,920 651,538
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2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividend income from equity investments designated  

at fair value through other comprehensive income 6 15,674 13,170
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment 13 (14,205) (13,799)
Purchase of intangible assets 17 (8,506) (8,929)
Advance payment for acquisition of equity interest in an 

associate (135,000) –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,941 2,876
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments designated at 

fair value through other comprehensive income – 20,797
Placement of time deposits with original maturity of more 

than three months (573,794) (26,206)
Dividend received from an associate – 1,519
Proceeds from capital reduction in an associate 10,209 –

    

Net cash flows used in investing activities (703,681) (10,572)
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans 57,490 479,363
Repayment of bank loans (50,084) (576,886)
Increase in pledged bank balances (45,167) (57,424)
Principal portion of lease payments 38(b) (13,753) (9,036)

    

Net cash flows used in financing activities (51,514) (163,983)
    

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,329,725 476,983

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 848,272 347,972
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 6,205 23,317

    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 3,184,202 848,272
    

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 3,802,475 901,834
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED IN THE 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 24 3,802,475 901,834

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of more 
than three months (600,000) (26,206)

Frozen and unpledged cash balances (18,273) (27,356)
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED IN THE 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 3,184,202 848,272
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand 
Cayman, KY1–1111, Cayman Islands.

Wison Engineering Investment Limited (“Wison Investment”) is the immediate holding company of the 
Company. In the opinion of the directors, Wison Group Holding Limited (“Wison Holding”) is the ultimate 
holding company of the Company. Wison Holding and Wison Investment are exempted companies with 
limited liability incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of project solutions to petrochemical and coal-to-
chemicals producers in terms of design, construction and commissioning of their production facilities 
through technology consultancy, engineering, procurement and construction management services in the 
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and overseas.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and 
business

Issued
ordinary/

registered
share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect

Wison Engineering Technology 
Limited (“Wison Technology”)

British Virgin 
Islands (“BVI”)

United States
dollar (“US$”)

1

100 – Investment holding

Wison Energy Engineering (Hong 
Kong) Limited (“Wison Energy 
(HK)”)

Hong Kong Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”)

401,713,600

– 100 Investment holding/import and 
export sale of equipment and 
parts/provision of engineering, 
procurement and construction 
management services

惠生工程（中國）有限公司* 
(Wison Engineering Limited, 
“Wison Engineering”)

PRC/Mainland 
China

Renminbi (“RMB”)
510,000,000

– 100 Provision of engineering, 
procurement and construction 
management services

Wison USA, LLC United States Nil – 100 Provision of engineering, 
procurement and construction 
management services

江蘇惠生建設科技有限公司** 
(Jiangsu Wison Construction 
Technology Company Limited, 
“Jiangsu Wison”)

PRC/Mainland 
China

RMB120,800,000 – 100 Provision of procurement and 
construction management 
services

* Wison Engineering is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative enterprise under PRC law.

** Jiangsu Wison is registered as a domestic enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give 
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (which 

include all International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) 

and Interpretations) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the 

historical cost convention, except for equity investments, buildings and leasehold land which have 

been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in RMB and all values are 

rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary 

is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is 

achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing 

rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. When the 

Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 

Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the 

date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such 

control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of 

the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 

cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on 

consolidation.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 

there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the 

ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), 

liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair 

value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s 

share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or 

loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had 

directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRS Accounting Standards for the first time for the 

current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

(the “2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants  

(the “2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised IFRS Accounting Standards are described below:

(a) Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease 

liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise 

any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no 

sale and leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or 

a rate occurring from the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any 

impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 

The nature and the impact of revised IFRS Accounting Standards are described below: (continued)

(b) The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-

current, including what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must 

exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood 

that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a 

liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a 

convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability 

not impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a 

liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or 

before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. 

Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity 

complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 

and concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained 

unchanged upon initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not 

have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

(c) Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and 

require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the 

amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects of 

supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. 

As the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments did not have any 

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS accounting standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been 

issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new 

and revised IFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements3

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of 

Financial Instruments2

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity2

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability1

Annual Improvements to IFRS 

Accounting Standards  

— Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards that are expected to be applicable to the 

Group is described below.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a number of sections have been 

brought forward from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for 

presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are 

required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five 

categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to present 

two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance 

measures in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and 

disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary financial statements and the 

notes. Some requirements previously included in IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of 

Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, 

amendments are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34 Interim 

Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting 

Standards. IFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards are 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. 

Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and 

assessing the impact of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS accounting standards (continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure requirements while still applying 

the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other IFRS Accounting Standards. To 

be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in IFRS 10 

Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have a parent 

(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use 

which comply with IFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a 

listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are 

considering the application of IFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial 

Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and 

introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an 

electronic payment system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments 

clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental, 

social and governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the 

requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked 

instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures for investments in equity 

instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial instruments 

with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to 

opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods 

are not required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier 

application of either all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to the 

classification of financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any 

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the 

application of the “own-use” requirements for in-scope contracts and amend the designation 

requirements for a hedged item in cash flow hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The 

amendments also include additional disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 

understand the effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial performance and future cash 

flows. The amendments relating to the own-use exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior 

periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. The 

amendments relating to the hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new hedging 

relationships designated on or after the date of initial application. Earlier application is permitted. The 

amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The amendments are not 

expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS accounting standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and 

in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or 

joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a 

downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a 

transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the 

transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s 

interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The 

previous mandatory effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB. 

However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable into 

another currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when 

exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable users of 

financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier 

application is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative 

information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an 

adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation 

differences accumulated in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial 

application. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 

(and the accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the 

amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have updated certain wording in 

paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing 

IFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other paragraphs in the 

standard and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other standards. In addition, the 

amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all 

the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 nor does it create additional 

requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any 

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective IFRS accounting standards (continued)

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined that a 

lease liability has been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply 

paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the 

amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix A of IFRS 

9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not 

expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify that the relationship 

described in paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various relationships that might 

exist between the investor and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which 

removes the inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application 

is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.

• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” 

in paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier 

application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s 

financial statements.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the 

equity voting rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control 

over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the 

Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. 

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates is included 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. 

In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group 

recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated 

to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence 

of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of the associate is included 

as part of the Group’s investments in the associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained 

interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity 

method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the 

joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference 

between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint 

control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or 

loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 

5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 

have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the 

relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:

• its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;

• its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;

• its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;

• its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

• its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the Group’s interest in a joint operation are 

accounted for in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards applicable to the particular assets, 

liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is 

measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business 

combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair 

value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-

controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets 

includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 

outputs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 

pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in 

host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other 

comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in 

fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured 

and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 

the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held 

equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of 

this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, 

after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is 

tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 

December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 

acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating 

units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other 

assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-

generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 

(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An 

impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part 

of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 

included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. 

Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the operation 

disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment property and equity investments at fair value at the end of each 

reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 

measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 

takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in 

the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market 

must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions 

that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants 

act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 

generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 

data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 

the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 

each reporting period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 

than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets and an investment property), the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 

value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 

asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 

assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset 

(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a 

reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises 

in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired assets, unless the asset is carried 

at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant 

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that 

previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 

exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than 

goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been 

determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 

prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period 

in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 

impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any 

impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is 

part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance 

with IFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets classified held for sale”. 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 

attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as 

repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is 

incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is 

capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant 

and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets 

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ 

materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with 

as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, 

on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any 

subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit 

previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits is made for 

the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the 

depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the 

asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits as a 

movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal estimated useful lives or annual 

rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Building 30 years (2023: 30 to 50 years)

Plant and machinery 20%

Motor vehicles 25%

Office equipment 20% to 33.33%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and remaining useful life
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 

allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, 

useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each 

financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use. Any gain or loss on disposal 

or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment recognised in the statement of profit or loss in 

the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the relevant asset.

Investment property

Investment property is interests in land and a building (including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental 

income and/or for capital appreciation. Such property is stated at fair value, which reflects market 

conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment property are included in the statement 

of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the statement 

of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the 

Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and 

equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with 

the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of 

change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the 

property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of 

intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 

subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 

indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 

for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Software and licence

Software and licence are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group 

can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for 

use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 

future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure 

reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet 

these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 

leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 

right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at fair value or cost, less any 

accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 

liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial 

direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 

incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of 

the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Properties Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 

the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the 

asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease 

payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-

substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend 

on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 

payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by 

the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 

exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 

index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that 

triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at 

the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 

determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the 

accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of 

lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease 

payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a 

change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery 

and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 

commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption 

for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment that is considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each 

of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 

of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, 

the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling 

price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in 

revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as 

revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to 

the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 

through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash 

flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade 

receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the 

practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially 

measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 

profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or 

for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined 

under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 

(“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are 

classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in 

order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 

contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at 

amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect 

contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business 

models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established 

by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the 

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are 

subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is 

derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 

investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition 

of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is 

determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends 

are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been 

established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the 

financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments 

designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss is carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably 

elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments 

are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been 

established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 

position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership 

of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 

nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of 

the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The 

transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations 

that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at 

fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 

in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 

approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from 

the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase 

in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that 

are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit 

losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime 

ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 

significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a 

default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on 

the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking 

information. The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual 

payments are more than 30 days past due.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 120 days past due. The 

Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default based on reasonable and supportable 

information, including the Group’s credit risk control practices and the historical recovery rate of financial 

assets over 90 days past due. However, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when 

internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 

amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash 

flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are 

classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract 

assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 

12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 

recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss 

allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased 

or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 

equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when 

the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, 

the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group 

does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 

reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing component, the Group 

chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as 

described above.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in case of loans and borrowings and payables, 

net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other payables, an amount due to an 

associate, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would 

be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of 

profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation 

process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 

costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 

included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or 

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 

treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 

between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of 

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there 

is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 

average basis and in case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and appropriate 

proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs 

to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and 

short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are readily 

convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for 

the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 

hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on 

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 

that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 

the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance 

costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or 

loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 

taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the 

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 

temporary differences; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, 

when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 

the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 

carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 

of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give 

rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of 

the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 

reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit 

will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable 

right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax 

liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or 

different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to 

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts 

of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense 

item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is 

intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released 

to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual 

instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or 

loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to 

the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 

exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated 

to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The 

variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a 

significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the 

associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit 

of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured 

at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected 

in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the 

contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for 

more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the 

contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the 

payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the 

transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical 

expedient in IFRS 15.

(a) Construction services

Revenue from the provision of construction services is recognised over time, using an input method 

to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s performance 

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The 

input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the 

estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to collect from the customers as 

reimbursement of costs and margins for scope of works not included in the original construction 

contract. Claims are accounted for as variable consideration and constrained until it is highly probable 

that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur 

when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. The Group 

uses the expected value method to estimate the amounts of claims because this method best predicts 

the amount of variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

(b) Provision of design, feasibility research, consulting and technical services

The service revenue from the provision of design, feasibility research, consulting and technical 

services is recognised over time, using the approach of input method to measure progress towards 

complete satisfaction of the services, because the Group has an enforceable right to payment for 

performance completed to date. The input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of 

the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs to complete the services. 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that 

do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are 

incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 

that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument 

or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of 

the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before being unconditionally entitled 

to the consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration 

that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of which are included in 

the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade receivables when 

the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from 

a customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as 

revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services 

to the customer).
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Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following 

criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically 

identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing 

to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic 

basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. 

Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive 

remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for 

equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees 

is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is 

determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note 31 to 

the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting 

period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the 

statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as 

at the beginning and end of that period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant 

date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 

best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 

are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an 

associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 

reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are 

also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have 

not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the 

transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, 

provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 

terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is 

recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is 

otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled 

award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 

recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 

earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 

Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong for those employees 

who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the 

employees’ basic salaries and charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in 

accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Schemes are held separately from 

those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully 

with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in Mainland China are required to participate in a 

central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. This subsidiary is required to 

contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are 

charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 

central pension scheme.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 

those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination 

benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 

capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the 

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the 

period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs 

in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, 

about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information 

affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts 

recognised in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update 

the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events 

after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its financial statements, 

but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a 

statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general 

meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim dividends 

are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of 

association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends 

are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity 

in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each 

entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities 

in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of 

the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 

functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on 

settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. 

The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with 

the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the 

item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the 

derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the 

date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 

non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in 

advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance 

consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas branches, subsidiaries and joint operation are currencies 

other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are 

translated into RMB at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements 

of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling 

interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that 

particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the 

foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries and 

branches are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at 

the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 

accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts 

recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount and 

timing of revenue from contracts with customers:

(a) Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing the constraint for 

construction services

The Group seeks to collect claims from the customers as reimbursement of costs and margins for 

scope of works not included in the original construction contract, which give rise to variable 

consideration. The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate method to 

use in estimating the variable consideration for claims in construction services, given there is a wide 

range of possible outcomes which are subject to negotiations with third parties.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, the Group considers 

whether the amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the 

estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience, current 

negotiations with customers, profitability of the head contracts of the customers and the current 

economic conditions.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to 

determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level 

of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 

28 to the financial statements.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group 

has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease 

term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value 

of the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair value of the commercial 

property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these 

properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment property and owner-occupied property

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria 

in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 

or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of 

the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for 

capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or 

services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately 

under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold 

separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the 

production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an 

individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not 

qualify as an investment property.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Variable considerations for claims to customers

The Group estimates variable considerations for claims to be included in the transaction price for the 

provision of construction services.

The Group has developed a statistical model for estimating expected successful claims. The model used the 

historical claims data including the historical experiences with the same customer, profitability of the head 

contracts of the customers and economic conditions to estimate expected successful claims percentages. 

These percentages are applied to determine the expected value of the variable consideration. Any 

significant changes in experience as compared to historical successful claims pattern will impact the 

expected successful claims percentages estimated by the Group.

The Group updates its assessment of expected successful claims quarterly. Estimates of expected successful 

claims are sensitive to changes in circumstances and the Group’s past experience regarding negotiation of 

claims may not be representative of the actual outcome in the future.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation 

of the value in use of the asset and the cash-generating unit to which the asset is allocated. Management 

considers that the goodwill should be allocated to the Group’s operating segment (cash-generating unit). 

Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from 

the asset or the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 

present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was 

RMB15,752,000. Further details are given in note 16.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision 

rates are based on ageing for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., 

by industry type).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will 

calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For 

instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., the average default rate of the corporate credit debts) are 

expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the 

construction service sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical 

observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 

and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast 

economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions 

may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs 

on the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note 21 and note 23 to the financial 

statements, respectively.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an 

incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group 

would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain 

an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore 

reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are 

available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be 

adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the 

subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market 

interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the 

subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including 

the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for 

impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are 

tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An 

impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 

amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the 

fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length 

transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. 

When value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash 

flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 

present value of those cash flows.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Percentage of completion of construction works

The Group recognises revenue according to the input method, which requires estimation to be made by 

management. The stage of completion is estimated by reference to the actual costs incurred over the total 

budgeted costs, and the corresponding contract revenue is also estimated by management. Due to the 

nature of the activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at which the activity is entered into 

and the date at which the activity is completed usually fall into different accounting periods. Hence, the 

Group reviews and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and contract costs in the budget 

prepared for each contract as the contract progresses.

Estimation of total budgeted costs and cost to completion for construction contracts

Total budgeted costs for construction contracts comprise (i) direct material costs, (ii) costs of 

subcontracting and direct labour, and (iii) an appropriation of variable and fixed construction overheads. In 

estimating the total budgeted costs for construction contracts, management makes reference to 

information such as (i) current offers from subcontractors and suppliers, (ii) recent offers agreed with 

subcontractors and suppliers, and (iii) professional estimation on construction and material costs.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on a market-based valuation technique as 

detailed in note 36 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the Group to determine the 

comparable public companies (peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group makes estimates 

about the discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these 

investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity investments at 31 December 2024 was 

RMB57,482,000 (2023: RMB79,486,000). Further details are included in note 19 to the financial statements.

Fair value of a building and an investment property (2023: buildings and leasehold land)

As described in notes 13 and14 to the financial statements, the building and investment property (2023: 

buildings and leasehold land) located in Mainland China was revalued at the end of the reporting period by 

independent professional valuers. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to 

uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results. In making the judgement, the Group 

considers information from current prices in an active market for similar properties and uses assumptions 

that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Further details, 

including the valuation technique and key assumptions used for fair value measurement, are set out in 

note 13 to the financial statements.



Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2024

125

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Corporate income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in various regions. As a result of the fact that certain 

matters relating to the income taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimates 

and judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies are required in 

determining the provision for income taxes to be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 

different from the amounts originally recorded, the differences will impact on the income tax and tax 

provisions in the period in which the differences realise.

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services 

and has two reportable operating segments as follows:

— Engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”); and

— Engineering, consulting and technical services

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 

based on reportable segment profit which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted 

profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that interest 

income, non-lease-related finance costs, dividend income, fair value gains/losses from the Group’s financial 

instruments, share of profits and losses of associates as well as head office and corporate expenses are 

excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, goodwill, intangible assets, 

investments in associates, deferred tax assets, long-term prepayments, amounts due from fellow 

subsidiaries, prepayments and other receivables, equity investments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, pledged bank balances and time deposits and cash and bank balances as these 

assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, 

amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, an amount due to an associate, tax payable, lease liabilities, 

government grants and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at 

the then prevailing market prices.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024 EPC

Engineering
consulting and

technical
services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue (note 6)
Sales to external customers 5,333,698 313,637 5,647,335
Intersegment sales 4,164 – 4,164    

Total segment revenue 5,337,862 313,637 5,651,499

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales (4,164)    

Revenue 5,647,335
    

Segment results 373,262 73,544 446,806

Reconciliation:
Unallocated income 205,536
Unallocated expenses (455,912)
Unallocated finance costs (other than interest on  

lease liabilities) (51,667)
Share of profits and losses of associates 1,253    

Profit before tax 146,016
    

Segment assets 3,153,142 275,557 3,428,699

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables (16,281)
Corporate and other unallocated assets 8,881,708    

Total assets 12,294,126
    

Segment liabilities 7,360,484 243,752 7,604,236

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment payables (15,310)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 2,051,937    

Total liabilities 9,640,863
    

Other segment information

Impairment losses (recognised)/reversed in the 
statement of profit or loss, net (35,177) 8,329 (26,848)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023 EPC

Engineering
consulting and

technical
services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue (note 6)
Sales to external customers 3,528,535 314,184 3,842,719
Intersegment sales 20,493 4,939 25,432    

Total segment revenue 3,549,028 319,123 3,868,151

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment sales (25,432)    

Revenue 3,842,719
    

Segment results 55,849 114,084 169,933

Reconciliation:
Unallocated income 182,773
Unallocated expenses (506,301)
Unallocated finance costs (other than interest on  

lease liabilities) (53,447)
Share of profits and losses of associates 4,673    

Loss before tax (202,369)
    

Segment assets 3,329,899 244,398 3,574,297

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables (15,700)
Corporate and other unallocated assets 5,901,120    

Total assets 9,459,717
    

Segment liabilities 4,728,082 241,957 4,970,039

Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment payables (15,180)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 2,056,075    

Total liabilities 7,010,934
    

Other segment information

Impairment losses (recognised)/reversed in the 
statement of profit or loss, net (115,852) 6,369 (109,483)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Middle East 2,364,890 838,681

Eurasia 1,624,744 160,342

Mainland China 1,598,442 2,336,763

Other regions 59,259 506,933
   

Total revenue 5,647,335 3,842,719
   

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) As over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets are located in Mainland China, no further geographical 

information of the Group’s non-current assets is presented.

Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers which individually amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is set 

out below:

2024 2023

Customer A (EPC segment) 28.0% 20.1%

Customer B (EPC segment) 19.3% 13.0%

Customer C (EPC segment) 15.9% 12.2%

Customer D (EPC segment) 12.6% 9.3%
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers 5,647,335 3,842,719
   

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Segments EPC

Engineering

consulting and

technical

services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of services

Construction services 5,333,698 – 5,333,698

Design, feasibility research, consulting and 

technical services – 313,637 313,637
    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 5,333,698 313,637 5,647,335
    

Geographical markets

Middle East 2,363,604 1,286 2,364,890

Eurasia 1,609,023 15,721 1,624,744

Mainland China 1,335,278 263,164 1,598,442

Others 25,793 33,466 59,259
    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 5,333,698 313,637 5,647,335
    

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred over time 5,333,698 313,637 5,647,335
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segments EPC

Engineering

consulting and

technical

services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Types of services

Construction services 3,528,535 – 3,528,535

Design, feasibility research, consulting and 

technical services – 314,184 314,184
    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 3,528,535 314,184 3,842,719
    

Geographical markets

Mainland China 2,042,442 294,321 2,336,763

Middle East 836,442 2,239 838,681

Eurasia 149,158 11,184 160,342

America 840 4,784 5,624

Others 499,653 1,656 501,309
    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 3,528,535 314,184 3,842,719
    

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred over time 3,528,535 314,184 3,842,719
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers to the amounts 

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Segments EPC

Engineering

consulting and

technical

services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

External customers 5,333,698 313,637 5,647,335

Intersegment sales 4,164 – 4,164
    

Subtotal 5,337,862 313,637 5,651,499

Intersegment adjustments and eliminations (4,164) – (4,164)
    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 5,333,698 313,637 5,647,335
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Segments EPC

Engineering

consulting and

technical

services Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

External customers 3,528,535 314,184 3,842,719

Intersegment sales 20,493 4,939 25,432
    

Subtotal 3,549,028 319,123 3,868,151

Intersegment adjustments and eliminations (20,493) (4,939) (25,432)
    

Total revenue from contracts with customers 3,528,535 314,184 3,842,719
    

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting period that 

were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from 

performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at  

the beginning of the reporting period:

Construction services 1,765,687 574,778

Design, feasibility research, consulting and technical services 39,995 16,121
   

Total 1,805,682 590,899
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and payment is separated 

in stages upon reaching certain pre-agreed milestones set forth in the agreement which is generally 

due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing and payment. A certain percentage of payment is 

retained by customers until the end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to the final 

payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain 

period as stipulated in the contracts.

Provision of design, feasibility research, consulting and technical services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and payment is generally 

separated in stages upon reaching certain pre-agreed milestones set forth in the agreement and 

short-term advances are normally required before rendering the services.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or 

partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue:

Within one year 6,895,135 4,586,422

After one year 18,824,180 18,669,372
   

Total 25,719,315 23,255,794
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income

Government grants* 29 4,015 6,272

Bank interest income 24,549 17,143

Dividend income from an equity investment at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 15,674 13,170

Rental income 15 144,066 143,905

Others 1,426 –
    

Total other income 189,730 180,490
    

Gains

Fair value gains on investment property 8,515 –

Gain on foreign exchange differences, net 7,055 –

Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 236 2,283

Gain on modifications of financial liabilities that do not  

result in derecognition – 19,055
    

Total gains 15,806 21,338
    

Total other income and gains 205,536 201,828
    

* Government grants have been received from the local governments as incentives to promote and accelerate development in 

the local province. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank loans and other loans 51,386 53,330

Interest on lease liabilities 1,162 1,069

Interest on discounted bills and letters of credit 281 117
   

Subtotal 52,829 54,516

Other finance costs:

Handling fee for letters of guarantee 12,935 8,107

Increase in discounted amounts of financial liabilities arising  

from the passage of time 15,859 32,398
   

Total 81,623 95,021
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of services provided* 5,202,119 3,615,517

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 7,213 51,606

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(a) 13,382 75,964

Research and development costs 187,961 128,761

Amortisation of intangible assets 17 7,993 7,246

Government grants 29 (4,015) (6,272)

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses of financial and 

contract assets, net:

Reversal of impairment losses of trade receivables, net 21 (21,374) (21,285)

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment losses of contract 

assets, net 23 (9,010) 57,104

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses of other 

receivables, net 22 999 (3,276)

Impairment of inventories 57,232 73,664

Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 

liabilities 15(c) 3,803 6,999

Gain on modifications of financial liabilities that do not result 

in derecognition 6 – (19,055)

Fair value gains on investment property 6 8,515 –

Increase in discounted amounts of financial liabilities arising 

from the passage of time 7 15,859 32,398

Auditor’s remuneration 4,606 5,977

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ and chief 

executive’s remuneration) (note 9):

Wages and salaries (including social welfare) 889,725 647,689

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 69,211 54,957
    

958,936 702,646
    

Foreign exchange differences, net (38) 9,124
    

* Amounts of RMB704,714,000 and RMB480,982,000 of employee benefit expenses were included in cost of services provided 

during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the 

Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), section 383(1)

(a),(b),(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 871 677
   

Other emoluments:

Salaries and allowances 5,370 3,959

Performance related bonuses 2,286 880

Pension scheme contributions 206 136
   

Subtotal 7,862 4,975
   

Total fees and other emoluments 8,733 5,652
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 
(continued)

(a) Executive directors and independent non-executive directors

Fees

Salaries and

allowances

Performance

related

bonuses

Pension

scheme

contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2024

Executive directors
Mr. Zhou Hongliang – 2,479 1,288 71 3,838

Mr. Zheng Shifeng – 1,630 638 71 2,339

Mr. Zhou Yu (i) – 283 – 17 300

Mr. Li Dun (ii) – 978 360 47 1,385
      

Subtotal – 5,370 2,286 206 7,862
      

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Lawrence Lee 278 – – – 278

Mr. Tang Shisheng 278 – – – 278

Mr. Feng Guohua 278 – – – 278

Ms. Guo Ruqian (iii) 37 – – – 37
      

Subtotal 871 – – – 871
      

Total 871 5,370 2,286 206 8,733
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 
(continued)

(a) Executive directors and independent non-executive directors (continued)

Fees
Salaries and
allowances

Performance
related

bonuses

Pension
scheme

contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2023

Executive directors
Mr. Zhou Hongliang 50 2,430 546 68 3,094
Mr. Zheng Shifeng – 1,529 334 68 1,931

      

Subtotal 50 3,959 880 136 5,025
      

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Lawrence Lee 209 – – – 209
Mr. Tang Shisheng 209 – – – 209
Mr. Feng Guohua 209 – – – 209

      

Subtotal 627 – – – 627
      

Total 677 3,959 880 136 5,652
      

(i) Mr. Zhou Yu was appointed as an executive director and the Chief Financial Officer with effect 

from 19 February 2024. He was removed from the above positions on 19 April 2024.

(ii) Mr. Li Dun was appointed as an executive director and the Chief Financial Officer with effect 

from 28 August 2024.

(iii) Ms. Guo Ruqian was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 15 November 2024.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive 

any remuneration during the year.
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9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 
(continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

The number of the five highest paid employees of the Group during the year is analysed as follows:

2024 2023

Directors 3 2

Non-director and non-chief executive employees 2 3
   

Total 5 5
   

Details of the remuneration of the directors are set out in (a) above.

Details of the remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees for 

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries and allowances 2,749 4,289

Performance related bonuses 1,110 728

Pension scheme contributions 137 290
   

Total 3,996 5,307
   

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration 

fell within the following bands is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 – 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2 2
   

Total 2 3
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10. INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the tax 

jurisdictions in which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current — Elsewhere

Charge for the year 10,167 7,572

Underprovision in prior years – 72

Deferred (note 28) 1,176 (11,635)
   

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 11,343 (3,991)
   

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the Group was 

not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands. The Group was not liable for 

income tax in Hong Kong, Indonesia, South Africa, Mexico, United Arab Emirates and Singapore as the 

Group did not have any assessable income arising in these jurisdictions during the years ended 31 

December 2024 and 2023.

Wison Engineering was qualified as a “High and New Technology Enterprise” and was entitled to a 

preferential corporate income tax (“CIT”) rate of 15% from 2023 to 2025. Wison Engineering was liable for 

withholding tax on revenue derived from Thailand, Saudi Arabia and Qatar. The applicable tax rate is 5% 

for the Group.

Jiangsu Wison is subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25%.

Income taxes arising in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions 

in which the Group operates.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 

foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement 

is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax 

rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign 

investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on 

dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated 

from 1 January 2008.
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2024, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (31 December 2023: Nil) 

for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has no 

liability to additional tax should such amounts be remitted due to the availability of double taxation relief.

A reconciliation of tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the 

jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the tax expense at 

the effective income tax rate for the year is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 146,016 (202,369)
   

Tax at the statutory tax rates 17,497 (52,813)

Lower tax rate enacted by local authority (8,459) 11,071

Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the overseas profits of the Group’s 

PRC subsidiary 4,662 5,376

Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods – 72

Income not subject to tax – (2,575)

Expenses not deductible for tax 3,686 3,424

Additional tax deduction (27,266) (18,698)

Tax losses utilised from previous periods (6,590) (1,771)

Tax losses not recognised 31,639 65,406

Unrecognised deductible temporary differences (3,826) (13,483)
   

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate 11,343 (3,991)
   

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to RMB2,058,000 (2023: RMB1,575,000) is included in 

“Share of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Pillar Two income taxes

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules. Since the legislation of the Group major tax 

jurisdictions was yet enacted or in the progress of legislation, the Group is still in the process of assessing 

the potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes. Potential exposure, if any, to Pillar Two income taxes is 

currently not known or reasonably estimable.
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11. DIVIDENDS

No final dividends were paid, declared or proposed for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is based on the profit/(loss) for the year 

attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

of 4,073,767,800 (2023: 4,073,767,800) outstanding during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings/(loss) per share amount is based on the profit/(loss) for the year 

attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares 

used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used in the basic 

earnings/(loss) per share calculation.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 

and 2023.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are based on:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings/(loss)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,  

used in the basic and diluted loss per share calculations 141,626 (196,122)
   

Number of shares

2024 2023

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year used in the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share 

calculations 4,073,767,800 4,073,767,800
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Leasehold

improvements

Plant and

machinery

Motor

vehicles

Office

equipment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2024

Cost or valuation:

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024 1,475,729 7,941 21,210 30,927 68,884 1,604,691

Additions – – 1,681 4,469 7,818 13,968

Transfer to investment 

property (1,451,753) – – – – (1,451,753)

Deficit on revaluation (1,678) – – – – (1,678)

Disposals – – (3,956) (422) (7,226) (11,604)

Exchange realignment – – 129 386 872 1,387       

At 31 December 2024 22,298 7,941 19,064 35,360 70,348 155,011
       

Depreciation:

At 31 December 2023 and  

1 January 2024 – (6,822) (17,395) (26,337) (60,723) (111,277)

Provided for the year (1,165) – (2,024) (1,413) (2,611) (7,213)

Disposals – – 3,941 422 5,536 9,899

Reversal upon revaluation 1,165 – – – – 1,165

Exchange realignment – – (10) (66) (833) (909)       

At 31 December 2024 – (6,822) (15,488) (27,394) (58,631) (108,335)
       

Net book value:

At 31 December 2024 22,298 1,119 3,576 7,966 11,717 46,676
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Buildings

Leasehold

improvements

Plant and

machinery

Motor

vehicles

Office

equipment Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2023

Cost or valuation:

At 31 December 2022 and  

1 January 2023 1,441,077 7,470 19,286 33,442 70,464 1,571,739

Additions – 1,129 1,752 2,018 7,680 12,579

Surplus on revaluation 34,652 – – – – 34,652

Disposals – (658) – (6,233) (11,027) (17,918)

Exchange realignment – – 172 1,700 1,767 3,639       

At 31 December 2023 1,475,729 7,941 21,210 30,927 68,884 1,604,691
       

Depreciation:

At 31 December 2022 and  

1 January 2023 – (6,479) (15,246) (30,144) (67,741) (119,610)

Provided for the year (42,953) (1,001) (2,094) (2,493) (3,065) (51,606)

Disposals – 658 – 6,126 10,541 17,325

Reversal upon revaluation 42,953 – – – – 42,953

Exchange realignment – – (55) 174 (458) (339)       

At 31 December 2023 – (6,822) (17,395) (26,337) (60,723) (111,277)
       

Net book value:

At 31 December 2023 1,475,729 1,119 3,815 4,590 8,161 1,493,414
       

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s buildings and leasehold land situated in Mainland China were revalued 

based on valuations performed by Shanghai Orient Appraisal Co., Ltd., an independent firm of professionally 

qualified valuers, at RMB3,499,692,000, based on their existing use. The land portion of RMB2,023,963,000 

was measured as right-of-use assets.

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s building and leasehold land with a net book value of 

approximately RMB3,475,716,000 were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group 

(note 27).
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

As at 1 January 2024 (“the date of transfer”), certain building and leasehold land of the Group were 

transferred from property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset to investment property (note 14 and 

15).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s other building situated in Mainland China was revalued based on 

valuations performed by Shanghai Orient Appraisal Co., Ltd., an independent firm of professionally qualified 

valuers, at RMB22,298,000 (31 December 2023: RMB23,976,000), based on its existing use. In the opinion of 

the directors, the current use of the building in Mainland China is its highest and best use.

A revaluation deficit of RMB436,000 (2023: RMB1,971,000), net of tax, resulting from the above valuations, 

has been debited (2023: debited) to other comprehensive income.

Had the Group’s building situated in Mainland China been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, 

the carrying amount would have been approximately RMB9,436,000 (31 December 2023: RMB9,927,000).

Except for the building situated in Mainland China which is stated at valuation, all other property, plant and 

equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s buildings and leasehold 

land situated in Mainland China:

Fair value measurement  

as at 31 December 2024 using 
 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

(Level 1)

Significant 

Observable 

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Buildings – – 22,298 22,298
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value measurement  

as at 31 December 2023 using
 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

(Level 1)

Significant 

Observable 

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Buildings – – 1,475,729 1,475,729

Leasehold land – – 2,023,963 2,023,963
     

Total – – 3,499,692 3,499,692
     

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year are as follows:

Buildings

Leasehold

land

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 1,441,077 2,080,637

Depreciation charge (42,953) (61,346)

Surplus on revaluation recognised in comprehensive income 77,605 4,672
   

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1,475,729 2,023,963

Transfer to investment property (1,451,753) (2,023,963)

Depreciation charge (1,165) –

Deficit on revaluation recognised in comprehensive income (513) –
   

At 31 December 2024 22,298 –
   

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of 

buildings and leasehold land:

Valuation

technique

Significant

unobservable inputs Weighted average

2024 2023

Building and leasehold 

land (note a)

Income method Average market daily rent 

(RMB/per square meter)

NA 6.26

Long term vacancy rate NA 9%

Yield rate NA 7%

Building (note b) Direct comparison 

method

Market transaction price 

(RMB/square metre)

9,300 10,000

Adjustment on quality of 

the building

1.28% 5%

     

Notes:

(a) The valuation of the building and the leasehold land was determined using the income method. The most significant inputs to 

this valuation approach are the market daily rental of comparable properties nearby, long term vacancy rate of the building 

and yield rate of the rentals.

The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the market daily rental and yield rate, and negatively correlated to the 

long-term vacancy rate.

(b) The valuation of the building was determined using the direct comparison approach. The most significant inputs to this 

valuation approach are the market transaction prices of comparable properties nearby and the adjustment on quality of the 

building.

The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the market transaction price and negatively correlated to the adjustment 

on quality of the building.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January – –

Transfer from property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset 3,475,716 –

Net gain from a fair value adjustment 8,515 –
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 3,484,231 –
   

The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 December 2024 based on valuations performed by 

Shanghai Orient Appraisal Co., Ltd., an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, at 

RMB3,484,231,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment property with a fair value of approximately 

RMB3,484,231,000 was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 27).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment property:

Fair value measurement  

as at 31 December 2024 using
  

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

Significant

observable

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

unobservable

inputs

(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Recurring fair value measurement for:

Commercial property – – 3,484,231 3,484,231
     

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Commercial

property

RMB’000

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 –

Transfer from property, plant and equipment and right-of-use asset 3,475,716

Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in other income  

and gains in profit or loss 8,515
  

Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 3,484,231
  

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment 

property:

Valuation technique

Significant

unobservable inputs

Weighted 

average 

31 December 

2024

Commercial property Income method Average market daily rent 

(RMB/per square metre)

6.17

Long-term vacancy rate 11%

Yield rate 6.5%
    

Notes:

The valuation of the investment property was determined using the income method. The most significant inputs to this valuation 

approach are the market daily rental of comparable properties nearby, long-term vacancy rate of the building and yield rate of the 

rentals.

The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the market daily rental and yield rate, and negatively correlated to the long-

term vacancy rate.
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15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties and motor vehicles used in its operations. 

Leases of properties generally have lease terms between 1 and 5 years, while motor vehicles generally have 

lease terms of 12 months or less and/or are individually of low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from 

assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease contracts that include 

extension and termination options and variable lease payments, which are further discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as 

follows:

Properties

Leasehold

land Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2023 32,999 2,080,637 2,113,636

Additions 4,332 – 4,332

Deficit on revaluation – (56,674) (56,674)

Depreciation charge (14,618) (61,346) (75,964)

Reversal of depreciation upon revaluation – 61,346 61,346
    

As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 22,713 2,023,963 2,046,676

Additions 4,459 – 4,459

Transfer to investment property – (2,023,963) (2,023,963)

Depreciation charge (13,382) – (13,382)
    

As at 31 December 2024 13,790 – 13,790
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 27,166 31,924

New leases 4,459 4,278

Accretion of interest recognised during the year 1,162 1,069

Payments (14,915) (10,105)
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 17,872 27,166
   

Analysed into:

Current portion 16,343 12,135

Non-current portion 1,529 15,031
   

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities 1,162 1,069

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 13,382 75,964

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in cost of sales, 

selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses) 3,695 6,609

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (included in 

administrative expenses) 108 390
   

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 18,347 84,032
   



Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2024

153

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d) Extension and termination options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. These options 

are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and they 

are aligned with the Group’s business needs. It is the Group’s judgements that it is not necessary to 

exercise extension and termination options as those leases are being used normally and neither 

construction of significant leasehold improvements nor significant customisation to the leased asset.

(e) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet 

commenced are disclosed in notes 38(c) and 35, respectively, to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its office properties in Mainland China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of 

the leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments 

according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year 

was RMB144,066,000 (2023: RMB143,905,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the financial 

statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in the future periods 

under non-cancellable operating lease with its tenants are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 76,092 73,414

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 8,916 24,364
   

Total 85,008 97,778
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16. GOODWILL

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year and at the end of the year 15,752 15,752
   

The carrying amount of goodwill of the Group arose from the acquisition of the business of Henan 

Chemical Industry Design Institute during 2007.

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating Henan Chemical 

Industry Design Institute into the Group’s EPC business.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined from a value-in-use calculation using a cash flow 

forecast based on financial budgets. The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are those 

regarding the discount rates, growth rates, budgeted gross margin and expected changes to revenue and 

direct costs during the year. The directors have estimated the discount rate of 15% (2023:15%) using pre-

tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

Group. The directors have estimated the discount rate of 15% (2023: 15%) using pre-tax rates that reflect 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the Group. The cash flows 

beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%) which is based on 

industry growth forecasts. Changes in revenue and direct costs are based on past practices and 

expectations of future changes in the market. Management determine the budgeted gross margin based 

on the gross margin achieved previously and management’s expectation on the future trend of the market 

development. The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets 

approved by the directors for 2024 and extrapolates cash flows for the following five years based on an 

estimated average industry growth rate.
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software Licence Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2024

Cost at 1 January 2024, net of accumulated amortisation 15,248 10,773 26,021

Additions 7,931 – 7,931

Amortisation provided during the year (5,507) (2,486) (7,993)
    

At 31 December 2024 17,672 8,287 25,959
    

At 31 December 2024

Cost 90,945 24,860 115,805

Accumulated amortisation (73,273) (16,573) (89,846)
    

Net carrying amount 17,672 8,287 25,959
    

Software Licence Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2023

Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated amortisation 9,121 13,259 22,380

Additions 10,887 – 10,887

Amortisation provided during the year (4,760) (2,486) (7,246)
    

At 31 December 2023 15,248 10,773 26,021
    

At 31 December 2023

Cost 83,014 24,860 107,874

Accumulated amortisation (67,766) (14,087) (81,853)
    

Net carrying amount 15,248 10,773 26,021
Net carrying amount 9,121 13,259 22,380



Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2024

156

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of net assets 259,734 220,619
   

Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:

Name

Registered

capital

Place of

registration

and business

Percentage of

ownership

interest

attributable

to the Group Principal activities

河南創思特工程監理諮詢 

有限公司 (Henan 

Chuangsite Supervisory 

Consulting Co., Ltd.  

(“Henan Chuangsite”))

RMB3,000,000 PRC/

Mainland China

30% Supervisory services

for construction projects

泰興博惠環保科技發展有限
公司 (Taixing Bohui 

Environmental Technology 

Development Co., Ltd 

(“Taixing Bohui”))

RMB252,143,200 PRC/

Mainland China

25% Research and

development service

for environmental

technology

南京銀鞍嶺秀新材料產業 

基金合夥企業（有限合夥）
(Nanjing Yinan Lingxiu New 

Material Industry Fund 

(Limited Partnership) 

(“Yin’an Lingxiu”))

RMB858,000,000 PRC/

Mainland China

17.62% Investment in new

materials development

businesses

     

The Group’s equity holding in the associates was held through the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the 

Company.

Henan Chuangsite, Taixing Bohui and Yin’an Lingxiu are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or 

another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Yin’an Lingxiu, which is considered a material associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group 

engaged in the investment of new material industry and is accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of Yin’an Lingxiu adjusted 

for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated 

financial statements:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current assets 279,184 378,776

None-current assets 744,121 439,149
   

Net assets 1,023,305 817,925
   

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 17.62% 17.62%

Carrying amount of the investment 180,306 144,118
   

Loss for the year (9,503) (19)

Other comprehensive income 272,822 (226,387)

Total comprehensive income for the year 263,319 (226,406)
   

The following table illustrates the financial information of the Group’s associates that are not individually 

material:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of the associates’ profit for the year 2,927 4,535

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive income 2,927 4,535

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments  

in the associates 79,428 76,501
   

The Group’s other payable balance with an associate is disclosed in note 32.

The Group’s trade receivable balance and contract asset balance with an associate are disclosed in notes 21 

and 23.
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19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income

Listed equity investments, at fair value  

(CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Company Limited) 238,106 191,590
   

Unlisted equity investments, at fair value

山西潞安化工有限公司| 

(Shanxi Lu’an Chemical Co., Ltd.) 28,320 46,356

安徽寶龍環保科技有限公司 

(Anhui Baolong Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.) – 9,110

興化粵海水務有限公司 

(Xinghua Yuehai Water Affairs Co., Ltd.) 25,806 20,547

上海銀鞍股權投資管理有限公司 

(Shanghai Yin’an Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd.) 3,356 3,473
   

295,588 271,076

Less: classified as current assets 266,426 237,946
   

Non-current asset 29,162 33,130
   

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive 

income as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature except those investments are no 

longer coincided with the Group’s investment strategy which have been classified as current assets.

In 2023, the Group disposed of its partial equity interests in CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Company Limited 

and the remaining amount of this investment are no longer coincided with the Group’s investment strategy 

and was classified as current as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024. The total fair value of the sale 

was RMB20,798,000 and the accumulated deficits of RMB532,000 recognised in other comprehensive 

income was transferred to accumulated losses in 2023.

In 2024, the Group did not dispose of any equity interests in CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Company Limited. 

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group received dividends in the amounts of RMB15,674,000 

(2023: RMB13,170,000) from CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Company Limited.
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20. INVENTORIES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Construction materials, net 414,274 45,144

Work in progress, net 19,213 25,959
   

433,487 71,103

Less:  Non-current portion of work in progress disclosed in other  

 non-current assets 7,313 18,866
   

Total 426,174 52,237
   

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 1,085,903 1,070,771

Impairment (574,535) (597,055)
   

Net carrying amount 511,368 473,716
   

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. Trade receivables are non-interest-

bearing and on credit terms of a period of 30 to 90 days or the respective retention periods in the contracts. 

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and minimise credit risk. 

Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management. The Group does not hold any collateral or other 

credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date 

and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 38,071 19,018

2 to 12 months 201,094 201,460

Over 1 year 272,203 253,238
   

Total 511,368 473,716
   

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 597,055 674,003

Reversal of impairment, net (note 8) (21,374) (21,285)

Amount written off as uncollectible (1,146) (55,663)
   

At end of year 574,535 597,055
   

The decrease (2023: decrease) in the loss allowance was due to the following significant changes in the 

gross carrying amount:

(a) Increase in the loss allowance of RMB10,587,000 (2023: RMB138,755,000) as a result of a net increase 

(2023: decrease) in the gross carrying amount after the settlement of trade receivables and origination 

of new trade receivables;

(b) Decrease in the loss allowance of RMB31,961,000 (2023: RMB117,470,000) as a result of a net decrease 

in trade receivables which were past due; and

(c) Decrease in the loss allowance of RMB1,146,000 (2023: RMB55,663,000) as a result of the write-off of 

certain trade receivables.
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected 

credit losses. The provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of various customer segments with 

similar loss patterns (i.e., by industry type). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the 

time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date 

about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a 

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

Ageing
 

Less than 

1 year

1 to 2 

years

2 to 3 

years

Over 

3 years Total

Expected credit loss rate 3.8% 22.0% 48.7% 99.6% 52.9%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 248,605 231,772 174,624 430,902 1,085,903

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 9,440 51,042 85,047 429,006 574,535

As at 31 December 2023

Ageing
 

Less than 

1 year

1 to 2 

years

2 to 3 

years

Over 

3 years Total

Expected credit loss rate 5.9% 15.7% 38.5% 99.0% 55.8%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 234,343 180,347 156,327 499,754 1,070,771

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 13,865 28,372 60,199 494,619 597,055
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The amounts due from related companies included in the trade receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Related companies

Wison Taizhou (as defined in note 32) 147,631 283,035

Taixing Bohui (as defined in note 18) 854 62,567

Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai (as defined in note 32) 32,218 8,076

Wison (China) Investment 50 50
   

Total 180,753 353,728
   

22. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments 1,577,254 1,196,364

Deposits and other receivables 59,090 61,258
   

1,636,344 1,257,622

Impairment provision (2,907) (1,908)
   

Subtotal 1,633,437 1,255,714

Less:  Non-current portion of prepayments disclosed in the other  

 non-current assets 135,000 –

Non-current portion of prepayments disclosed in the long-term 

prepayments 417 5,251
   

Net carrying amount 1,498,020 1,250,463
   

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits and deposits with suppliers. The expected 

credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of 

the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic 

conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied for deposits and other receivables where there were no 

comparable companies as at 31 December 2024 was 4.9% (2023: 3.1%).
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22. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 1,908 5,184

Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment), net (note 8) 999 (3,276)
   

At end of year 2,907 1,908
   

23. CONTRACT ASSETS

31 December 31 December 1 January

2024 2023 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract assets arising from:

Construction services 1,376,146 2,120,114 2,689,757

Design, feasibility research, consulting and  

technical services 53,199 51,288 1,145
    

1,429,345 2,171,402 2,690,902

Impairment (439,400) (448,410) (391,306)
    

Subtotal 989,945 1,722,992 2,299,596

Less:  Contract assets disclosed in the other  

 non-current assets 885 123,211 141,817
    

Net carrying amount 989,060 1,599,781 2,157,779
    

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from the provision of construction services and 

design, feasibility research, consulting and technical services as the receipt of consideration is conditional 

on successful completion of construction. Included in contract assets for construction services are retention 

receivables. Upon completion of construction services and design, feasibility research, consulting and 

technical services and progressing to billing milestone, the amounts recognised as contract assets are 

reclassified to trade receivables. The decrease in contract assets in 2024 was the result of the decrease in 

the ongoing sale of construction services and the provision of design, feasibility research, consulting and 

technical services at the end of each of the years.
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group reversed RMB9,010,000 of allowance for expected 

credit losses on contract assets (2023: provision of RMB57,104,000). The Group’s trading terms and credit 

policy with customers are disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 31 December is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 989,060 1,599,781

After one year 885 123,211
   

Total contract assets 989,945 1,722,992
   

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract assets are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 448,410 391,306

Impairment loss, net* (note 8) (9,010) 57,104
   

At end of year 439,400 448,410
   

* The net impairment provision made for the contract assets will be reclassified to trade receivables when amounts of contract 

assets are billed or become billable to customers.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected 

credit losses. The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses on the contract assets 

are based on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the 

same customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets are based on ageing of trade receivables for 

groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by industry type). The calculation 

reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable 

information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of 

future economic conditions.
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23. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a 

provision matrix:

2024 2023

Expected credit loss rate 30.7% 20.7%

Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 1,429,345 2,171,402

Expected credit losses (RMB’000) 439,400 448,410
   

The amounts of contract assets with related companies are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Related companies

Taixing Bohui (as defined in note 18) 37,469 65,586

Wison (Taizhou) New Material Technology Co., Ltd.  

(as defined in note 32) 6,932 4,477

Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai (as defined in note 32) 2,535 6,712

Wison New Energies (as defined in note 32) 324 –

Wison (China) Investment (as defined in note 32) – 3,127
   

Total 47,260 79,902
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and bank balances 2,737,422 1,181,582

Time deposits with original maturity of less than three months  

(including three months) 704,877 38,960

Time deposits with original maturity of more than three months 1,041,689 467,182
   

Subtotal 4,483,988 1,687,724

Less: Pledged bank balances and time deposits 681,513 785,890
   

Unpledged cash and cash equivalents 3,802,475 901,834

Less:  Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of  

 more than three months 600,000 26,206

Frozen and unpledged bank balances 18,273 27,356
   

Unpledged and unfrozen cash and cash equivalents 3,184,202 848,272
   

At 31 December 2024, bank balances and time deposits of RMB403,507,000 (2023: RMB590,827,000) were 

placed as guarantee deposits for performance of certain construction contracts and tendering process.

At 31 December 2024, bank balances and time deposits of RMB124,562,000 (2023: RMB50,753,000) were 

pledged to the banks as security to obtain letters of credit facilities for the purchase of imported 

equipment.

At 31 December 2024, bank balances and time deposits of RMB43,408,000 (2023: RMB79,441,000) were 

pledged as security for bill facilities granted by the banks.

At 31 December 2024, bank balances of RMB1,000 (2023: RMB1,000) were pledged to a bank as security for 

forward foreign exchange contracts.

At 31 December 2024, bank balances of RMB109,930,000 (2023: RMB64,763,000) were pledged to a bank as 

security to obtain a bank facility.

At 31 December 2024, bank balances of RMB105,000 (2023: RMB105,000) were pledged for salary payments 

to workers according to relevant government regulation.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS (continued)

At 31 December 2024, certain bank accounts of the Group of RMB18,273,000 (2023: RMB27,356,000) were 

frozen by certain courts for preservation.

At 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to 

RMB2,953,622,000 (2023: RMB1,103,087,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, 

however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 

and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other 

currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits 

are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash 

requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The carrying 

amounts of cash and cash equivalents and the pledged bank balances and time deposits approximate to 

their fair values.

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Less than 1 year 1,911,906 1,205,187

1 to 2 years 328,146 759,787

2 to 3 years 195,384 606,258

Over 3 years 351,256 155,182
   

Subtotal 2,786,692 2,726,414

Less: Long term payables 22,066 543,259
   

Total 2,764,626 2,183,155
   

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 to 90 days other than 

those suppliers granting an extended credit period for more than one year.
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities (a) 4,586,163 2,228,445

Accruals 46,865 36,182

Advances from lessees 1,011 3,099

Other payables (b) 546,757 340,942
    

Subtotal 5,180,796 2,608,668

Less:  Contract liabilities classified as non-current liabilities 1,146,816 269,882

Other payables classified as long-term payables 21,125 31,091
    

Total 4,012,855 2,307,695
    

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

31 December

2024

31 December 

2023

1 January 

2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Construction services 4,493,267 2,137,345 870,753

Design, feasibility research, consulting and 

technical services 92,896 91,100 61,653
    

Total 4,586,163 2,228,445 932,406
    

Contract liabilities include long-term and short-term advances received to render construction 

services and design, feasibility research, consulting and technical services. The increase in contract 

liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was mainly due to the increase in long-term and short-term advances 

received from customers in relation to the provision of construction services and design, feasibility 

research, consulting and technical services at the end of the year, respectively.

(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand other than the government grant 

with specified conditions with which the Group must comply during the specified period.
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

The amounts of contract liabilities with related companies are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Related companies

Levima Wison (as defined in note 32) 4,625 3,985

Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai (as defined in note 32) 2,188 791
   

Total 6,813 4,776
   

27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current

Bank loans — secured 360,468 305,216

Bank loans — unsecured 175,123 67,214

Current portion of long-term bank loans — secured 59,424 59,363

Other loans — unsecured – 97,316
   

Total — current 595,015 529,109
   

Non-current

Bank loans — secured 502,500 561,000
   

Total 1,097,515 1,090,109
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

The effective interest rates and maturities of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are as follows:

2024 2023
  

Effective

interest Rate

(%) Maturity

Effective

interest Rate

(%) Maturity

Bank loans 3.45 to 4.82 2025–2034 3.45 to 5.88 2025–2034

Others loans – – 5.80 to 8.65 2024
     

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

RMB 1,097,515 992,793

US$ – 24,902

SGD – 72,414
   

Total 1,097,515 1,090,109
   

An analysis of the carrying amounts of borrowings by type of interest rate is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed interest rate 475,688 397,332

Variable interest rate 621,827 692,777
   

Total 1,097,515 1,090,109
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27. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year 595,015 431,793
In the second year 58,500 58,500
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 234,000 175,500
Beyond five years 210,000 327,000

   

Subtotal 1,097,515 992,793
   

Other borrowings repayable:
Within one year – 97,316

   

Total 1,097,515 1,090,109
   

Certain of the Group’s bank loans were secured by the following assets:

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Investment property (2023: building and leasehold land) 13, 14 3,484,231 3,475,716
Equity investment designated at fair value through other 

comprehensive income – 191,590
    

Total 3,484,231 3,484,231
    

The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their fair values.

Certain banks have granted credit facilities to the Group for which the right of receiving rental income from 
a property and sale proceeds from a customer of the Group for future years, of which the related bank 
account with bank balances of RMB109,930,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 
RMB64,763,000) and future sale proceeds amounting to RMB88,299,000 have been pledged as securities, 
respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment property with a fair value of approximately 
RMB3,484,231,000 (31 December 2023: recognised as building and leasehold land with an aggregate net 
book value of RMB3,475,716,000) was pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s other loans were unsecured which included amounts that bore 
interest at 5.8% denominated in United States dollars and 3% above the Singapore Overnight Rate Average 
(“SORA”) per annum denominated in Singapore dollars. The other loans were repaid during the year ended 
31 December 2024.
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28. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

2024

Right-of use

assets

Revaluation

of Building

(2023:

buildings

and land)/

related

depreciation

in excess of

depreciation

allowance

Fair value

adjustments

investments

at fair value

through other

comprehensive

income

Withholding

taxes arising

from

distributable

profits

the PRC

subsidiaries

Fair value

adjustments

of investment

property Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2024 5,563 395,203 2,633 720 – 404,119

Transfer – (393,096) – – 393,096 –

Deferred tax (credited)/charged  
to the statement of profit or 
loss during the year (note 10) (3,359) (101) – – 1,277 (2,183)

Deferred tax credited to the other 
comprehensive income during 
the year – (77) (1,190) – – (1,267)

       

Gross deferred tax liabilities  
at 31 December 2024 2,204 1,929 1,443 720 394,373 400,669

       

Deferred tax assets

2024

Lease liabilities

RMB’000

At 1 January 2024 5,563

Deferred tax charged to the statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10) (3,359)
  

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 2,204
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as follows: (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

2023

Right-of use
assets

Revaluation of
buildings and
land/related
depreciation
in excess of

depreciation
allowance

Fair value
adjustments
investments
at fair value

through other
comprehensive

income

Withholding
taxes arising

from
distributable

profits the PRC
subsidiaries Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 – 394,496 2,803 720 398,019
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the  

statement of profit or loss  
during the year (note 10) 5,563 (11,635) – – (6,072)

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the  
other comprehensive income  
during the year – 12,342 (170) – 12,172

      

Gross deferred tax liabilities at  
31 December 2023 5,563 395,203 2,633 720 404,119

      

Deferred tax assets

2023
Lease liabilities

RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 –
Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss during the year (note 10) 5,563

  

Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023 5,563
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the statement of 

financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial 

reporting purposes:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of 

financial position – –

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of 

financial position 398,465 398,556
   

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of RMB162,805,000 (2023: RMB149,514,000) that are 

available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB1,419,719,000 (2023: RMB1,278,324,000) that 

will expire in four to ten years for offsetting against future taxable profits. The Group also has accumulated 

tax losses arising in the United States, Mexico, Singapore, Thailand, Venezuela, South Africa and Saudi 

Arabia of approximately RMB226,860,000 (2023: RMB242,229,000) which are available for offsetting against 

future taxable profits in five years to an infinite period.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries 

that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Tax losses 1,809,384 1,670,067

Deductible temporary differences 1,078,921 1,116,948
   

Total 2,888,305 2,787,015
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The above tax losses are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies 

in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above items as it 

is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the above items can be 

utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in 

Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.The applicable rate is 5% for the 

Group.

At 31 December 2024, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2023: Nil) for taxes that 

would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has no liability to 

additional tax should such amounts be remitted due to the availability of double taxation relief.

29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 3,855 3,986

Received during the year 3,885 6,141

Released to profit or loss (note 6) (4,015) (6,272)
   

Carrying amount at end of the year 3,725 3,855
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

1) Shares

2024 2023

Number of ordinary shares

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 20,000,000,000 20,000,000,000
   

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 4,073,767,800 4,073,767,800
   

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 1,622,757 1,622,757
   

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 330,578 330,578
   

2) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman 

Islands. Under the constitutional documents and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share 

premium is distributable as dividend on the condition that the Company is able to pay its debts when 

they fall due in the ordinary course of business at the time the proposed dividend is to be paid.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

3) Statutory reserve

(a) Special reserve account

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of 

Work Safety, the Group is required to set aside from retained earnings an amount to a safety 

production reserve at different rates ranging from 1.5% to 2% of the total construction contract 

revenue recognised for the year. The reserve can be utilised for improvements of safety on the 

construction work, and the amounts are generally expenses in nature and charged to the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred, and the corresponding amounts of the 

safety production reserve fund were utilised and transferred back to retained earnings until such 

special reserve was fully utilised.

(b) Statutory surplus reserve (“SSR”) and expansion reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the articles of association of Wison 

Engineering, Wison Engineering may make appropriation to its statutory surplus reserve fund 

and expansion reserve fund as a percentage of its profit after tax. The amount of the 

appropriation is subject to the approval of the board of directors of Wison Engineering in 

accordance with the articles of association of Wison Engineering. Subject to certain restrictions 

set out in the Company Law of the PRC and the articles of association, part of these reserves 

may be converted to increase the company’s registered capital, provided that the remaining 

balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, Jiangsu Wison is required to transfer at least 

10% of its profit after tax to its statutory surplus reserve fund, until such reserve reaches 50% of 

its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC and 

the articles of association of Jiangsu Wison, this reserve may be capitalised as the registered 

capital.

The SSR and the expansion reserve are non-distributable except in the event of liquidation and, 

subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset 

accumulated losses or be capitalised as paid-up capital.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

1) 2022 Share Option Scheme

On 20 December 2022, a share option scheme (the “2022 Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was 

approved and adopted by the shareholders of the Company. The 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be 

valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date of the 2022 Share 

Option Scheme. Pursuant to the 2022 Share Option Scheme, the Board may determine to an employee 

(whether full-time or part-time) or a director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (the “Eligible 

Persons under 2022 Share Option Scheme”) to subscribe for shares. An amount of HK$1.00 is payable 

upon acceptance of the grant of an option and such payment shall not be refundable and shall not be 

deemed to be a part payment of the exercise price.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued in respect of all options to be granted under 

the 2022 Share Option Scheme and any options or awards granted under any other share schemes 

(the “Other Schemes”) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of 

shares in issue as at the adoption date (the “2022 Scheme Mandate Limit”). The Board may, with the 

approval of the shareholders in general meeting, refresh the 2022 Scheme Mandate Limit after three 

years from the date on which the shareholders approve the last refreshment (or the adoption of the 

2022 Share Option Scheme), provided that the total number of shares which may be issued upon in 

respect of all options to be granted under the 2022 Share Option Scheme and any options and awards 

to be granted under any Other Schemes under the 2022 Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed must not 

exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date on which the Shareholders approve the 

refreshment of the 2022 Scheme Mandate Limit.

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting, no options shall be granted to any Eligible 

Persons under 2022 Share Option Scheme which, if exercised, would result in the number of shares 

issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted under the 2022 Share Option Scheme and any 

options or awards granted under any Other Schemes to such Eligible Persons under 2022 Share 

Option Scheme (excluding any options and awards lapsed pursuant to the terms of the relevant 

scheme(s)) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer of such options, in aggregate 

exceeds 1% of the shares in issue at such date.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no share option outstanding under the 2022 Share 

Option Scheme.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following transactions with related parties during the year:

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Fellow subsidiaries:

Rental income from the properties and conference 

facilities, and income from the provision for property 

management services (a)(i) 51,616 37,016

Rendering of services (a)(v), (a)(vi) 133,497 157,716

Services received (a)(v), (a)(vi) 

(a)(viii) 19,194 24,362

Collections and payments of utility Charge, catering 

services and employees’ salaries (a)(i) 19,629 18,006

Loan advanced to a fellow subsidiary (a)(ix) – 179

Loan repaid by a fellow subsidiary (a)(ix) 179 –

Borrowing from a fellow subsidiary (a)(ix) – 700

Repayment to a fellow subsidiary (a)(ix) 700 –

Interest income (a)(ix) 1 19

Advance payment for an investment in an associate (a)(x) 135,000 –

Associate:

Rendering of services (a)(vii) – 2,892
    

Name of related parties Relationship

Wison Holding Wholly owned by Mr. Hua Bangsong (the beneficial 

controlling shareholder of the Company) and is the 

ultimate holding company of the Company

惠生清洁能源科技集团股份有限公司 

(“Wison New Energies”)

Fellow subsidiary

惠生（中國）投资有限公司  

(“Wison (China) Investment”)

Fellow subsidiary

Wison Investment (Hong Kong) Limited  

(“Wison Investment (HK)”)

Fellow subsidiary
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Name of related parties Relationship

Wison Offshore & Marine (Hong Kong) 

Limited (“Wison Offshore Marine (HK)”)

Fellow subsidiary

Wison Offshore & Marine Limited  

(“Wison Offshore Marine”)

Fellow subsidiary

上海惠生海洋工程有限公司  

(Shanghai Wison Offshore & Marine Co., 

Ltd., “Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai”)

Fellow subsidiary

惠生（泰州）新材料科技有限公司  

(Wison (Taizhou) New Material 

Technology Co., Ltd., “Wison Taizhou”)

Fellow subsidiary

泰興博惠環保科技發展有限公司  

(Taixing Bohui Environmental Technology 

Development Co., Ltd., “Taixing Bohui”)

An associate of the Company

惠旭能源（江蘇）有限公司  

(Huixu Energy (Jiangsu) Co. Ltd., “Huixu 

Energy”)

Fellow subsidiary

聯泓惠生（江蘇）新材料有限公司  

(Levima Wison (Jiangsu) Advanced 

Materials Co. Ltd., “Levima Wison”)

Indirectly owned as to 35% by Wison Holding

Wison Clean Energy (Singapore) PTE. LTD.  

(“Wison Clean Energy”)

Fellow subsidiary

河南創思特工程監理諮詢有限公司  

(Henan Chuangsite Supervisory 

Consulting Co., Ltd., “Henan Chuangsite”)

An associate of the Company

啟東惠生海工裝備有限公司  

(Qidong Wison Offshore Engineering 

Equipment Co., Ltd., “Qidong Wison”)

Fellow subsidiary

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes:

(a)(i) On 30 June 2020, the Group entered into a property leasing framework agreement with Wison Holding and its affiliates, 

pursuant to which the Group leases properties and provides property management services and utility services for the premises 

of the Group and/or rents the conference facilities at the properties to Wison Holding and its affiliates.

On 22 December 2022, the Group entered into a new property leasing framework agreement with Wison Holding and its 

affiliates to renew the aforesaid property leasing framework agreement. The new property leasing framework agreement shall 

be for a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2023 and expiring on 31 December 2025.

The aggregate income from the rentals, property management fees and conference facilities inclusive of value-added tax for 

the year ended 31 December 2024 from Wison (China) Investment and Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai under the property 

leasing framework agreement was RMB50,706,000 (2023: RMB37,016,000).

The Group entered into a vehicle rental agreement with Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai, Wison New Energies and Qidong 

Wison. The relevant rental income recognised by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 was RMB910,000 (2023: Nil).

The collection and payment of utility charges, catering services and employees’ salaries with Wison (China) Investment, Wison 

Offshore Marine Shanghai, Qidong Wison, Wison New Energies, Wison Investment (HK) and Wison Offshore Marine (HK) for the 

year ended 31 December 2024 were RMB19,629,000 (2023: RMB18,006,000).

(a)(ii) On 30 November 2012, Wison Holding and the Company entered into a domain name licence agreement (the “Domain Name 

Licence Agreement”) in respect of the right to use the domain name “wison-engineering.com” registered under the name of 

Wison Holding (the “Domain Name”). Pursuant to the Domain Name Licence Agreement, Wison Holding has agreed to grant the 

Company, and the Company has accepted, a royalty-free licence to use the Domain Name on an exclusive basis at nil 

consideration. The Domain Name Licence Agreement is for a perpetual term and may be terminated in certain circumstances, 

such as Wison Holding ceasing to be a shareholder of the Company.

(a)(iii) On 12 January 2018 and 28 February 2018, Wison Holding, as licensor, entered into trademark licensing agreements with the 

Group to grant the rights to use the trademarks by the Group in China and certain territories, such as Hong Kong, the United 

States of America, Australia, European Union, Singapore, Turkey, South Africa and Venezuela, respectively, on a perpetual and 

non-exclusive basis for nil consideration.

(a)(iv) As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused credit facilities of RMB200,000,000 granted by Wison (China) Investment with a 

period from 1 March 2021 to 30 September 2025.

(a)(v) On 22 December 2022, the Company entered into a new service agreement with Wison Holding. Pursuant to the agreement, 

the Group shall provide to Wison Holding and its subsidiaries (“Wison Group”) consulting, marketing and new business 

development services in oil and gas and petrochemical areas in relation to the current and proposed business operations of 

Wison Group, and Wison Group shall provide to the Group information technology services and legal and compliance services. 

The term of the service agreement commences on 1 January 2023 and expires on 31 December 2025. The fees payable to the 

Group by Wison Group and the fees payable by the Group to Wison Group under the service agreement are determined based 

on the amount of time incurred by the qualified personnel assigned to provide the relevant services at hourly rates determined 

with reference to market rates for the remuneration of such qualified personnel, plus out-of-pocket expenses and general and 

administrative expenses actually incurred.

The service fee revenue recognised by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 from Wison Group was RMB29,000 

(2023: RMB3,548,000). The cost of service fee incurred by the Group for services rendered by Wison Group during the year 

ended 31 December 2024 was RMB14,169,000 (2023: RMB13,147,000).
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)(vi) Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai, Wison New Energies, Wison Taizhou and Levima Wison entered into construction service 

agreements with the Group, respectively. The relevant revenue recognised by the Group during the year ended 31 December 

2024 was RMB133,468,000 (2023: RMB154,168,000). The relevant cost of service fee incurred by the Group for services rendered 

by Wison Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 was nil (2023: RMB6,190,000). The trade receivables and contract 

assets relating to Wison Taizhou, Wison (China) Investment and Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai are set out in note 21 and 

note 23, respectively. The contract liabilities relating to Levima Wison and Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai are set out in note 

26.

(a)(vii) The Group entered into a construction service agreement with Taixing Bohui. The relevant revenue recognised by the Group 

during the year ended 31 December 2024 was nil (2023: RMB2,892,000). The trade receivable relating to Taixing Bohui and 

contract assets with Taixing Bohui are set out in note 21 and note 23, respectively.

(a)(viii) On 22 December 2022, the Group and Wison Holdings entered into the entrustment guarantee agreement in relation to the 

guarantee provided by Wison Holding for the Group in favour of a customer, and the Group shall pay a guarantee fee to Wison 

Holding calculated based on 0.5% per annum of the total principal amount of the guarantee liability stated in the entrustment 

guarantee agreement. The maximum guarantee fee is RMB30,150,000 with the guarantee period from 1 January 2023 to 31 

December 2028. The relevant guarantee fee incurred by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 was 

RMB5,025,000 (2023: RMB5,025,000). At 31 December 2024, there was no long-term prepayments to Wison Holdings. (31 

December 2023: RMB4,975,000).

(a)(ix) During the year ended 31 December 2024, RMB700,000 borrowed from Wison Clean Energy in 2023 was repaid by the Group, 

and the amount was unsecured and interest free. The loan of RMB179,000 advanced to Wison Offshore Marine in 2023 was 

repaid to the Group in 2024, and the amount was unsecured, bore interest at 7.2% per annum and repayable on demand and 

the interest income recognised by the Group was RMB1,000.

(a)(x) On 11 September 2024, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement with Wison (China) Investment to acquire its 35% 

equity interest of Levima Wison with a total cash consideration of approximately RMB255,000,000. As at 31 December 2024, 

the Group made an advance payment of RMB135,000,000 which was recorded as other non-current asset.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the transactions between the Group and Wison New Energies, Wison (China) 

Investment, Wison Investment (HK), Wison Offshore Marine (HK), Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai, Wison Offshore Marine, Wison 

Taizhou, Levima Wison, Wison Clean Energy, Wison Holdings, Qidong Wison and Taixing Bohui were conducted based on mutually 

agreed terms.
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Balances with related parties:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Due from fellow subsidiaries:

Wison (China) Investment 30,898 35,085

Wison Investment (HK) 23,226 19,373

Wison Offshore Marine Shanghai 10,237 16,270

Wison New Energies 238 194

Qidong Wison 127 –

Wison Taizhou 81 130

Wison Offshore Marine – 179

Huixu Energy – 4,714

Wison Offshore Marine (HK) – 4,544
   

Total 64,807 80,489
   

Due to fellow subsidiaries:

Wison (China) Investment 329 340
   

Due to an associate:

Henan Chuangsite 630 630
   

The balances with fellow subsidiaries and an associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except the loan 

to Wison Offshore Marine. The carrying amounts of the balances with the related parties approximate to their fair values.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short term employee benefits 5,819 5,307
   

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 5,819 5,307
   

Further details of directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

2024
Financial assets

Financial assets 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income
   

Equity 

investments

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 295,588 – 295,588

Trade receivables (note 21) – 511,368 511,368

Bills receivable – 35,364 35,364

Financial assets included in prepayments 

and other receivables (note 22) – 56,183 56,183

Due from fellow subsidiaries – 64,807 64,807

Pledged bank balances and time deposits – 681,513 681,513

Cash and cash equivalents – 3,802,475 3,802,475
    

Total 295,588 5,151,710 5,447,298
    

Financial liabilities

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost
RMB’000

Trade and bills payables 2,786,692

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 353,968

Due to fellow subsidiaries 329

Due to an associate 630

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 27) 1,097,515
  

Total 4,239,134
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

2023

Financial assets

Financial assets 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income
   

Equity 

investments

Financial 

assets at 

amortised cost Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 271,076 – 271,076

Trade receivables – 473,716 473,716

Bills receivable – 94,421 94,421

Financial assets included in prepayments 

and other receivables (note 22) – 59,350 59,350

Due from fellow subsidiaries – 80,489 80,489

Pledged bank balances and time deposits – 785,890 785,890

Cash and cash equivalents – 901,834 901,834
    

Total 271,076 2,395,700 2,666,776
    

Financial liabilities

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Trade and bills payables 2,726,414

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 116,217

Due to fellow subsidiaries 340

Due to an associate 630

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,090,109
  

Total 3,933,710
  



Notes to Financial Statements

186

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

Year ended 31 December 2024

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety

At 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the 

“Endorsed Bills”) with a carrying amount of RMB15,236,000 (2023: RMB32,745,000) to certain of its suppliers 

in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the “Endorsement”). In the opinion of the 

directors, the Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating to 

such Endorsed Bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed 

Bills and the associated trade payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement, the Group did not retain 

any rights on the use of the Endorsed Bills, including the sale, transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Bills to any 

other third parties. The aggregate carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the Endorsed Bills to 

which the suppliers had recourse was RMB15,236,000 (2023: RMB32,745,000) as at 31 December 2024.

At 31 December 2024, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the 

“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers 

with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB15,584,000 (2023: RMB73,611,000). The Derecognised Bills had 

a maturity of six to twelve months at 31 December 2024. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable 

Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if 

the PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has 

transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has 

derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables. The 

maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s continuing involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the 

undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the 

opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s continuing involvement in the Derecognised Bills are 

not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of 

transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the continuing involvement, 

both during the year or cumulatively. The endorsement has been made evenly throughout the year.
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34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During years 2023 to 2024, certain sub-contractors of the Group filed claims to the People’s Courts in 

Mainland China against the Group for additional payments of construction costs, interest and liquidation 

damages with an aggregate amount of approximately RMB50,430,000.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that additional provision for the lawsuits amounting to 

RMB35,370,000 has been made. For other lawsuits amounting to RMB15,060,000 which are without merit, 

the possibility for the Group being subject to additional payment claims is expected to be remote on the 

basis of the available evidence and legal advice obtained, the directors of the Company are of the opinion 

that no additional provision is required.

35. COMMITMENTS

The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced as at 31 December 2024. The future 

lease payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are RMB3,741,000 due within one year and 

RMB472,000 due in the second to fifth years.

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying 

amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values

2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets

Equity investments designated at fair value 

through other comprehensive income 295,588 271,076 295,588 271,076
     

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 561,924 620,363 570,170 628,942
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash balances, pledged bank balances and time 

deposits, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included in 

prepayments and other receivables, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities included in other payables 

and accruals, lease liabilities, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and an amount due to an associate 

approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is responsible for determining the policies 

and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports 

directly to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the finance department analyses the 

movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. 

The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are 

discussed with the board of directors twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument 

could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation 

sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values of those financial assets 

and liabilities measured at fair value:

The fair values of the non-current portion of trade payables and other payables, interest-bearing bank and 

other borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently 

available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices. The fair values of unlisted 

equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income have been estimated 

using a market-based valuation technique based on assumptions that are not supported by observable 

market prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to determine comparable public companies 

(peers) based on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple, such 

as price to book (“P/B”) multiple, price to earnings (“P/E”) multiple and price to sales (“P/S”) multiple, for 

each comparable company identified. The multiple is calculated by dividing the price per share of the 

comparable company by net assets value or earnings per share. The trading multiple is then discounted for 

considerations such as illiquidity and size differences between the comparable companies based on 

company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted multiple is applied to the corresponding 

earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors believe that 

the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique, which are recorded in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are recorded in other 

comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the 

reporting period.
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

management has estimated the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the 

valuation model.

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of financial instruments 

together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Valuation 

technique

Significant 

unobservable input Range/ratio

Sensitivity of fair 

value to the input

Unlisted equity 

investments

Valuation multiples Average P/B multiple 

of peers

0.74 to 5.29 

(2023: 0.77 to 4.69)

10% (2023: 10%) increase/

decrease in multiple would 

result in increase/decrease in 

fair value by RMB2,845,000 

(2023: RMB4,652,000)

Average P/E multiple 

of peers

15.00 to 81.40 

(2023: 13.71 to 50.24)

10% (2023: 10%) increase/

decrease in multiple would 

result in increase/decrease in 

fair value by RMB2,593,000 

(2023: RMB2,063,000)

Average P/S multiple of 

peers

2.42 to 8.28 

(2023: 1.06 to 11.81)

10% (2023: 10%) increase/

decrease in multiple would 

result in increase/decrease in 

fair value by nil 

(2023: RMB912,000)

Discount for lack of 

marketability

20% to 25% 

(2023: 20% to 25%)

10% (2023: 10%) increase/

decrease in discount would 

result in decrease/increase in 

fair value by RMB1,598,000 

(2023: RMB2,371,000)

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of premiums and discounts determined by 

the Group that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments.
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income 238,106 – 57,482 295,588
     

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments designated at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income 191,590 – 79,486 271,076
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

At 1 January 79,486 80,197

Total losses recognised in other comprehensive income (22,004) (711)
   

At 31 December 57,482 79,486
   

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

Liabilities measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 31 

December 2023.

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2024

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables, non-current portion – – 22,066 22,066

Other payables, non-current portion – – 21,125 21,125
     

Total – – 43,191 43,191
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using 

Quoted prices 

in active 

markets

Significant 

observable 

inputs

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables, non-current portion – – 543,259 543,259

Other payables, non-current portion – – 31,091 31,091
     

Total – – 574,350 574,350
     

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and bank balances, pledged bank balances and 

time deposits, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, amounts 

due to fellow subsidiaries and an amount due to an associate. The main purpose of these financial 

instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and 

liabilities such as trade and bills receivables, other receivables, trade and bills payables and other payables, 

which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial 

instruments should be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and 

liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. The board of 

directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from sales or purchases by operating 

units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

As a result of the foreign currency bank balances and various other financial assets and liabilities such as 

trade and bills receivables, other receivables, trade and bills payables and other payables, the Group’s 

statement of financial position can be affected significantly by movements in the exchange rates of US$, 

Euro (“EUR”) and QAR against RMB.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rates of 

US$/EUR/QAR against RMB, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (due 

to changes in the fair values of other monetary assets and liabilities in US$/EUR/QAR).

Increase/

(decrease) 

in rate

Increase/

(decrease) 

in profit 

before tax

% RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2024

If the RMB weakens against the US$ 5 47,558

If the RMB strengthens against the US$ 5 (47,558)

If the RMB weakens against the EUR 5 14,653

If the RMB strengthens against the EUR 5 (14,653)

If the RMB weakens against the QAR 5 11,322

If the RMB strengthens against the QAR 5 (11,322)
   



Notes to Financial Statements

194

Wison Engineering Services Co. Ltd.  Annual Report 2024 

Year ended 31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Increase/

(decrease) 

in rate

Increase/

(decrease) 

in loss 

before tax

% RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2023

If the RMB weakens against the US$ 5 (12,187)

If the RMB strengthens against the US$ 5 12,187

If the RMB weakens against the EUR 5 (5,545)

If the RMB strengthens against the EUR 5 5,545

If the RMB weakens against the JPY 5 (2,163)

If the RMB strengthens against the JPY 5 2,163
   

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy customers. It is the Group’s policy that all 

customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, 

receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 

significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating 

unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control. 
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s 

credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without 

undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are 

gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract assets* – – – 1,429,345 1,429,345

Trade receivables* – – – 1,085,903 1,085,903

Bills receivable 35,364 – – – 35,364

Financial assets included in 

prepayments and other receivables

— Normal** 59,090 – – – 59,090

Due from fellow subsidiaries 64,807 – – – 64,807

Pledged bank balances and time 

deposits 681,513 – – – 681,513

Cash and bank balances 3,802,475 – – – 3,802,475
      

Total 4,643,249 – – 2,515,248 7,158,497
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

12-month 

ECLs Lifetime ECLs  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Simplified 

approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract assets* – – – 2,171,402 2,171,402

Trade receivables* – – – 1,070,771 1,070,771

Bills receivable 94,421 – – – 94,421

Financial assets included in 

prepayments and other receivables

— Normal** 61,258 – – – 61,258

Due from fellow subsidiaries 80,489 – – – 80,489

Pledged bank balances and time 

deposits 785,890 – – – 785,890

Cash and bank balances 901,834 – – – 901,834
      

1,923,892 – – 3,242,173 5,166,065
      

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based 

on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 21 and 23 to the financial statements, respectively.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they 

are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since 

initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are 

disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy customers, there is no requirement for 

collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region 

and by industry sector. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit 

risk as 21% (2023: 26%) and 61% (2023: 72%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group’s 

largest customer and five largest customers, respectively, within the EPC segment.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the 

use of interest-bearing bank borrowings, trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals, lease 

liabilities, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and an amount due to an associate. Cash flows are closely 

monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on 

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group

On demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 

12 months

Over 

1 year Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2024

Lease liabilities – 4,529 12,282 1,661 18,472

Interest-bearing bank and  

other borrowings – 85,043 532,669 615,280 1,232,992

Trade and bills payables 2,481,453 – 327,954 22,066 2,831,473

Other payables 332,843 – – 21,125 353,968

Due to fellow subsidiaries – 329 – – 329

Due to an associate 630 – – – 630
      

Total 2,814,926 89,901 872,905 660,132 4,437,864
      

On demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 

12 months

Over 

1 year Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

31 December 2023

Lease liabilities – 3,650 9,147 21,200 33,997

Interest-bearing bank and  

other borrowings – 71,417 502,448 698,704 1,272,569

Trade and other payables 1,733,319 – 455,588 562,316 2,751,223

Other payables 309,851 – – 31,091 340,942

Due to fellow subsidiaries – 340 – – 340

Due to an associate 630 – – – 630
      

Total 2,043,800 75,407 967,183 1,313,311 4,399,701
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the 

levels of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk 

arising from individual equity investment included in equity investments designated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income (note 19) as at 31 December 2024. The Group’s listed investments are listed 

on the Stock Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the following stock exchange, at the close of business of the nearest trading 

day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and its respective highest and lowest points during the 

year were as follows:

31 December High/low 31 December High/low

2024 2024 2023 2023

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index 20,060 22,737/

15,309

17,047 22,689/

16,201
     

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of the equity 

investments with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying 

amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the equity investments at 

fair value through other comprehensive income, the impact is deemed to be on the fair value reserve.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Carrying amount 

of equity 

investments

Increase/

(decrease) in 

equity*

RMB’000 RMB’000

2024

Investments listed in:

Hong Kong — Equity investments at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 238,106 11,905

Unlisted investments at fair value:

—  Equity investments designated at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 57,482 2,874
   

Carrying amount 

of equity 

investments

Increase/

(decrease) in 

equity*

RMB’000 RMB’000

2023

Investments listed in:

Hong Kong — Equity investments at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 191,590 9,580

Unlisted investments at fair value:

—  Equity investments designated at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 79,486 3,974
   

* Excluding retained profits
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 

shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

equity holders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any 

externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 

managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by total equity. Total debt 

includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting 

periods were as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 1,097,515 1,090,109
   

Total debt 1,097,515 1,090,109
   

Total equity 2,653,263 2,448,783
   

Gearing ratio 41% 45%
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of 

RMB4,459,000 (2023: RMB4,332,000) and RMB4,459,000 (2023: RMB4,278,000), respectively, in respect 

of lease arrangements for properties which did not result in any cash flow.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2024

Lease 

liabilities

Interests-

bearing bank 

and other 

borrowings

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2024 27,166 1,090,109

Changes from financing cash flows (13,753) 7,406

New leases (note 15) 4,459 –

Interest expense (note 7) 1,162 –

Interest paid classified as operating cash flows (1,162) –
   

At 31 December 2024 17,872 1,097,515
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (continued)

2023

Lease 

liabilities

Interests-

bearing bank 

and other 

borrowings

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 31,924 1,187,632

Changes from financing cash flows (9,036) (97,523)

New leases (note 15) 4,278 –

Interest expense (note 7) 1,069 –

Interest paid classified as operating cash flows (1,069) –
   

At 31 December 2023 27,166 1,090,109
   

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within operating activities 4,965 8,068

Within financing activities 13,753 9,036
   

Total 18,718 17,104
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is 

as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investments in subsidiaries 1 1

Equity investments designated at fair value through  

other comprehensive income – –
   

Total non-current assets 1 1
   

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries 764,045 825,889

Prepayments and other receivables 433 430

Dividends receivables 744,276 744,276

Cash and cash equivalents 1,984 2,809

Equity investments designated at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 238,106 191,590
   

Total current assets 1,748,844 1,764,994
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other payables and accruals 3,433 4,011

Due to subsidiaries 11,189 11,175

Other borrowing – 72,414
   

Total current liabilities 14,622 87,600
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,734,222 1,677,394
   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,734,222 1,677,395
   

Net assets 1,734,222 1,677,395
   

EQUITY

Share capital 330,578 330,578

Reserves (Note) 1,403,644 1,346,817
   

Total equity 1,734,222 1,677,395
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 

premium 

reserve

Capital 

reserve

Fair value 

reserve of 

financial 

assets at 

fair value 

through other 

comprehensive

Retained 

profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 869,201 84,936 (24,500) 369,577 1,299,214

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 894 894

Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income – – 46,709 – 46,709

Transfer of fair value reserve upon the disposal of equity 

investments at fair value through other comprehensive income – – (532) 532 –      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 869,201 84,936 21,677 371,003 1,346,817

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 10,311 10,311

Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income – – 46,516 – 46,516      

At 31 December 2024 869,201 84,936 68,193 381,314 1,403,644
      

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, there are no events after the reporting date 

that require disclosure in these financial statements.

41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 

2025.
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